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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ETREHE

WORK REVIEW

The year 2024 is a year for China to focus on high-quality
development against headwinds, and it is also a year for the
Company to strengthen its resilience and reshape its business
landscape amid changes and challenges. During FY2024, the
global economic recovery stumbled, geopolitical tensions
intensified, and international oil prices fluctuated significantly.
The “nearshoring” policies adopted by Europe and the USA
for their supply chains have led to a continued decline in
the volume of traditional cross-border logistics orders, while
the industry profit margins continued to be squeezed by
compliance costs, labour costs and other costs. Meanwhile,
China’s “14th Five-Year Plan for the Development of Modern
Logistics ([T AR R YR EERE) " clearly proposes
to “build a secured and efficient global logistics network”,
and the "Action Plan for the Construction of International
Logistics Channels (BB ¥ /RBERFZITE T E) " issued
by the State Council envisages the addition of 50 new cross-
border freight trunk routes within three years. In such a
context where “challenges and opportunities coexist”, all staff
members of the Group remained steadfast in delving into the
Group's business, nurturing a cohesive team of talents and
unifying their efforts from top to bottom to navigate through
predicaments and stand out through innovation, thereby
writing a chapter of our own for 2024 with concrete actions.

"Going global” is a key strategic direction for the future
development of the Group, and the year of 2024 has
marked the inaugural year of the Group’s comprehensive
advancement towards “going global”. As the main platform
for the Group’s global business expansion, the Company
has integrated its global network and other advantageous
resources, steadily expanded its international express and
supply chain services, and further refined and consolidated
its full-chain international logistics services, thereby further
enhanced its comprehensive international service capabilities.

During FY2024, the Group continued to upgrade and form
a matrix covering eight major international product systems,
namely international express delivery, international freight
forwarding, international supply chain, air freight, customs
services, supply chain finance, warehousing and distribution,
and digital products, through which it strengthened the
interconnection between its domestic and international
customers, enhanced the core competitiveness of its
domestic and international products, and built an integrated
international supply chain logistics service capability of
“warehousing, trunk route transportation, distribution and
customs clearance (B %A #) ", contributing to the
Group's accelerated expansion in international markets.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
e

WORK REVIEW (continued)

During FY2024, the Group also advanced digital
transformation in an all-round manner, strengthened
technology-driven innovation, and facilitated the wide
application of emerging technologies such as big data, cloud
computing and artificial intelligence in business operations.
By embracing an internet mindset to create advanced
information tools, accelerating the iteration and upgrades
of our business operation and management tools, and
redefining the use of digital management tools, the Group
comprehensively promoted the transformation and upgrades
from digitisation to intelligentisation.

In addition, the Group has improved the cultivation and
appointment mechanism of its international talent team
during FY2024, and steadily expanded its service network
around the world, especially in key countries and regions,
through self-construction and self-operation and strategic
cooperation, so as to form an overall customs clearance
network covering major ports in China and certain key
overseas ports, and continuously enhance its capabilities to
provide convenient and reliable customs services.

Looking back at FY2024, the Group has forged ahead towards
realising the “YTO Dream”. During FY2024, the Group
remained focused on customer experience, comprehensively
promoted the integrated development of international express
delivery, international supply chain and international freight
business, and enhanced the comprehensive capabilities and
core competitiveness of its international product and service
offerings, thereby laying a solid foundation for the goal of
becoming a comprehensive international express logistics
supply chain integrator.

PROSPECTS

According to the forecast of the Global Trade Update, global
trade in 2025 will be shrouded in uncertainties arising from
multiple factors, including potential policy shifts in the
USA and the ongoing geopolitical challenges. While the
uncertainties at the macro level are beyond the Group’s
control, it is dedicated to making a difference at the micro
level.

In 2025, the Group will continue to deepen the
implementation and promotion of the “going global”
strategy. Adhering to the philosophy of “focusing on
customer experience and creating value for customers”,
the Group will support customers to achieve excellence
and brilliance with its products and services. Upholding the
principle of “unity is strength and service is paramount”
and the approach of “safety, speed, convenience, reliability
and technology”, the Group will focus on facilitating the
comprehensive development of international express delivery,
supply chain, freight forwarding and other businesses, thus
enhancing its comprehensive international logistics service
capabilities.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
T

PROSPECTS (continued)

In 2025, the Group will also focus on core routes and
concentrate its superior resources to create competitive air/
ocean freight products. The Group will comprehensively
promote our network expansion mechanism to central Asia,
Australia, central and eastern Europe, and other countries
and regions, and continue to expand its premium routes
connecting China and other countries such as Japan,
Australia, central and eastern Europe to enhance the
comprehensive timeliness and service capabilities of its express
delivery products. The Group will expand supply chain logistics
products in various fields, such as apparel, automobiles,
semiconductors and electronic products, and synergize
various resources, including overseas freight, to expand its
last-mile transportation and delivery services, so as to provide
customers with one-stop integrated supply chain solutions
and further enhance customer stickiness. Meanwhile, the
Group will promote comprehensive digital transformation
and intelligent evolution, enable digital coverage of multiple
modes and scenarios through technological innovation and
independent research and development, and continue to
promote refined operation management through intelligent
empowerment, with a view to improving the service quality
and customer experience of the Group’s international express
logistics, and gaining higher customer recognition and market
reputation.

APPRECIATION

I would like to take this opportunity to express my sincere
gratitude to all employees for their hard work and unwavering
companionship through thick and thin. It is their hard work
and dedication that have built the Company to what it is
today. Also, | would like to extend my appreciation to the
Group's customers, suppliers and partners both at home and
abroad for their trust and support. The Group will continue
to repay this support with exceptional services. Furthermore,
I would like to thank the Group’s investors for their long-
standing commitment and unwavering confidence.

The journey may be long, but with persistence, we will
reach our destination; tasks may be difficult, but with
actions, they will be accomplished! In 2025, the Company
will use innovation as its driving force with its mission in
mind to create value for customers, deliver returns to the
Shareholders, and contribute to the society!

Yu Huijiao
Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 March 2025
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BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2024, the Company actively implemented its international
development strategy. Adhering to the development concept
of “going global with the Belt and Road Initiative, going
global with cross-border e-commerce, and going global with
Chinese people and Chinese enterprises (IR & [—# — 8]
EHE BEBREAELE REZEAELELE) 7,
and embracing the expansion path of “China Connects
the World and the World Connects the World ( # B0 Bt
FoREEHR) ", the Company seized the opportunities
for the development of its international business, deeply
implemented its international development strategy, and
gradually expanded its international network coverage and
market presence through means such as self-construction
and self-operation ( B # B %) and strategic cooperations,
thereby rapidly improved the Company’s global network
coverage. As of the end of FY2024, the Company's overseas
network covered more than 150 countries and regions in six
continents, forming an overall customs clearance network
covering nearly 50 major ports in China and certain major
overseas ports.

Leveraging on its international network coverage and a
professional talent team, the Company comprehensively
promoted the integrated development of international
express delivery, supply chain and freight businesses. In
2024, the Company continuously launched premium express
routes connecting China and other countries such as Japan,
the Republic of Kazakhstan (“Kazakhstan”), Australia, and
the Republic of South Korea, actively developed full-chain
services for routes to the USA, the United Kingdom, Australia,
and other markets, comprehensively established business
presence in countries such as Kazakhstan and regions such
as the Middle East and the eastern Europe, thereby gradually
improving its cross-border service chain for international
express delivery. The Company exerted efforts to promote
the development of its supply chain business, and has
already launched supply chain products and services covering
various industries such as biomedicine, consumer electronics
and high-end manufacturing, providing large multinational
companies with integrated and comprehensive supply chain
solutions. In the meantime, the Company maintained the
stable operation and development of its international freight
business; gradually provided customers at home and abroad
with comprehensive logistics services featuring convenient
customs clearance, guaranteed timeliness and stable services;
realised the integration and symbiosis of its international
and domestic businesses and achieved their sustainable and
healthy development; built a community of shared future
for the international supply chain network ecosystem; and
promoted global supply chain integration, which in turn
enhanced the Company’'s comprehensive global service
capabilities.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWRD N

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

The Company recorded a revenue of approximately
HK$5,322.5 million during FY2024 (FY2023: approximately
HK$5,291.6 million), representing an increase of
approximately 0.6% from FY2023. Gross profit decreased
by approximately 23.0% from FY2023 to approximately
HK$370.5 million for FY2024 (FY2023: approximately
HK$481.3 million). Gross profit margin during FY2024 was
approximately 7.0% (FY2023: approximately 9.1%). During
FY2024, the Company recorded a net loss of approximately
HK$42.0 million (FY2023: a net profit of approximately
HK$96.5 million), and a net loss attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company of HK$40.8 million (FY2023: a
net profit attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
of approximately HK$96.8 million).

This net loss incurred for the FY2024 were mainly attributable
to (i) the decrease in overall gross margins of air freight and
international express business which led to a decrease in gross
profit of the Group’s air freight and international express as
a result of the challenging macroeconomic conditions and
price pressures; and (ii) partial adjustments in the allocation
of strategic resources of the Company in 2024 in light of
the global economic situation and industry development and
changes by further focusing on its core businesses and key
areas and withdrawing its equity interest in certain non-major
joint ventures, which resulted in a one-off investment disposal
losses.

Nevertheless, the Company has actively adjusted its business
and operational strategies, and constantly improved its
product types to raise service standards. As such, the
Company remains relatively optimistic about the recovery of
its performance and the long-term development in the future.

Segmental Analysis

The Group's core business comprises air and ocean freight
forwarding services, complemented by the ancillary and
contract logistics services (including warehousing, distribution
and customs clearance), international express and parcel
services, international supply chain business and other
businesses (comprising combined shipments, trucking, rail
freight, air delivery services, general sales agency and hand-
carry services, etc.). The comprehensive range of services
offered by the Group enables the Group to meet diverse
customers’ needs and provide cross-selling opportunities.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWRD M

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Air Freight

The air freight forwarding business continued to be the largest
business segment of the Group, representing about 61.5%
of the Group’s total revenue during the FY2024 (FY2023:
about 49.7%). Services offered by the Group mainly include
arranging shipment upon receipt of booking instructions from
customers, obtaining cargo space from airlines, preparing the
relevant documentation, and upon delivery to the destination,
arranging customs clearance and cargo handling. The Group
has become one of the preferred business partners of
renowned companies from around the world, hailing from
the garment, footwear and electronic industries, delivery of
small parcels for e-commerce business and others. During
the FY2024, the air freight forwarding business recorded
a revenue of about HK$3,272.7 million (FY2023: about
HK$2,632.3 million), representing an increase of about 24.3%
as compared to that in FY2023. Gross profit of the segment
decreased from about HK$221.6 million during the FY2023
to about HK$190.9 million during the FY2024, representing
a decrease of about 13.8% as compared to that in FY2023.
The increase in revenue was due to the increase in the sales
volume, while the decrease in gross profit was due to the
lower profit margin as a result of more price-sensitive market
requirements for air freight and chartering services during the
FY2024.

Ocean Freight

Contributing about 15.7% of the Group’s total revenue
during the FY2024 (FY2023: about 12.2%), the ocean
freight forwarding business principally involves organizing
shipments, arranging customs clearance and haulage
services. The established relationships with trade partners and
shipping lines, together with the in-house tailored freight
operations system, have enabled the Group to capture the
ocean freight market growth. During the FY2024, revenue
of the ocean freight segment increased by about 28.9% to
about HK$834.8 million (FY2023: about HK$647.6 million).
Gross profit decreased to about HK$126.1 million during
the FY2024 (FY2023: about HK$130.0 million), representing
a decrease of about 3.0% as compared to that in FY2023.
Gross profit declined slightly due to the intensified market
competition.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWRD N

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Logistics Services

Accounting for about 1.5% of the Group’s total revenue
during the FY2024 (FY2023: about 1.3%), the ancillary and
contract logistics services segment includes warehousing,
distribution and customs clearance. Warehousing includes
pick and pack, labelling, quality inspection, sorting, pickup
and delivery services for export shipments from the shipper’s
location to the outgoing port and delivery of import
shipments from arrival at the incoming port to the consignee’s
location. It is supported by the Group’s information
technology platform, which allows customers to conveniently
trace inventory levels, incoming and outgoing shipments
and other information online. Revenue generated from this
segment was about HK$81.0 million during the FY2024
(FY2023: about HK$70.2 million), representing an increase of
15.4% as compared to that in FY2023, which was mainly due
to the growth in overseas warehousing business.

International Express and Parcel Services

International express and parcel services, which mainly
consist of cross-border small parcels business, is one of the
Group's emerging businesses in recent years and also one of
the Group's important strategic segments to respond to the
booming of the global cross-border e-commerce. It accounted
for about 19.5% of the total revenue of the Group for
the FY2024 (FY2023: about 34.1%). The Group continued
to pay attention to the cross-border e-commerce market
and consumer needs and is committed to providing high-
quality cross-border parcel logistics services for e-commerce
platforms, merchants, and consumers.

During the FY2024, the Group has completed delivery
of about 51.6 million units in international express and
parcel business (FY2023: about 140.7 million units). The
international express and parcel services business recorded
a revenue of about HK$1,039.1 million during the FY2024
(FY2023: about HK$1,802.5 million), representing a decrease
of about 42.4% as compared to that in FY2023. Gross profit
of the segment decreased from about HK$97.9 million during
the FY2023 to about HK$24.9 million during the FY2024,
representing a decrease of about 74.6% as compared to that
in FY2023. This was mainly due to the Group's long-term
sustainable development strategy of focusing on products
of international express and parcel services with long-
term competitiveness and proactively reducing some of the
products in international express and parcel services with
short-term value during the FY2024.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWRD M

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Other Businesses

Other businesses include combined shipments, trucking, rail
freight, air delivery services, general sales agency and hand-
carry services, etc.. During the FY2024, the other businesses
recorded a revenue of about HK$94.9 million (FY2023:
about HK$139.0 million), representing a decrease of about
31.7% as compared to that in FY2023, and a gross profit
of about HK$14.2 million (FY2023: about HK$28.9 million),
representing a decrease of about 50.9% as compared to that
in FY2023.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

The Group has centralised financing policies and control over
all its operations which enables the Group to have a tight
control of treasury operations and lower average cost of
funds.

The Group's working capital as at 31 December 2024 was
about HK$1,149.5 million, representing a decrease of about
2.1% from about HK$1,174.0 million as at 31 December
2023. The current ratio of the Group increased from about
2.35 times as at 31 December 2023 to about 3.25 times as
at 31 December 2024. As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s
bank balances and cash amounted to about HK$672.2
million, representing a decrease of about 18.3% from about
HK$823.0 million as at 31 December 2023. For the FY2024,
the Group had operating cash outflow of about HK$72.8
million (FY2023: outflow about HK$245.9 million). As at
31 December 2024, the Group had no outstanding bank
borrowings (as at 31 December 2023: HK$0.8 million).
The gearing ratio of the Group, calculated as total bank
borrowings divided by total equity, was about 0% as at 31
December 2024 (as at 31 December 2023: 0.1%). The Group
will continue to secure financing as and when the need arises.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWRD N

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Foreign Exchange Risk

In light of the nature of the Group's business, the Group
is exposed to various foreign currency risks including RMB,
UsSD, AUD, RM, SGD, THB, INR, EUR, GBP, CAD, JPY, VND,
IDR, HUF, AED, KZT, KRW and TWD among which, RMB, AUD
and USD are mostly used in the Group’s business apart from
HK$. Nevertheless, the Group's operations are predominately
subject to the fluctuations of RMB since HK$ is pegged
to USD. The Group continued to exercise a strict control
policy and did not engage in any speculative trading in debt
securities or financial derivatives during the FY2024.

Net impairment loss recognized under expected
credit loss model

During the FY2024, the Group recorded net impairment loss
recognized under expected credit loss model of approximately
HK$12.9 million (FY2023: HK$3.0 million), which consisted
of impairment allowance for trade receivables based on
the provision matrix of approximately HK$5.5 million
(FY2023: HK$2.4 million) which is not credit impaired, and
approximately HK$7.4 million (FY2023: HK$0.7 million) which
is credit impaired.

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss (“ECL") model on trade debtors individually or
collectively based on provision matrix. Impairment loss is
calculated under ECL model with reference to the expected
loss rates in the provision matrix taking into account the
actual loss experience over the past 12 months, the ageing
of trade receivable balances, the repayment history of the
Group’s customers, current market conditions, and forward-
looking information. The details of the measurement are
set out in notes 3 and 38(b)(ii) to the consolidated financial
statements.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWRD M

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Impairment loss on the interests in associates and
joint ventures

During the FY2024, the Group recorded impairment loss on
interests in associates and joint ventures of approximately
HK$24.5 million (FY2023: HK$13.0 million), mainly attributed
to the impairment loss on interests in joint ventures of
approximately HK$22.8 million given the continuous losses
from ordinary operation recorded by the joint ventures.
Subsequent to the impairment made on the interests in the
joint ventures in the consolidated financial statements for the
six months ended 30 June 2024, the Group has disposed the
interests in the joint ventures in August 2024. Details on the
impairment loss on interests in associates and joint ventures
are set out notes 3, 20 and 21 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Significant Investments

During the FY2024, the Group did not hold any material
investments.

Capital Expenditure Commitments

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group did not have
any capital expenditure commitments.

Charge on Assets

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had pledged the
following assets to secure certain banking facilities
representing guarantees on payment to certain airline
suppliers of the Group for the Group’s cargo space purchase
and bank borrowings granted to the Group:

Financial asset at fair value though & A FET ABREHN
profit or loss TEEE
Pledged bank deposits EEMBITER
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWRD N

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There were no events causing material impact on the Group
from 31 December 2024, being the end of the reporting
period to the date of this report.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSAL OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

On 19 July 2024, Yuantong (Jiaxing) Supply Chain Co.,
Limited* ([Bl#@ (5 &) E#E B R A 7)) (as purchaser),
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and
YTO Express Co., Ltd* (ElBRESGR A R) (as vendor), a
wholly-owned subsidiary of YTO Express, entered into a sale
and purchase agreement for the acquisition of the entire
equity interest in YTO Cargo Shanghai, an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of YTO Express, for a consideration of
RMB8,810,000 (equivalent to about HK$9,477,000) (the
“Acquisition”). For details of the Acquisition, please refer to
the Company’s announcements dated 19 July 2024 and 20
August 2024.

PROSPECTS

According to the World Economic Outlook released by
the International Monetary Fund (IMF) in January 2025,
global economic growth is expected to be 3.3% in 2025
and 2026, lower than the average of 3.7% in the past two
decades (2000 to 2019). The World Bank’s January forecast,
however, predicts that global economic growth will remain
at 2.7% from 2025 to 2026. Despite the difference in
forecast figures, the IMF and the World Bank both believe
that various factors such as increasing policy uncertainty
among countries and dramatic geopolitical changes, will
cast a shadow of uncertainties on the prospects for global
economic development. Nevertheless, the Company remains
cautiously optimistic about future economic development and
its business, mainly based on the following factors:

Global economic recovery has stabilized, but
uncertainty may undermine growth expectations

According to the World Bank's forecast, economic growth is
expected to remain at around 1.7% from 2025 to 2026, in
the absence of significant changes in trade or fiscal policies
in developed economies. The US economy is expected to slow
down, while the Euro Zone and Japan will recover moderately.
Emerging markets and developing economies (EMDEs) will
maintain growth of around 4%. Growth of EMDE (excluding
China) is projected to accelerate slightly from 3.5% in 2024
to an average of 3.8% in 2025-26. The World Bank is of the
opinion that the global outlook is clouded by considerable
uncertainties. As potential adverse changes in trade policies
and increased policy uncertainty pose risks to global trade
and economic activities, global growth may be lower than
expected.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWRD M

PROSPECTS (continued)

With the strong growth of China’s foreign trade,
seize the strategic opportunity of “express delivery
going global”

As mentioned above, despite the substantial uncertainty in the
global economic outlook, China’s foreign trade has continued
to expand and shown resilience in the past few years, with
high regional concentration as a notable characteristic.
According to the General Administration of Customs of the
PRC, the total value of China's import and export trade rose
from RMB32.16 trillion for 2020 to RMB43.84 trillion for
2024, representing a compound annual growth rate (CAGR)
of approximately 8.0%. It is worth mentioning that China’s
foreign trade transactions were mainly conducted with
countries in Asia, with regional trade accounting for 50.2%.
As such, the overall trend of China’s economic recovery will
remain unchanged despite the increasing complexity, severity
and uncertainty of the external environment.

In view of the above, the Company believes that China’s
foreign trade and exports are resilient to risks, and are
expected to improve in the long run, which will provide
broad development space for the international logistics and
supply chain industries. As the Chinese government firmly
upholds the multilateral trading system with the World Trade
Organization at its core, expands its common interests with
other countries, steps up policy support to stabilize its foreign
trade, and persistently facilitates the expansion and upgrading
of trade and investment cooperation based on the “Belt
and Road Initiative”, it is believed that the new momentum
for China’s trade development China will emerge at a faster
pace, and the foundation for steady growth, improved
quality and increased efficiency of imports and exports will
be further consolidated. Therefore, the Company will remain
steadfast to the development concept of “going global
with the Belt and Road Initiative, going global with cross-
border e-commerce, and going global with Chinese people
and Chinese enterprises”, seize the strategic opportunity of
"express delivery going global”, and focus its efforts on the
following aspects:

PESERBEE LERELE]

el 2REERMENERTEEET
FEYIINEZEBERFTHEERE T
Mok BEEBEFER TR 2R H—
Kot - BEFRSHABHE —T -
FE_Z-_NF - FHEHOZEZFRER
ARB32 16BEEEARBLI384EETT
FHIRIE S EE(CAGR)AS.0% B *
THEHDMNBEBRETIERS B E
SR EE50.2% - HPEFIR B AV AE B - BR IE
M THEEFEOEAELINERELED
A TR B -

RLE ARARA PESNELOARGIE
EAREERR BRBAT B ASBEERY
MEEERBTREHERNEREH -BEE
TERFREEEAERESEBE S Z O
MZEEFIRG BARZENEZNESR
BCoMARIINEBRANE L@ [—F— 5%
BHREGFTHERAS HERBE
SERMBEBMRIZS ELORBER
REE RSN ERSE—FHFE - FHt
ARRBEERAITRZII-F—RIED
E REBREHELE REEAFELE
HEIMBERE S ZMRE LS ] BB
WiB - BRATRETmFARERTE:

16 YTO International Express and Supply Chain Technology Limited Annual Report 2024



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWRD N

PROSPECTS (continued)

Keep advancing network construction and
vigorously develop a global network system

The Company will give priority to network and continue
to consolidate the construction of network infrastructure.
With the vision of “The World is Within Your Reach (it
AR FEEFAIE) ", the Company will gradually build a
radiating network of “China Connects the World and the
World Connects the World ( F2 BBt 57 -t FEgH# R ) . and
establish an integrated global logistics network with a global
vision and layout.

The Company will build a supply chain network system that
covers the globe to connect active regional participants in
import and export trade with China, such as Kazakhstan and
Thailand. With international core hubs including Almaty and
Bangkok as nodes and air-rail-sea-road multimodal transport
system as the international trunk route, the Company will
build a “backbone + mesh” network structure radiating to
the world, with the infrastructure connecting the world being
completed gradually to achieve global connectivity.

In the technology-driven digital transformation,
build core competitiveness through system
upgrades

In recent years, emerging technologies such as artificial
intelligence, cloud computing and big data have been
developing rapidly. Industry players have been driving
industrial upgrading with technology, actively promoting the
in-depth integration of emerging technologies with business
operations and management, and accelerating the cultivation
of new quality productivity for the industry. In response to
the call of “promoting the transformation and upgrading
of traditional industries” proposed in government work
reports, and adhering to the principles of “digitalization,
mobility, real-time, and visualization”, the Company advanced
digital transformation in an all-round manner, strengthened
technology-driven innovation, and facilitated the wide
promotion and application of emerging technologies such
as big data, cloud computing and artificial intelligence in
business operations. By embracing an Internet mindset to
create advanced information tools, accelerating the upgrade
and update of tools for management and control of business
operations, and redefining the use of digital management
tools, we comprehensively promote digital transformation and
upgrading.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWRD M

PROSPECTS (continued)

In the technology-driven digital transformation,
build core competitiveness through system
upgrades (continued)

Looking forward, the Company believes that an important
component of the Company’s future core competitiveness will
include providing enterprises and consumers with secured,
convenient, efficient and intelligent logistics services, that is,
by embracing technology and investing in R&D to promote
the further transformation of enterprises toward technology-
intensive ones. Based on its existing business needs and in
light of industry development trends and customer demands,
the Company will increase its investment in technology R&D,
pursue all-round improvement in corporate management
efficiency, customer communication efficiency and value
delivery efficiency, thus realizing the transformation of the
Company from a traditional international logistics supply
chain enterprise into a logistics technology enterprise.

With steady growth of air freight, leverage
resource synergy to seek business breakthroughs

According to the International Air Transport Association
(IATA), global air freight volume keeps growing from 2020
to 2025, and is expected to reach 72.5 million tons in 2025,
representing a year-on-year increase of 5.8%. According
to the 2024 global air freight market analysis, demand for
airlines in the Asia-Pacific region increased by 14.5% year-on-
year, accounting for 34.2% of the global air freight market.
The Company believes that, by strengthening business linkage
with YTO Cargo, a wholly owned subsidiary of the parent
company, and leveraging the business and resource synergies
of the two companies, it could benefit from the continued
growth in global air freight volume and growing demand in
the Asia-Pacific region, thereby achieving new breakthroughs
in the air freight sector.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWRD N

PROSPECTS (continued)

Keep up with the development trend of cross-
border e-commerce to create a new pillar for
business development

According to the General Administration of Customs of the
PRC, the total import and export value of China’s cross-
border e-commerce kept growing from RMB1.63 trillion for
2020 to RMB2.63 trillion for 2024, representing a compound
annual growth rate (CAGR) of 12.7%, and China’s total
value of cross-border imports and exports as a proportion of
foreign trade value has increased year by year to 6%. The
Company believes that, as cross-border e-commerce gradually
steps into a new stage dominated by brands and platforms,
the Company may, by relying on its good cooperative
relationship with existing e-commerce platforms and through
enhancing the depth of cooperation, increasing the loyalty
of cooperation and expanding the scope of cooperation,
fully leverage its resource integration and full-chain service
capabilities to capitalize on the demand from cross-border
e-commerce sector for high-quality, convenient, reliable and
stable international logistics services, and foster it into a core
driving force for the future performance growth and even for
the creation of a second growth curve of the Company.

Comprehensively strengthen integrated service
capabilities and accelerate the expansion in
international markets

The Company focuses on fields such as apparel, automotive,
semiconductors and electronic products, and continuously
strengthens its global supply chain capabilities. It maintains
good cooperation with large multinational companies, by
providing comprehensive logistics services for international
comprehensive events, further consolidates an integrated
“warehousing, linehaul, distribution and customs clearance”
international supply chain logistics service capability. In
addition to its existing major customers, the Company is also
actively exploring resources in other industries and from other
major customers to accelerate the expansion in international
markets. Furthermore, based on the characteristics of its
existing business, the Company will integrate and coordinate
the capabilities and resources of its overseas freight and
express subsidiaries to introduce last-mile transportation and
distribution services in destination countries, thereby further
enhancing the loyalty of its major customers.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Yang Xinwei (“Mr. Yang”), aged 48, was appointed
as a non-executive Director on 31 March 2022. With effect
from 9 December 2022, Mr. Yang was re-designated as an
executive Director. Mr. Yang obtained a bachelor’s degree in
business administration from Xidian University (8% & ¥Rt
B RKE)in June 2016. Mr. Yang joined YTO Express Group
in May 2000 and held various senior managerial positions in
various subsidiaries and the aviation division of YTO Express
Group. Since July 2015, Mr. Yang has been a vice president of
YTO Express Co., Ltd. (ElfBREHFRAF]), a subsidiary of
YTO Express. From June 2021, Mr. Yang has been designated
by YTO Express Group to oversee the overall strategy planning
of the Company and business development of international
express. Mr. Yang is the cousin-in-law of the spouse of Mr. Yu
Huijiao, the chairman of the Board, a non-executive Director
and controlling shareholder of the Company.

As at 31 December 2024, Mr. Yang was interested in 800,000
Shares. Please refer to the section headed "Directors’ and
chief executive’s interests and short positions in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any
associated corporation” for further details.

Mr. Zhou Jian (“Mr. Zhou"), aged 47, was appointed as
an executive Director and the Chief Executive Officer on
28 March 2024. Mr. Zhou obtained a bachelor’s degree
in Communications Engineering from the Department of
Electronic and Information Engineering of Huazhong University
of Science and Technology in June 1998 and a master’s degree
in Science and Technology in Signal and Information Service
from Huazhong University of Science and Technology in June
2001. Mr. Zhou joined YTO Express in January 2024 and
currently serves as the vice president of YTO Express Co., Ltd.
(ElEREBRAAF), a subsidiary of YTO Express. Prior to
joining YTO Express Group, Mr. Zhou held various positions in
Hangzhou BEST Network Technologies Co., Ltd.* ({1 & tt 43
R AR A A]) (“Hangzhou BEST”), a consolidated variable
interest entity of BEST Inc., a company listed on the New York
Stock Exchange (stock code: BEST) from 2008 to 2020. He was
the director of carrier resources management of Hangzhou
BEST from October 2008 to October 2010, the vice president
and group director and general manager of express division of
Hangzhou BEST from November 2010 to December 2016, and
the senior vice president and general manager of international
division of Hangzhou BEST from January 2017 to March 2020,
respectively. From March 2020 to September 2021, Mr. Zhou
was the assistant chief marketing officer of Shenzhen S.F.
Taisen Holding (Group) Co. Ltd.* (FIINEL RHRIEMW (L£H)F
fR 72 A1), a subsidiary of S.F. Holding Co., Ltd. ("S.F. Holding"),
a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code:
002352). In September 2020, Mr. Zhou was re-designated
as the chief executive officer of Shenzhen Fengwang Express
Co., Ltd.* (RINLHREAR A A)), another subsidiary of S.F.
Holdlng, and served until December 2023.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Yu Huijiao (“"Mr. Yu"”), aged 58, was appointed as
a non-executive Director, the chairman of the Board, the
chairman of the Nomination Committee and a member of the
Remuneration Committee on 1 December 2017. He obtained
a bachelor's degree in information systems application and
management from BN EFE T K2 (PLA Information
Engineering University*) in December 2013. Mr. Yu founded
EB®REBMR AT (YTO Express Co., Ltd.*) (previously
known as LE/BE@EEAFR AT (Shanghai Yuantong
Express Delivery Co., Ltd.*)), a subsidiary of YTO Express,
in May 2000 and currently serves as the chairman of the
board of YTO Express. Mr. Yu has served as the chairman of
the board of Yuantong Jiaolong since December 2010 and
general manager of Yuantong Jiaolong since June 2020.
He has served as vice president of the General Association
of Zhejiang Entrepreneurs since December 2022. Mr. Yang
Xinwei, who is an executive Director, is the cousin-in-law of
the spouse of Mr. Yu.

As of 31 December 2024, Mr. Yu was interested in
268,229,408 Shares. Please refer to the section headed
“Directors’ and chief executive's interests and short positions
in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or any associated corporation” for further details.

Mr. Pan Shuimiao (“Mr. Pan”), aged 57, was appointed as a
non-executive Director on 21 January 2020 and the chairman
of Corporate Governance Committee on 21 August 2023,
and a member of the Audit Committee on 8 February 2023
and resigned as a member of the Audit Committee on 31
March 2023. Mr. Pan obtained a master degree in engineering
from Zhejiang University in January 1991. From July 2006 to
February 2012, Mr. Pan served as president of #1/T& HF&E
BMR AT (Zhejiang Wanma Group Company Limited*) and
chairman of I & FEERM AR 2R (Zhejiang Wanma
Cable Company Limited*). From March 2012 to March 2019,
Mr. Pan had been acting as the director, executive director
and managing director of F/BE#FHAIRERE P L
(Shanghai Yunfeng New Venture Capital Investment Center*).
Mr. Pan joined YTO Express as a director in October 2016 and
was appointed as president of YTO Express since April 2019.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EEREAREERZEHE

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Non-executive Directors (continued)

Ms. Wang Lixiu (“Ms. Wang"), aged 47, was appointed as a
non-executive Director and a member of the Audit Committee
on 31 March 2023. She obtained a bachelor’s degree in
English from Faculty of Foreign Languages, Ningbo University*
(BHAEBHNEZRT) in June 2000 and a master’s degree in
Linguistics and Applied Linguistics in Guangdong University
of Foreign Studies* (BRI FBINEKZ)in June 2003.
Ms. Wang is a member of the Chinese Institute of Certified
Public Accountants, with around 20 years of experience in
auditing, financial management and corporate investment and
merger and acquisition. Ms. Wang joined YTO Express Group
in December 2022 and currently serves as the vice president
of YTO Express. Prior to joining YTO Express Group, Ms. Wang
was an audit senior manager in KPMG Huazhen LLP from July
2003 to December 2013. Ms. Wang held various positions in
subsidiaries of S.F. Holding from 2013 to 2021. She served
as the finance director from December 2013 to March
2020, and was re-designated as the chief financial officer of
international business unit in S.F. Holding and served until
December 2021.

As at 31 December 2024, Ms. Wang was interested in 80,000
Shares. Please refer to the section headed "Directors’ and
chief executive’s interests and short positions in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any
associated corporation” for further details.

Mr. Su Xiufeng (“Mr. Su”), aged 50, was appointed as a
non-executive Director on 21 August 2023. He obtained a
bachelor's degree in English from Guangzhou Institute of
Foreign Languages* (&M N2 %) in June 1995 and
a master's degree in business administration from the City
University of Seattle (EBIFEMEE M T AE*) in September
2006. Mr. Su joined YTO Express in December 2015 and
served as the vice president of YTO Express from 17 October
2016 to 16 October 2019, and he currently serves as a
director and the vice chairman of Yuantong Jiaolong and the
chairman of YTO Cargo. Mr. Su served as a non-executive
Director from 1 December 2017 to 21 January 2020. Prior
to joining YTO Express Group, Mr. Su served as the chief
executive officer of Zhejiang Loong Airlines Co., Ltd* (7T
KBEMZEAR QA (previously known as CDI Cargo Airlines
Co., Ltd* (RREHBEEMEZHERAF)) from November
2011 to April 2013 and he joined Yuantong Jiaolong in May
2013.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EESREAREERCZBHE

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Li Donghui (“Mr. Li"), aged 54, was appointed as
an independent non-executive Director and a member of
the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the
Corporate Governance Committee on 1 December 2017.
He obtained a bachelor’s degree in philosophy from Renmin
University of China in July 1991, a master’s degree in
management engineering from 1t R ## T ¥ 27 (Beijing
Institute of Machinery*) in June 1997, and a master’s degree
in business administration from Kelley School of Business
of Indiana University in March 2010. Since Mr. Li has joined
the group companies of Geely Automobile Holdings Limited
("Geely"”), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 0175), in July 2016, he has worked for
various positions and currently serves as an executive director
and vice chairman of Geely. He currently also serves as the
chief executive officer of Zhejiang Geely Holding Group. Prior
to joining Geely, Mr. Li served as the vice president and chief
financial officer of Guangxi Liugong Machinery Co., Ltd, a
company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code:
000528), between December 2009 and March 2011. Between
May 2014 and June 2016, Mr. Li served various positions
including as a director and the vice chairman of 1t =& 77 B #k
BIBRL D ABR A A (Beijing Orient Landscape & Environment
Co., Ltd.*) (previously known as 1t 5 E 5 B # 1D B R
AF]), a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange
(stock code: 002310). He served as a director of /T T &
FERZ 3 AR A A (Zhejiang Qianjiang Motorcycle Co. Ltd.*), a
company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code:
000913), until April 2018. Mr. Li was appointed as director of
Volvo Car AB in April 2012 and it became listed on Nasdaq
Stockholm in October 2021. Mr. Li was also appointed as
director of Polestar Automotive Holding UK PLC in June
2022 and it became listed on Nasdaqg in June 2022. Mr. Li
was appointed as non-executive director of Aston Martin
Lagonda Global Holdings Plc (stock code: AML), a company
listed on the London Stock Exchange, in July 2023. Mr. Li was
appointed as director of SEEKR Intelligent Technology Holding
Ltd. (stock code: ZK), a company listed on the New York Stock
Exchange, in May 2024. Mr. Li was appointed as chair of
board of Lotus Technology Inc. (stock code: LOT), a company
listed on the NASDAQ, in February 2024.

—EMEFR EE

BEEEHE m)
BIAFHITES

THREXE([ZHAE]) 5S4 R Z
_{¢+ZH_E%§EEﬁi#ﬁﬁ§
ERERLTEY RELZEGRLEER
ZEEKEBE-FR— N NL—FLtAEHEH
ARKERSHEELEB - R— At
iﬂﬂéﬁaﬁﬁlﬁéﬁmﬁﬁﬁlﬁ
BErEU R ZEF=FB8NELTH
KEGF 2RI E Iﬁa@ﬁiﬂ1o
BERENMABIAER EMART A
BEERERA TH%MU(%@R%:
0175) 2 EBEHRARIE R_ZT—R"F+t A
e R E e N A VAN Hm?&iﬂZ%

TEENEFER- {BZEEJT#,/%/I*%IJ
SEMNERERITE - MASTF A é%i
a:zzn¢+ FE-_Z—%=ZAR
TN EBEH R ST LR A E T
H AR QA (5 K5 000528) (L &4
HEEREUBEE - B-F— EEEHE*
T—RNFRNA FTEAEARFIINEERR DA

LmAﬂjt/?ﬁﬁlwaii%ﬁ}ﬁﬁiﬂﬁ
(A RRAFBEARBRDERAA) (KK
R 8% :002310) IETZ AL BREEE M
Elliiﬁo?&ﬁé::—)\imﬂﬁﬁﬁiﬁiﬁ
TERABRGERAR (REINBERSH
WA B ARSR:000913)EF-
THRAR_E——_FNAEZTEKREKX
"ER T(EA_q_—i‘f'ﬂEfWHﬁ%ﬁ

Hﬁ%%ﬁ%g ARG EMIEF =%
E IR = —F X AEZ  APolestar

Automotlve Holdmg UK PLC (7?"_7__
??ﬁi%:;ﬁiiitﬂﬁﬁEﬁAston
Martin Lagonda Global Holdings Plc (%
WMABARXGM ET 2R BRHRIE:

AML) Z ERTTEE -FHRAR T _MF
f A B Z £ ASEEKR Intelligent Technology

Holding Ltd. (RAEHBEFRFM LW 2R
A RORE K 2EF-FREENR T

Z U 4F = BEZ{E Alotus Technology In:.
(RMETERRZ G Lz RG] RO RS
LOT)2EEEEFE-

B REHEEMNEERAT 23



BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEREAREERZEHE

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Independent non-executive Directors (continued)

Mr. Xu Junmin ("Mr. Xu"), aged 60, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director, the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee and a member of the Nomination
Committee and the Corporate Governance Committee
on 1 December 2017. He obtained a bachelor's degree
in electromagnetic engineering from _t & &l 2317 A &
(Shanghai University of Science and Technology*) in July
1987 and a master's degree in business administration from
Arizona State University in May 2009. Mr. Xu had served
as an independent director of E/EFIFERIERMHD AR AT
(Shanghai Richtech Engineering Co., Ltd.*), a company listed
on the National Equities Exchange and Quotations (stock
code: 832547), from July 2016 to December 2018. He had
also served as an independent director of & @SB E T
BB AR (CWB Automotive Electronics Co. Ltd.*) (stock
code: 605005, a company listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange since January 2021) from June 2018 to May 2021.
Mr. Xu held various positions in the group companies of £/
HEEMZERHD B R AR (Juneyao Airlines Co., Ltd.*) (previously
known as E/EEHEMEBRAA) (“Juneyao Airlines”), a
company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code:
603885), including the director of ALTMZEAR QA (9
Air Company Limited*). He has been serving as the board
secretary and a director of Juneyao Airlines since November
2010 and July 2017 respectively. In November 2019, Mr. Xu
ceased to be a director of Juneyao Airlines. He also served
as a director and the vice president of Juneyao Airlines from
August 2020 to August 2023 and from November 2019 to
August 2023, respectively. He also served as an independent
director of E/EAILBHEERMBR AR (Shanghai Stonehill
Technology Co., Ltd.*) (previously known as /& — =ZP0H 4
wImIRE BN B MR A A (Shanghai 2345 Network Holding
Group Co. Ltd.*)), a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange (stock code: 002195) from May 2016 to May 2022.
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EESREAREERCZBHE

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Independent non-executive Directors (continued)

Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John (“Mr. Chung”), aged 56, was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director, the
chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the
Remuneration Committee and the Corporate Governance
Committee on 1 December 2017. He obtained a bachelor’s
degree in economics from Macquarie University in April
1992 and is a member of CPA Australia and Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, with over 20
years of experience in auditing, financial management and
corporate finance. Mr. Chung was an auditor in Arthur
Andersen (an international accounting firm) from 1992 to
1999. From 2000, Mr. Chung held several senior management
positions, including chief financial officer, executive director
and independent non-executive director, in a number of
listed companies in Hong Kong. Mr. Chung is currently
an independent non-executive director of the following
companies listed on the Stock Exchange: (i) BYD Electronic
(International) Company Limited (stock code: 285) since June
2013; (ii) Zhengye International Holdings Company Limited
(stock code: 3363) since March 2011; (iii) B & S International
Holdings Ltd. (stock code: 1705) since February 2018; and
(iv) Tokyo Chuo Auction Holdings Limited (stock code: 1939)
since September 2018.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Wong Pui Wah (“Ms. Wong"), aged 49, is the
chief financial officer of the Company and the Company
Secretary. She is responsible for overall financial and banking
management and overall human resources and administrative
management of the Group. Ms. Wong joined the Group in
March 2006 and worked as an accounting manager. She
became the financial controller of the Group since August
2006. She was an executive Director from 20 December 2013
to 1 December 2017. Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Wong
had acquired auditing and accounting experiences by working
in various accountancy firms which include Frank Ho & Co.,
Y.L. Ngan & Company, C.W. Leung & Co. and RSM Nelson
Wheeler (currently known as RSM Hong Kong) from June
1998 to March 2006. She has over 20 years of experience in
auditing, accounting and financial management. Ms. Wong
graduated from Lingnan College (currently known as Lingnan
University) with a bachelor’s degree in business administration
in November 1998. She also obtained a master's degree in
professional accounting from The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University in November 2010. She is a non-practising
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a fellow of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants. Ms. Wong is also a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company. In September 2022, Ms. Wong
was appointed as an independent non-executive director of
China Merchants Port Holdings Company Limited, a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
0144).

Ms. Chen Li ("Ms. Chen"), aged 41, is the general manager
of the Group's international freight center. She is responsible
for the business management of the international freight
center. Ms. Chen joined the Group in June 2024 and is also
a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Prior to
joining the Group, Ms. Chen served as the vice president of
Shanghai Shenlingda Supply Chain Management Co., Ltd.*
(LB EHEREE AR AT ) from March 2024 to
May 2024 and worked in various express delivery, logistics
and freight forwarding companies from 2006 to 2024. She
has over 10 years of experience in the logistics and freight
forwarding industry. Ms. Chen obtained a bachelor's degree
in public affairs administration from Zhejiang University of
Technology in 2006.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT

(continued)

Mr. Hu Ruiqi (“Mr. Hu"”), aged 49, is the Group’s general
manager for central Asia, responsible for the Group's
business management in the central Asia region. Mr. Hu
joined the Group in July 2024 and is also a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company. Prior to joining the Group,
Mr. Hu was a senior managing consultant of strategy in
IBM (China) Company Limited, a subsidiary of International
Business Machines Corporation which is a company listed
on the New York Stock Exchange (stock code: IBM), from
November 2002 to April 2011. Then Mr. Hu joined YTO
Express Group and held various positions in YTO Express
Co., Ltd. (EIFBRIFEBBRAF]), a subsidiary of YTO Express,
from 2011 to 2018. He served as the director of the strategic
decision committee’s office from May 2011 to August 2013,
the vice president from August 2013 to April 2016, the senior
director of overseas network development center from April
2016 to March 2017 and the assistant to the president from
March 2017 to December 2017. Mr. Hu was re-designated
as the senior director of overseas planning in December
2017 and he subsequently resigned in April 2018 due to his
other personal entrepreneurship which required more of his
time and dedication. He has over 20 years of experience in
overseas business and strategic management. Mr. Hu obtained
a master’s degree in business administration from Guanghua
School of Management, Peking University in 2002.

Mr. Ng King Wah, Kevin (“Mr. Ng"”), aged 44, is the trade
lane director of the Group. He is responsible for the overseas
network of the Group and overseeing the development,
sales and profitability of the commercial activities with the
international partners of the Group. He joined the Group in
2004 as operations executive and became sales executive and
route development manager from 2006 to 2015. Then he was
promoted as regional commercial manager and trade lane
manager from 2015 to 2020. He was appointed as head of
trade lane management in 2021. Mr. Ng has been working in
logistics industry locally and regionally for 20 years.

*  For identification purposes only
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The Directors have pleasure in presenting their report and the
audited consolidated financial statements for the FY2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands under
the Companies Act (As Revised) of the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability on 6 March 2013.
The Shares were listed on 11 July 2014 on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange. The Company acts as an investment
holding company. The activities of its principal subsidiaries
are provision of freight forwarding services. The principal
activities of the principal subsidiaries are set out in note 45 to
the consolidated financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

During the Reporting Period, other than the Share Option
Scheme and the Share Award Plan, as set out in the sections
headed “Share Option Scheme” and “Share Award Plan” of
this Directors’ Report, the Company has not entered into any
equity-linked agreement.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the FY2024 are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss on page 97.

The Board did not recommend the payment of any final
dividend in respect of the FY2024 (FY2023: HK2.3 cents per
Share).
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend
Policy”) which sets out the principles and guidelines in relation
to the declaration, payment or distribution of the Company’s
net profits as dividends to the Shareholders. In recommending
or declaring dividends, the Company shall maintain adequate
cash reserves for meeting its working capital requirements and
future growth as well as its shareholder value. The Company
does not have any pre-determined dividend payout ratio.
Subject to the Articles and all applicable laws and regulations,
the Board has discretion to declare and distribute dividends to
the Shareholders taking into account the following:

financial results;

cash flow situation;

business conditions and strategies;

future operations and earnings;

capital requirements and expenditure plans; and
interests of Shareholders.

Depending on the financial conditions of the Company and
the Group and the conditions and factors as set out above,
dividends may be proposed and/or declared by the Board for
a financial year or period. The Company may declare and pay
dividends by way of cash or scrip or by other means that the
Board considers appropriate. Any dividend unclaimed shall
be forfeited and shall revert to the Company in accordance
with the Articles. The Board will review the Dividend Policy as
appropriate from time to time.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities
and non-controlling interests of the Group for the last five
financial years, as extracted from the audited financial
statements, is set out on page 249. This summary does not
form part of the audited financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the Group’s business during the Reporting Period,
which includes particulars of important events affecting the
Group during the Reporting Period and an indication of likely
future developments in the Group's business, could be found
in the sections headed "“Chairman’s Statement” and “MD&A"
in this annual report. In addition, an analysis of the Group’s
performance using financial key performance indicators is
included in the section headed "MD&A" in this annual report
and a discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties facing
by the Group is included in the section headed “MD&A" and
notes 4, 6, 37 and 38 to the consolidated financial statements
in this annual report. The review forms part of this Directors’
Report.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Environment protection

The Group complies with environmental legislation,
encourages environmental protection and promotes its
awareness to all employees of the Group. The Group commits
to the principle and practice of recycling and reducing. To
help conserve the environment, it implements green office
practices such as re-deployment of office furniture as far
as possible, encouraging use of recycled paper for printing
and copying, double-sided printing and copying, setting up
recycling bins, reducing energy consumption by switching
off idle lightings, air conditioning and electrical appliances.
The Group will review its environmental practices from time
to time and consider implementing further eco-friendly
measures, sustainability targets and practices in the operation
of the Group’'s businesses to embrace the principles of
reducing, recycling and reuse, and further minimize the
impact on the natural environment.

Relationships with key stakeholders

The Group’s success also depends on the support from our
key stakeholders which comprise employees, customers,
vendors and Shareholders.

Employees

Employees are regarded as the most important and valuable
assets of the Group. The objective of the Group’s human
resource management is to reward and recognise high-
performing staff by providing a competitive remuneration
package and implementing a sound performance appraisal
system with appropriate incentives, and to promote career
development and progression by offering appropriate training
and providing opportunities within the Group for career
advancement.

Customers

The Group’s principal customers are engaged in garment,
footwear and electronic industries and delivery of small
parcels for e-commerce business. The Group has the mission
to provide excellent customer service in air freight and sea
freight and all range of logistic services whilst maintaining
long term profitability, business and asset growth. Various
means have been taken to strengthen the communications
between customers and the Group in the provision of
excellent customer service towards market penetration and
expansion.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Relationships with key stakeholders (continued)
Vendors

Sound relationships with key service vendors of the Group
are important in supply chain, airline company, shipping line
company and business agents and when meeting business
challenges and regulatory requirements, which can derive cost
effectiveness and long term business benefits.

Shareholders

One of the corporate goals of the Group is to enhance
corporate value to Shareholders. The Group is committed
to fostering business developments for achieving the
sustainability of earnings growth and rewarding Shareholders
by stable dividend payouts, taking into account of capital
adequacy levels, liquidity positions and business expansion
needs of the Group.

Compliance with laws and regulations

The Group has compliance and risk management policies
and procedures, and members of the senior management
are delegated with the continuing responsibility to monitor
adherence and compliance with all significant legal and
regulatory requirements. These policies and procedures are
reviewed regularly. As far as the Board is aware, the Group
has complied in material respects with the relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the business and
operation of the Group for the FY2024.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

As at 31 December 2024, the Company did not hold any
properties for development and/or sale or investment
purposes which exceeds 5% of the percentage ratios as
calculated under rule 14.04(9) of the Listing Rules.

The decrease in the fair value of the investment properties
which has been charged to the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the FY2024
amounted to HK$508,000.

The decrease in the fair value of the property, plant and
equipment which has been charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
for the FY2024 amounted to HK$1,429,000.

Details of these and other movements in the investment
properties and property, plant and equipment of the Group
are set out in notes 15 and 16 to the consolidated financial
statements, respectively.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of share capital are set out in note 36 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DEBENTURES IN ISSUE

The Company did not have any debentures in issue for the
FY2024.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group employed about 1,119
employees (as at 31 December 2023: about 978 employees).
During the FY2023, employee costs, including Directors’
remuneration, was about HK$264,265,000 (2023: about
HK$276,285,000). Remuneration packages are generally
structured to market terms, individual qualifications and
experience. The Company has also adopted a share option
scheme and a share award plan for the purpose of providing
incentives and rewards to eligible participants, including the
employees of the Group, who contribute to the success of
the Group’s operations. Training activities have also been
conducted to improve the performance of sales and marketing
activities and customer services.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company’'s listed securities
(including sale of treasury shares) during the FY2024. As at
31 December 2025, there were no treasury shares held by the
Company.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group
and the Company during the FY2024 are set out in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and note 44 to
the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

The Company's distributable reserve as at 31 December
2024 as calculated under the Companies Act (As Revised),
Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised), of
the Cayman Islands, amounted to HK$438,537,000 (2023:
HK$440,033,000).
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the FY2024 and up to the date of this
report were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Yang Xinwei

Mr. Zhou Jian (Chief Executive Officer)
(Appointed on 28 March 2024)

Mr. Sun Jian (Chief Executive Officer)
(Resigned on 28 March 2024)

Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Yu Huijiao (Chairman)
Mr. Pan Shuimiao

Ms. Wang Lixiu

Mr. Su Xiufeng

Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. Li Donghui
Mr. Xu Junmin
Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John

In accordance with the Articles, Mr. Yu Huijiao, Ms. Wang
Lixiu and Mr. Li Donghui will retire at the forthcoming AGM
and all of them, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election at the forthcoming AGM.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and the chief executive of the Company in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or
any associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV
of the SFO), as recorded in the register required to be kept
under Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules, were as
follows:

(A) Long position in ordinary Shares

EERERSITHRABRAQXTRE
MEBEE KRG  HERA RS
EEPoEZRXE
RZE-_WNE+_/F=+—8H" %$&$
NABESITHA B R AR R kA A FH 8%
(EERBHRBEKRMIEXVE) 2 K&
3~ 1%

ki REEEAARRS SR
MR ARER AT HE 2B

THREAR

(A) REBRZHR

Approximate
Number of  percentage* of

Shares involved shareholding
Name of Director Capacity/nature of interest v RZ BRER
EEnE B REEME R&oEE Bat*
Mr. Yu Huijiao Interest of controlled 268,229,408 63.84%

corporations (Note)
HE Rkt Ry EEeviER (M)

Mr. Yang Xinwei Beneficial owner 800,000 0.19%
BIEEE EnEAA
Ms. Wang Lixiu Beneficial owner 80,000 0.02%
ITEFuL EREBA

Note: These Shares are held by YTO Global Holdings Limited, a
company wholly owned by Yuan Jun. Yuan Jun is a company
wholly owned by YTO Express, which is in turn controlled as
to 31.65% by Yuantong Jiaolong, 2.92% by Mr. Yu Huijiao
and 2.15% by his spouse, Ms. Zhang Xiaojuan. Yuantong
Jiaolong is a company owned as to 51% by Mr. Yu Huijiao
and 49% by Ms. Zhang Xiaojuan. By virtue of the SFO,
Mr. Yu Huijiao and Ms. Zhang Xiaojuan are deemed to
be interested in the Shares held by YTO Global Holdings
Limited.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND

IN

DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION (continued)

(B) Long position in the shares of associated

corporations of the Company

Name of Director

B3N

Mr. Yu Huijiao
Ry e

Mr. Pan Shuimiao

BKEEE

Note: The relations between Mr. Yu Huijiao and the above

Name of associated corporation

REEEER

YTO Express
Bi@®RE

Yuan Jun

YTO Global Holdings Limited
EAERERERAR

YTO Express

Capacity/nature of interest

2t/ EEtE

Interest of controlled corporations

REEEMER

Beneficial owner

ExlBA

Interest of spouse

R o

Interest of controlled corporations

REEENER

Interest of controlled corporations
REEENER

Beneficial owner

ERBERA

associated corporations are set out in note of part (A) of the
paragraph headed “Directors’ and chief executive’s interests
and short positions in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any associated corporation”.
YTO Global Holdings Limited, YTO Express and Yuan Jun
are the direct/indirect holding companies of the Company.
In this connection, YTO Express, Yuan Jun and YTO Global
Holdings Limited are associated corporations of the
Company within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO.

* The percentage represents the number of shares involved divided *
by the number of issued shares or registered capital of the
Company/associated corporation as at 31 December 2024.
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(B) RARTHEEEH

R zEa

Number of shares
involved/amount of
registered capital

Approximate
percentage* of
shareholding

FR2zBGEE/ BORK
BN BA*
1,090,806,213 31.65%

100,673,929 2.92%
74,027,054 2.15%
RMB1,800,000,000 100.00%

AR %1,800,000,0007
1,600,000,000 100.00%
1,200,800 0.03%
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION (continued)

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none of
the Directors or chief executive of the Company had any
interests and/or short positions in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company or any associated
corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), as
recorded in the register required to be kept under Section
352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Share Option
Scheme” and “Share Award Plan” below, at no time during
the year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to
any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits
by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of,
the Company or any other body corporate and none of the
Directors, their spouses or children under the age of 18, had
any rights to subscribe for securities of the Company, or had
exercised any such rights during the FY2024.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the sections headed “Connected
Transaction” and “Continuing Connected Transactions” below
and in note 43 to the consolidated financial statements, no
transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance in
relation to the Group’s business to which the Company or
any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director
or his/her connected entity had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the FY2024 or at
any time during the FY2024.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Under the Articles, the Company had a permitted indemnity
provision (as defined in section 469 of the Companies
Ordinance) in force for the benefit of the Directors
throughout the FY2024 and as at the date of approval of
this Directors’ Report, pursuant to which the Company shall
indemnify any Director against any liability, loss suffered and
expenses incurred by the Director in connection with any legal
proceedings in which he/she is involved by reason of being
a Director, except in any case where the matter in respect of
which indemnification is sought was caused by the fraud or
dishonesty of the Directors. The Company has maintained
insurance cover for Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect
of legal actions against the Directors arising out of corporate
activities. The insurance coverage is reviewed on an annual
basis. During the FY2024, no claims were made against the
Directors.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Mr. Yu Huijiao (a non-executive Director) and Mr. Li Donghui,
Mr. Xu Junmin and Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John (each an
independent non-executive Director), have been appointed for
a term of one year with effect from 1 December 2017, which
shall be automatically renewable for successive terms of one
year each commencing from the next day after the expiry of
the current term of appointment unless terminated by giving
not less than three months’ written notice by either party.

Mr. Pan Shuimiao has been appointed as non-executive
Directors by the Company for an initial term of one year
commencing from 21 January 2020, which shall be renewed
and extended automatically for successive terms of one year
each upon expiry of the then current term, until terminated
by not less than three month’s written notice served by either
party expiring at the end of the initial term or thereafter.

Mr. Yang Xinwei has been appointed as an executive Director
for an initial fixed term of one year commencing from 9
December 2022, renewable automatically for successive terms
of one year each commencing from the day immediately
after the expiry of the then current term of appointment,
until terminated as contemplated pursuant to the termination
provisions therein, or by not less than three months’ written
notice served by either party expiring at the end of the initial
term of his appointment or any time thereafter.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS (continued)

Ms. Wang Lixiu has been appointed as a non-executive
Director for an initial fixed term of one year commencing from
31 March 2023, renewable automatically for successive terms
of one year each commencing from the day immediately
after the expiry of the then current term of appointment,
until terminated as contemplated pursuant to the termination
provisions therein, or by not less than three months" written
notice served by either party expiring at the end of the initial
term of her appointment or any time thereafter.

Mr. Su Xiufeng has been appointed as a non-executive
Director for an initial fixed term of one year commencing
from 21 August 2023, renewable automatically for
successive terms of one year each commencing from
the day immediately after the expiry of the then current
term of appointment, until terminated as contemplated
pursuant to the termination provisions therein, or by
not less than three months’ written notice served by
either party expiring at the end of the initial term of his
appointment or any time thereafter.

Mr. Zhou Jian has been appointed as an executive Director
for an initial fixed term of one year commencing from 28
March 2024, renewable automatically for successive terms
of one year each commencing from the day immediately
after the expiry of the then current term of appointment,
until terminated as contemplated pursuant to the
termination provisions therein, or by not less than three
months’ written notice served by either party expiring at
the end of the initial term of his appointment or any time
thereafter.

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming AGM has a service contract with the Company
or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the
Group within one year without payment of compensation,
other than statutory compensation.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the independent
non-executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
The Company considers all of the independent non-executive
Directors are independent.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Share Option Scheme was adopted by the Shareholders
on 21 June 2014 (the “Share Option Scheme Adoption
Date”). The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to
enable the Group to grant options to selected participants
as incentives or rewards for their contributions to the
Group. All directors, employees, suppliers of goods or
services, customers, persons or entities that provide research,
development or other technological support to the Group,
shareholders of any member of the Group, advisers or
consultants of the Group and any other group or classes
of participants who have contributed or may contribute by
way of joint venture, business alliance or other business
arrangement and growth of the Group are eligible to
participate in the Share Option Scheme.

The Share Option Scheme remained in force for a period of
10 years after the Share Option Scheme Adoption Date and
has expired on 21 June 2024.

The total number of Shares which may be allotted and issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option scheme adopted
by the Group must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the
Shares in issue on the Listing Date (the “General Scheme
Limit”). The Company may renew the General Scheme Limit
with Shareholders’ approval provided that each such renewal
may not exceed 10% of the Shares in issue as at the date
of the Shareholders’ approval. As at 1 January 2024 and 31
December 2024, the number of options available for grant
under the Share Option Scheme was 37,218,000 Shares and
Nil. As at 1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024, the total
number of Shares which may be allotted and issued upon the
exercise of all options to be granted under the Share Option
Scheme was 37,218,000 Shares and Nil as at the respective
date, representing about 8.86% and 0% of the issued share
capital of the Company as at the respective date.

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be
exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option scheme adopted by the Group must not in aggregate
exceed 30% of the Shares in issue from time to time. As at
the date of this report, the total number of Shares available
for issue under the Share Option Scheme was Nil.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

Unless approved by the Shareholders, the total number of
Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options
granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option scheme of the Group (including both exercised or
outstanding options) to each participant in any 12-month
period shall not exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the
Company for the time being.

An option may be accepted by a participant within 21 days
from the date of the offer of grant of the option. A nominal
consideration of HK$1 is payable on acceptance of the grant
of an option.

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of
the Share Option Scheme at any time during a period to be
determined and notified by the Directors to each grantee,
which period may commence on a day after the date upon
which the offer for the grant of options is made but shall end
in any event not later than 10 years from the date of grant
of the option, subject to the provisions for early termination
thereof. Unless otherwise determined by the Directors and
stated in the offer of the grant of options to a grantee,
there is no minimum period required under the Share
Option Scheme for the holding of an option before it can be
exercised.

The subscription price for the Shares under the Share Option
Scheme will be a price determined by the Directors, but shall
not be less than the highest of: (i) the closing price of Shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on
the date of the offer of grant, which must be a business day;
(ii) the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of the offer for the grant;
and (i) the nominal value of a Share.

During the FY2024, no share options have been outstanding,
granted, exercised, lapsed or cancelled by the Company
under the Share Option Scheme. As the Share Option Scheme
expired on 21 June 2024, no further grant of share options
will be made under the Share Option Scheme.
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SHARE AWARD PLAN

The Board adopted the Share Award Plan on 17 August
2018 (the “Share Award Plan Adoption Date”). The
purposes of the Share Award Plan are to recognise and
reward the contribution of the eligible participants to the
growth and development of the Group, to give incentives
to the eligible participants in order to retain them for the
continual operation and development of the Group and to
attract suitable personnel for further development of the
Group. Participants of the Share Award Plan include all the
employees, directors, suppliers, customers of the Group,
persons or entities that provide research, development or
other technological support to the Group, shareholders of
any member of the Group, advisers or consultants of the
Group and any other group or classes of participants who
have contributed or may contribute by way of joint venture,
business alliance or other business arrangement and growth
of the Group.

Subject to any earlier termination as may be determined
by the Board, the Share Award Plan will remain in force for
a period of 10 years from the Share Award Plan Adoption
Date and shall expire on 17 August 2028. As at the date of
this report, the Share Award Plan had a remaining life of
approximately 3.5 years.

The Share Award Plan shall be subject to the administration
of the Board (by itself or through the plan administrator) and
the trustee in accordance with the terms of the Share Award
Plan and the terms of the trust deed. The trustee shall hold
the trust fund in accordance with the terms of the trust deed.

In any given financial year of the Company, the maximum
number of Shares to be subscribed for and/or purchased by
the trustee by utilising the funds to be allocated by the Board
out of the Company’s resources for the purpose of the Share
Award Plan shall not exceed 5% of the total number of issued
Shares as at the beginning of such financial year. None of the
Board or the plan administrator shall instruct the trustee to
subscribe for and/or purchase any Shares for the purpose of
the Share Award Plan when such purchase and/or subscription
will result in such threshold being exceeded.
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SHARE AWARD PLAN (continued)

The Company will not make any further grant of share
awards under the Share Award Plan unless and until the
terms of such scheme are amended to comply with Chapter
17 of the Listing Rules. As such, as at 1 January 2024, 31
December 2024 and the date of this report, the number of
share awards available for grant under the Share Award Plan
was Nil as at the respective date. As at 1 January 2024, 31
December 2024 and the date of this report, the total number
of Shares that may be issued in respect of the share awards
granted under the Share Award Plan on 10 June 2021 in
which specific mandates was approved by the Shareholders
on 8 October 2021 was 3,558,800 Shares, 775,000 Shares
and 775,000 Shares respectively, representing approximately
0.85%, 0.18% and 0.18% of the total issued share capital
of the Company as at the respective date. There was no
restriction on the maximum number of Shares to be granted
under the Share Award Plan to each participant. The Board
may from time to time, at its discretion, determine the vesting
date, any conditions or performance targets or consideration
to be attained or paid by the selected participant(s) and upon
which the trustee of the Share Award Plan shall transfer the
awarded Shares to the relevant participant(s).

Details of the Share Award Plan were disclosed in the
Company’'s announcements dated 17 August 2018 and
24 August 2018.

During the FY2024, no Shares were purchased by the trustee
of the Share Award Plan pursuant to the terms of the trust
deed of the Share Award Plan (2023: Nil).
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SHARE AWARD PLAN (continued)

Details of movements of the share awards granted under the
Share Award Plan for the FY2024 are as follows:

Name or category of
selected participants

BESRENEARI

Connected selected participants
BEEESEE
Ms. Wong Pui Wah (Note (2))

ERELL (W0

Director

i

Mr. Sun Jian (Resigned on
28 March 2024) (Note (3))

Bk (RoFomE
ZAZH/\BEE) (H#0)

Sub-total
Nt

Date of award

L3R

10 June 2021

—E--F
~AtH

10 June 2021

—E--F
~AtH

% 17 22 B 51 & (a0

RZZF-_NFHREFE  REBD ZE
FRENRD EBESFENT

Number of share awards
ReZBYA
Outstanding Outstanding
asat  Awarded Vested Lapsed  Cancelled asat
Vesting dates 1 January during during during during 31 December
(Note (1)) 2024 theYear  theYear  the Year  the Year 2024
RZB-RE RZB-RE
BEAH -B-H R R R £R +ZA=t-H
(Hi) FIE BR 25 BAH BH# R
25% on the business day immediately after the 30th day of 400,000 - - (200,000) - 200,000
the date of publication of the annual results announcement
of the Company for each of the year ending 31 December
2021, 2022, 2023 and 2024, respectively
BUARREBBAAARE-S-—F 2522F =
ToCERCEIMETACH-RIEEEEENERE
RENEZAREZTRENERE
25% on the business day immediately after the 30th day of 2,008,800 - - (2,008,800) - -
the date of publication of the annual results announcement
of the Company for each of the year ending 31 December
2021, 2022, 2023 and 2024, respectively
BUARREEHBAAIRE-S-—F 25-2F =
ToCERCECMETACH-RIEEEEENERE
RENEZAREZTRENERE
2,408,800 - - (2,208,800) - 200,000
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N ALAAAAANAL
A= Details of movements of the share awards granted under the X — & — I E B B4 E - R IE R D EE T
Share Award Plan for the FY2024 are as follows: (continued) SREHROHEBEBFBEOT (&)
Number of share awards
RAKEBHA
Outstanding Outstanding
asat  Awarded Vested Lapsed  Cancelled as at
Name or category of Vesting dates 1 January during during during during 31 December
selected participants Date of award  (Note (1)) 2024  theYear  theYear  the Year the Year 2024
R-2-@mE R-Z2-@mE
BEAH -B-H £ £ R £® +tzZB=t-B
BESRENZARA %EES (i) Eitd B4 4] | BAM Bt AT
Independent selected
participants
BUBEsRE
Employee selected participants 10 June 2021 25% on the business day immediately after the 30th day of 650,000 - - (325,000 - 325,000
(Note (4)) the date of publication of the annual results announcement

of the Company for each of the year ending 31 December
2021, 2022, 2023 and 2024, respectively
EEBESEE (W) “Ro-F BUAHRERHBAAREE "S- —F “8-"F =
~ATH DICFRCFCMFTAST-AULFREERFNER
FENEZARECTHRMERA

Non-Employee selected
participants with share
award granted in any
12-month period exceeding
0.1% of the issued share
capital of the Company

(Note (4))
REAT-BANBERT
RARBRBRAACET
RAM0.1%2FEEER
S8% (i)
Mr. Wang Zhe (Note (5)) 10 June 2021 25% on the business day immediately after the 30th day of 500,000 - - (250,000 - 250,000
the date of publication of the annual results announcement
of the Company for each of the year ending 31 December
2021, 2022, 2023 and 2024, respectively
TERE (W) —RZ-F BUSHREETEARAEE S5 2525 =
~ATH FoCFRCFIMETCACT-RUEFEEENEE
FENEZARE=THENHERA
Sub-total 1,150,000 - - (575,000) - 575,000
Nt
Total 3,558,800 - - (2,783,800) - 775,000
&t
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SHARE AWARD PLAN (continued)

Notes:

B 5 S B &t &l (@)
W2 -

(1

(5)

Each of the above selected participants are required to pay a
vesting price of HK$2.37 per share to the trustee on or before the
applicable vesting date to which the vesting of the relevant shares
relates. The Shares that may be issued in respect of share awards
granted under the Share Award Plan on 10 June 2021 will be
satisfied by the allotment and issue of new Shares pursuant to the
relevant specific mandates as approved by the Shareholders on 8
October 2021.

Ms. Wong Pui Wah is the chief financial officer of the Company
and a director of certain members of the Group as at the date of
this report.

Mr. Sun Jian resigned as an executive Director on 28 March 2024.

Employee selected participants are employees of the Group (none
of which are directors or chief executive of any members of the
Group) while non-employee selected participants are selected
participants who have contributed or may contribute by way of
business arrangement to the development and growth of the
Group which are certain senior management of YTO Express.

Mr. Wang Zhe was the only non-employee selected participant with
share award granted in any 12-month period exceeding 0.1% of
the issued share capital of the Company.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

The Group participates in defined contribution retirement
benefit schemes organized by the PRC municipal and
provincial government authorities for the Group's eligible
employees in the PRC, and operates a Mandatory Provident

Fund

Scheme for the employees in Hong Kong. Particulars

of these retirement plans are set out in note 39 to the
consolidated financial statements. The retirement benefit
plans operated by the Group were defined contribution
schemes. The contribution made by the Group vest fully with
the employees when contribution was made by the Group
and no forfeited contribution could be used by the Group to
reduce existing level of contributions

(1

(5)

DEBMEFTLREANEBHERNEHE
ZERRBREBRZAIAZEAZSTR2.37
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2024, so far as is known to the Directors,
the following corporations or persons (other than a Director
or the chief executive of the Company) had an interest or a
short position in the Shares and underlying Shares as recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 336 of the SFO:

TERRRROREBERS P28
BRKR

R-BE-_WNF+_A=+—B HEFMH
HoREBEESMEGIFE336KARAE
THREZERMALE TIEERAL
(BEFEHARAHZERTERABRIN RN
ma@wmz&ﬁm BT

Long position in ordinary Shares N\ EBRZHR
Percentage*
of the
Number Company’s
of Shares issued share
involved capital
Name of shareholder Capacity/nature of interest Figke EEAARBHITR
BRRER BB B EmHE ReEE KZ2BEDLE*
YTO Global Holdings Limited Beneficial owner 268,229,408 63.84%
(Note) BEREA A
AERERERAR (M)
YTO Express (Note) Interest of controlled corporations 268,229,408 63.84%
BBk (A7iE) YA E R S
Ms. Zhang Xiaojuan (Note) Interest of controlled corporations 268,229,408 63.84%
wANMB I (M) S EB R =
Note: Biat -

These interests are also disclosed as the interest of Mr. Yu Huijiao in the
paragraph headed “Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and short
positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company
or any associated corporation”.

* The percentage represents the number of Shares involved divided
by the number of the issued Shares as at 31 December 2024.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, other than
the Directors and the chief executive of the Company whose
interests are set out in the paragraph headed "“Directors’ and
chief executive’s interests and short positions in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any
associated corporation” above, no person had interest or
short position in the Shares or underlying Shares which were
required to be recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

ZERBETN [EERRFITRABRARR AR
HEOEEZ B - BB REEER 2 EE AR
—BARBEAWM S WAL L -

* BAOLEMERZBNBEBEBRUAR -F N
FH-A=T—RzEBITRMNHEEAE -

BREXBREEIN R_FT_WOF+ = A
=t—B BEBRENRELX[EERED
TR A B R AR R AR R BEE B 2 B
HEROKEEIEP 2RBEIAR] —R
CEZERARAREITBRABI BLEA
ITREDHABERN T EREREZES LB
B GEOIFE336GALHENAR T’E?’*T—EZ
EaC it Rz ) as AR
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of significant related party transactions of the
Group are set out in note 43 to the consolidated financial
statements. Save as disclosed in the sections headed
“Connected Transaction” and “Continuing Connected
Transactions”, none of the related party transactions
constitutes a connected transaction or continuing connected
transaction which was subject to any of the reporting,
announcement or independent Shareholders’ approval
requirements in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION

During the FY2024, the Group has conducted the following
connected transaction which was required to be disclosed
pursuant to Appendix D2 to the Listing Rules:

On 19 July 2024, Yuantong (Jiaxing) Supply Chain Co.,
Limited* ([El3@ (=& ) £ EHE B R 2 F]) (“Yuantong Jiaxing”),
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered
into a sale and purchase agreement (“SPA") with YTO Express
Co., Ltd* (ElBRIEAFRAF) (“Vendor”), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of YTO Express, pursuant to which the Vendor has
agreed to sell, and Yuantong Jiaxing has agreed to purchase,
the entire equity interest in YTO Cargo Shanghai, an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of YTO Express, at a consideration of
RMB8,810,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$9,477,000),
subject to and in accordance with the terms and conditions of
the SPA (the “Acquisition”).

The Directors consider that the Acquisition will allow the
Group to leverage the advantages brought by the resources
of YTO Cargo Shanghai, in order to improve its logistics
services platform that connects the PRC and the rest of the
world, to promote the development of its businesses such
as international express and parcel services relentlessly, to
develop the advantageous products with the theme “China
Connects the World and the World Connects the World” (“#
BUESH R REFHE R ) |, to fulfil the demand from a board
range of customers on differentiated cross-border logistics
services, to further enhance the international express products
and the services capability, and to promote the growth of
its core business in the future. As such, the Board is of the
view that the Acquisition is in line with the Group’s growth
strategies, and is for the commercial benefit of the Group.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTION (continued)

As at the date of the SPA, YTO Express was a company owned
as to 31.66% by Yuantong Jiaolong, which was in turn owned
as to 51% by Mr. Yu Huijiao (a non-executive Director) and
49% by his spouse. In addition, each of Mr. Yang Xinwei, Mr.
Zhou lJian, Mr. Yu Huijiao, Mr. Pan Shuimiao, Ms. Wang Lixiu
and Mr. Su Xiufeng was a key management of YTO Express.
Accordingly, the aforementioned Directors were materially
interested in the Acquisition and had abstained from voting
on the respective resolutions passed at the Board meeting for
approving the Acquisition and the SPA. Save for the Directors
mentioned above, none of the other Directors was or was
deemed to have a material interest in the Acquisition.

As at the date of the SPA, the Vendor was a wholly-owned
subsidiary of YTO Express, which is a controlling Shareholder.
Accordingly, the Vendor was a connected person of the
Company and the Acquisition constituted a connected
transaction of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules. As the highest of the applicable percentage ratios in
respect of the Acquisition is higher than 5% but below 25%,
and the total consideration is less than HK$10,000,000, the
Acquisition is subject to announcement requirement but
exempt from circular and independent shareholders’ approval
requirements under Chapter 14A.76(2) of the Listing Rules.

For details of the Acquisition, please refer to the Company’s
announcements dated 19 July 2024 and 20 August 2024.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the FY2024, the Group has conducted the following
continuing connected transactions which were required to be
disclosed pursuant to Appendix D2 to the Listing Rules:

Expired Master Service Agreement with YTO
Express

On 5 November 2021, the Company has entered into an
agreement (the "Expired Master Service Agreement”) with
YTO Express, pursuant to which (i) the Company have
appointed YTO Express Members as the Group's agents for
the rest of the world; and (ii) YTO Express have appointed the
Group as YTO Express Members' agents for the rest of the
world, for the provision of international express and parcel
services and/or air and ocean freight services for the term
commencing from 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2024
unless terminated earlier by 30 days’ written notice by either

party.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

Expired Master Service Agreement with YTO
Express (continued)

Throughout the FY2024, YTO Express is a company controlled
as to over 30% by Yuantong Jiaolong, which in turn is owned
as to 51% by Mr. Yu Huijiao (a non-executive Director and a
controlling Shareholder) and 49% by his spouse. Accordingly,
YTO Express is a connected person of the Company under
Rule 14A.07 of the Listing Rules.

The annual caps of the transactions under the Expired Master
Service Agreement include (i) international express and parcel
services and air and ocean freight services fees to be paid
by the Group to YTO Express Members of HK$183.7 million,
HK$1,062.6 million and HK$1,552.0 million, for each of the
three years ended 31 December 2024, respectively; and (ii)
international express and parcel services and air and ocean
freight services income to be received by the Group from YTO
Express Members of HK$510.2 million, HK$1,040.3 million
and HK$1,097.2 million, for each of the three years ended 31
December 2024, respectively.

For the FY2024, (i) international express and parcel services
and air and/or ocean freight services fees paid by the Group
to YTO Express Members under the Expired Master Service
Agreement was approximately HK$280.2 million; and (ii)
international express and parcel services and air and/or ocean
freight services income received by the Group from YTO
Express Members under the Expired Master Service Agreement
was approximately HK$470.7 million.

Please refer to the Company’s announcements dated 5
November 2021 and 29 September 2022 and the circulars
dated 8 December 2021 and 2 November 2022 for further
details of the Expired Master Service Agreement.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

Expired Master Charter Agreement with the Cargo
Members

On 5 November 2021, the Company (for itself and on behalf
of other members of the Group) entered into an agreement
(the "Expired Master Charter Agreement”) with the Cargo
Members, pursuant to which the Cargo Members will provide
air freight chartering services to the Group to and from
countries and regions around the world for the transportation
of air cargoes for a term commencing from 1 January 2022
to 31 December 2024 unless terminated earlier by 60 days’
written notice by either party.

Throughout the FY2024, each of the Cargo Members was a
wholly owned subsidiary of YTO Express, which was controlled
as to over 30% by Yuantong Jiaolong, which in turn is owned
as to 51% by Mr. Yu Huijiao (a non-executive Director and a
substantial Shareholder) and 49% by his spouse. Accordingly.
YTO Cargo is a connected person of the Company under Rule
14A.07 of the Listing Rules.

The annual cap of the transaction amounts under the Expired
Master Charter Agreement to be paid and/or reimbursed by
the Group to the Cargo Members was HK$1,995.4 million for
FY2024, including (i) the charter fee and other charter related
fees (including but not limited to fuel surcharge and deicing
fee) for each of the countries and regions around the world;
and (ii) all expenses related to cargo terminal operations at
departure and destination airport (which may be payable by
YTO Cargo to the relevant cargo terminal on behalf of the
Group) and handling fees in respect of the Cargo Terminal
Expenses.

For the FY2024, the transaction amounts paid and/or
reimbursed by the Group to the Cargo Members under the
Expired Master Charter Agreement was approximately HK$2.9
million.

Please refer to the Company’s announcement dated
5 November 2021 and circular dated 8 December 2021 for
further details of the Expired Master Charter Agreement.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

Master Service Agreement with YTO Express

On 31 October 2024, the Company (for itself and on behalf of
other members of the Group) has entered into an agreement
(the "Master Service Agreement”) with YTO Express (for itself
and on behalf of other YTO Express Members), pursuant to
which (i) the Company will appoint YTO Express Members
as the Group's agents; and (ii) YTO Express will appoint the
Group as YTO Express Members' agents, for the provision
of international express and parcel services and/or air and
ocean freight services for a term from 1 January 2025 to 31
December 2027 unless terminated earlier by 30 days’ written
notice by either party.

During the period from 31 October 2024 to 31 December
2024, YTO Express was a company controlled as to over 30%
by Yuantong Jiaolong, which in turn is owned as to 51% by
Mr. Yu Huijiao (a non-executive Director and a controlling
Shareholder) and 49% by his spouse. Accordingly, YTO
Express is a connected person of the Company under Rule
14A.07 of the Listing Rules.

The annual caps of the transactions under the Master Service
Agreement include (i) international express and parcel
services and air and ocean freight services fees to be paid
by the Group to YTO Express Members of HK$417.9 million,
HK$468.1 million and HK$551.2 million, for each of the
three years ending 31 December 2027, respectively; and (ii)
international express and parcel services and air and ocean
freight services income to be received by the Group from
YTO Express Members of HK$487.5 million, HK$24.2 million
and HK$29.2 million, for each of the three years ending 31
December 2027, respectively.

Please refer to the Company's announcement dated 31
October 2024 and the circular dated 6 December 2024 for
further details of the Master Service Agreement.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

Master Charter Agreement with YTO Express

On 31 October 2024, the Company (for itself and on behalf
of other members of the Group) entered into an agreement
(the "Master Charter Agreement”) with YTO Express (for
itself and on behalf of other YTO Express Members), pursuant
to which members of the Group will appoint YTO Express
Members for the provision of air freight chartering services
to and from countries and regions around the world for the
transportation of air cargoes for a term commencing from 1
January 2025 to 31 December 2027.

During the period from 31 October 2024 to 31 December
2024, YTO Express was a company controlled as to over 30%
by Yuantong lJiaolong, which in turn is owned as to 51% by
Mr. Yu Huijiao (a non-executive Director and a controlling
Shareholder) and 49% by his spouse. Accordingly, YTO
Express is a connected person of the Company under Rule
14A.07 of the Listing Rules.

The annual caps of the transaction amounts under the
Master Charter Agreement to be paid and/or reimbursed by
the Group to YTO Express Members are HK$102.1 million,
HK$222.3 million and HK$316.2 million, for each of the three
years ending 31 December 2027, respectively, including (i)
the charter fee and other charter related fees (including but
not limited to fuel surcharge and deicing fee) for each of the
countries and regions around the world; and (ii) all expenses
related to cargo terminal operations (“Cargo Terminal
Expenses”) at departure and destination airport (which include
those paid by the YTO Express Members to the relevant cargo
terminal on behalf of the Group) and handling fees in respect
of the Cargo Terminal Expenses to be paid and/or reimbursed
by the Group to the relevant YTO Express Members.

Please refer to the Company's announcement dated 31
October 2024 and the circular dated 6 December 2024 for
further details of the Master Charter Agreement.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

Master IT Services Agreement with YTO Express

On 31 October 2024, the Company (for itself and on behalf
of other members of the Group) entered into an agreement
(the “Master IT Services Agreement”) with YTO Express
(for itself and on behalf of other YTO Express Members),
pursuant to which members of the Group will appoint YTO
Express Members for the provision of software design,
development and maintenance services in relation to, inter
alias, profit management, market analysis, system architecture
and application design and development for a term from 1
January 2025 to 31 December 2027.

During the period from 31 October 2024 to 31 December
2024, YTO Express was a company controlled as to over 30%
by Yuantong lJiaolong, which in turn is owned as to 51% by
Mr. Yu Huijiao (a non-executive Director and a controlling
Shareholder) and 49% by his spouse. Accordingly, YTO
Express is a connected person of the Company under Rule
14A.07 of the Listing Rules.

The annual caps of the transactions under the Master IT
Services Agreement include software design, development
and maintenance services fees to be paid by the Group to
YTO Express Members of HK$9.6 million, HK$6.4 million
and HK$7.0 million, for each of the three years ending 31
December 2027, respectively.

Please refer to the Company's announcement dated 31
October 2024 for further details of the Master IT Services
Agreement.

OT Thailand Contractual Arrangements and OT
Vietnam Contractual Arrangements

During the FY2024, the OT Thailand Contractual
Arrangements and the OT Vietnam Contractual Arrangements
(as defined below) constitute non-exempted continuing
connected transactions of the Company under the Listing
Rules.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

OT Thailand Contractual Arrangements and OT
Vietnam Contractual Arrangements (continued)

OT Thailand Contractual Arrangements

For reasons as disclosed in the section headed "History,
Reorganisation and Corporate Structure — OT Thailand
Contractual Arrangements” in the Prospectus, OT BVI
entered into the following agreements (the “OT Thailand
Contractual Arrangements”) with Miss Ruchirek Pipatsriswat
("Miss Ruchirek”) on 25 October 2013, who is a substantial
shareholder holding 33.5% of shareholding interest in
On-Time Worldwide Logistics Limited (“OT Thailand”):

(1

54

Loan assignment entered into between OT HK as
assignor, OT BVI as assignee and Miss Ruchirek as
borrower, whereby, the non-interest bearing loan for
an aggregate principal amount of THB3,350,000 then
owed by Miss Ruchirek to OT HK, was assigned to OT
BVI and the loan shall be repayable on demand by OT
BVI. The loan is conditional and secured by the pledge
of shares in OT Thailand from time to time held by
Miss Ruchirek under the share pledge agreement, and
the arrangements under the proxy and the letter of
undertakings.

Share pledge agreement entered into between OT BVI
as lender and Miss Ruchirek as borrower, whereby,
Miss Ruchirek has pledged in favour of OT BVI, among
others, her 33.5% of the total shareholding interest
of OT Thailand, and all further shares and securities
deriving from such pledged shares, or otherwise
acquired and held by Miss Ruchirek from time to time.

Letter of undertaking by Miss Ruchirek to OT BVI
and OT Thailand, whereby, among others, she has
irrevocably assigned and directed all dividends and
distributions declared, paid and payable by OT Thailand
and all distributions of assets and capital made and to
be made by OT Thailand in relation to the shares of OT
Thailand from time to time held by her to OT BVI (or
such person as from time to time designated by it).

Proxy by Miss Ruchirek to OT Thailand, whereby, Miss
Ruchirek has irrevocably appointed OT BVI or any
person nominated by it to act as Miss Ruchirek’s proxy
to attend, act and vote in respect of the shares in OT
Thailand in her name and on her behalf at any general
meeting of shareholders of OT Thailand.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

OT Thailand Contractual Arrangements and OT
Vietnam Contractual Arrangements (continued)

OT Thailand Contractual Arrangements (continued)

OT Thailand contributed to about 1.1% of the Group's total
revenue for the FY2024 (FY2023: 1.0%). Through the OT
Thailand Contractual Arrangements, the financial results of
OT Thailand were consolidated into the Group’s financial
statements as if it was the Company’s subsidiary and, as a
result, the Group bears 100.0% of the economic risks and
losses of OT Thailand.

HK$18.0 million dividend was declared by OT Thailand to its
shareholders for the FY2024.

The OT Thailand Contractual Arrangements mentioned above
were unwinded on 15 August 2024.

OT Vietnam Contractual Arrangements

For reasons as disclosed in the section headed "History,
Reorganisation and Corporate Structure — OT Vietnam
Contractual Arrangements” in the Prospectus, OT HK entered
into the following agreements (the “OT Vietnam Contractual
Arrangements”) with Dynamic Freight Co., Ltd. (“Vietnam
Owner”) on 6 November 2013, which is a substantial
shareholder holding 49% of the total charter capital of On
Time Worldwide Logistics (Vietnam) Co., Ltd. (“OT Vietnam”):

(1) Loan agreement entered into between OT HK as the
lender and Vietnam Owner as the borrower, whereby,
OT HK advanced to Vietnam Owner the interest bearing
loan for a principal amount of US$4,900 and the loan
shall be repayable on 22 December 2025 (or such later
date as mutually agreed between the parties). The
loan is conditional and secured by the mortgage of the
charter capital in OT Vietnam from time to time owned
by Vietnam Owner under the charter capital mortgage
agreement, and the arrangements under the proxy and
the letter of undertaking.

(2) Charter capital mortgage agreement entered into
between OT HK as lender and Vietnam Owner as
borrower, whereby, the Vietnam Owner has mortgaged
in favour of OT HK, among others, all its 49% in the
total charter capital of OT Vietnam, and all further
charter capital and securities deriving from such
mortgaged capital, or otherwise acquired and held by
Vietnam Owner from time to time (whether by way of
acquisition from the other shareholder(s) of OT Vietnam
or by further contribution to the charter capital of OT
Vietnam).
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

OT Thailand Contractual Arrangements and OT
Vietnam Contractual Arrangements (continued)

OT Vietnam Contractual Arrangements (continued)

(3) Letter of undertaking by Vietnam Owner to OT HK,
whereby, among others, it has irrevocably assigned and
directed all dividends and distributions declared, paid
and payable by OT Vietnam and all distributions of
assets and capital made and to be made by OT Vietnam
in relation to the shares of OT Vietnam from time to
time held by it to OT HK (or such person as from time
to time designated by it).

(4) Proxy dated 6 November 2013 by Vietnam Owner to
OT Vietnam, whereby, Vietnam Owner has irrevocably
appointed OT HK to nominate any person(s) designated
by OT HK to act as the authorised representative(s) to
participate in the board of directors of OT Vietnam
and to act and exercise, on behalf of Vietham Owner,
all its power in respect of all the charter capital of OT
Vietnam registered in its name.

OT Vietnam contributed to about 2.1% of the Group’s
total revenue for the FY2024 (FY2023: 1.5%). Through the
operation of the OT Vietnam Contractual Arrangement,
the financial results of OT Vietnam were consolidated into
the Group’s financial statements as if it was the Company's
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary and, as a result, the Group
bears 100% of the economic risks and losses of OT Vietnam.

No dividend was made by OT Vietnam to its shareholders for
the FY2024.

For risks associated with the OT Thailand Contractual
Arrangements and the OT Vietnam Contractual Arrangements,
please refer to the section headed “Risk Factors — Risks
relating to OT Thailand Contractual Arrangements and OT
Vietnam Contractual Arrangements” in the Prospectus for
details. To mitigate such risks associated, the Group intends
to unwind the OT Thailand Contractual Arrangements and
OT Vietnam Contractual Arrangements as soon as possible
if and when the relevant laws in the respective jurisdictions
allow the Group to operate in such jurisdictions without such
arrangements.
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(continued)

OT Thailand Contractual Arrangements and OT
Vietnam Contractual Arrangements (continued)

OT Vietnam Contractual Arrangements (continued)

The purpose of the OT Thailand Contractual Arrangements and
the OT Vietnam Contractual Arrangements is to provide the
Group with effective control over the financial and operational
policies of OT Thailand and OT Vietnam, to obtain the economic
benefits from OT Thailand and OT Vietnam and acquire the
equity interests in OT Thailand and OT Vietnam as and when
permitted under the applicable laws in Thailand or Vietnam and
to allow the Company to consolidate the financial results of OT
Thailand and OT Vietnam into the Group’s financial statements
as if they were the Group’s subsidiaries, and the economic
benefit of their business flows to the Group.

Confirmation of auditor of the Company

KPMG, the Company’s auditor, was engaged to report on
the Group's continuing connected transactions in accordance
with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements
3000 (Revised), "Assurance Engagements Other Than
Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and
with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on
Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. KPMG has issued its unqualified letter
containing their findings and conclusions in respect of the
Master Service Agreement, the Master Charter Agreement,
the OT Thailand Contractual Arrangements and the OT
Vietnam Contractual Arrangements in respect of the FY2024
in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.

KPMG also confirmed that, for FY2024, nothing has come to
their attention that cause them to believe that (i) the above
continuing connected transactions have not been approved
by the Board; (ii) the above continuing connected transactions
were not, in all material respects, conducted in accordance
with the pricing policies of Group; (iii) the above continuing
connected transactions were not entered into, in all material
respects, in accordance with the relevant agreements
governing the transactions; (iv) the above continuing
connected transactions have exceeded the respective annual
caps (if applicable); and (v) in respect of the arrangements
under the OT Thailand Contractual Arrangements and the OT
Vietnam Contractual Arrangements, there were any dividends
or other distributions made by OT Thailand or OT Vietnam
to their registered owners which are otherwise subsequently
assigned or transferred to the Group.
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(continued)

Confirmation of independent non-executive
Directors

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
Expired Master Service Agreement and Expired Master Charter
Agreement mentioned above in respect of the FY2024 and
confirmed that these transactions have been entered into:

(1) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the
Group;

(2)  on normal commercial terms or better; and

(3) according to the relevant agreements governing such
transactions on terms that are fair and reasonable and
in the interests of the Shareholders as a whole.

Furthermore, the independent non-executive Directors have
confirmed that, in FY2024, the arrangements under the OT
Thailand Contractual Arrangements (up to the date of its
unwinding) and the OT Vietnam Contractual Arrangements
have remained unchanged and consistent with the
disclosure as set out in the Prospectus; and both of the said
arrangements are fair and reasonable so far as the Group
is concerned and in the interests of the Shareholders as a
whole.

Confirmation on pricing policies

The Company confirms that the Group has followed the
relevant pricing policies and guidelines (where applicable)
as set out in the respective agreements governing the
abovementioned continuing connected transactions when
determining the prices and terms of the transactions
conducted during the FY2024.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the Prospectus, the sections headed
“Connected Transaction” and “Continuing connected
transactions” above and the transactions as disclosed in
note 43 to the consolidated financial statements, during
FY2024, there was no contract of significance (i) between the
Company or its subsidiaries and the controlling Shareholder
or any of its subsidiaries; or (ii) for the provision of services
to the Company or any of its subsidiaries by a controlling
Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the Prospectus and the section headed
“Continuing Connected Transactions’, no contracts of
significance concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or subsisted during the FY2024.
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DIRECTORS’
BUSINESS

INTERESTS IN A COMPETING

During 1 January 2024 and up to the date of this report,
the following Directors were considered to have an interest
in a business which competes or is likely to compete, either
directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group (the
"Competing Business”), as defined in the Listing Rules, details
of which are set out below:

Name of Directors ~ Mr. Yu Huijiao, non-executive Director of the
Company, who is also a substantial shareholder
of YTO Express, the chairman of the board of
YTO Express, and the general manager and
chairman of the board of Yuantong Jiaolong
(controlling shareholder of YTO Express)

Mr. Pan Shuimiao, non-executive Director
of the Company, who is also a director
and the president of YTO Express

Ms. Wang Lixiu, non-executive Director
of the Company, who is also the vice
president of YTO Express

Nature and scope of YTO Express Group is principally engaged in
the Competing  the warehousing and distribution of goods as a

Business leader in the express and courier service market

in the PRC
Size of the YTO Express is a company listed on the
Competing Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code:
Business 600233), with market capitalization amounted

to RMB47.4 billion as at 31 December 2024

Management of
the Competing
Business

The positions held by the Directors in YTO

Express are as follows:

Mr. Yu Huijiao, chairman of the board of YTO
Express and chairman of the board and
general manager of Yuantong Jiaolong

Mr. Pan Shuimiao, director and president

Ms. Wang Lixiu, vice president

For the FY2024, since YTO Express Group’s main focus was
warehousing and distribution of goods through express and
courier service in the PRC and apart from intra-group freight
forwarding services among YTO Express Group members,
YTO Express Group did not carry out any freight forwarding
services to and/or business with external parties, the Directors
considered that, the Group is capable of carrying on its
business independently of, and at arm’s length, from the
Competing Business and the operations of YTO Express Group
did not affect the Group's business.
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TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any tax relief or exemption
available to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the
Shares during the FY2024.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group had no material contingent liabilities as at 31
December 2024. As at the date of this annual report,
the Group was not involved in any current material legal
proceeding, nor was the Group aware of any pending or
potential material legal proceedings involving the Group. If
the Group was involved in such material legal proceedings,
the Group would record any loss contingencies when, based
on information then available, it is probable that a loss has
been incurred and the amount of the loss can be reasonably
estimated.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the FY2024, less than 30% of the Group’s cost of
sales were attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers in
aggregate.

The percentage of revenue of the Group attributable to the
largest customer and the five largest customers in aggregate
are 38.8% and 46.6% respectively. Hangzhou Cainiao Supply
Chain Management Co., Limited, being one of the Group’s
five largest customers, is a subsidiary of Alibaba Group
Holding Limited, which is indirectly interested in more than
5% of the issued Shares.

YTO Cargo Shanghai, being one of the Group’s five largest
customers, is a wholly owned subsidiary of YTO Express. YTO
Express is a controlling Shareholder interested in more than
5% of the issued Shares, and also a company controlled as to
over 30% by Yuantong lJiaolong, which in turn is a company
owned as to 51% by Mr. Yu Huijiao (a non-executive Director
and a controlling Shareholder) and 49% by his spouse.

Save as disclosed, none of the Directors, their close associates
or any shareholder (which to the knowledge of the Directors
own more than 5% of the number of Company’s issued
shares) had an interest in the five major customers of the
Group. Close associate refers to the close associate of the
Director not the Shareholder.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EERE

REMUNERATION POLICY

Remuneration policy of the Group is reviewed regularly and
the remuneration policy and remuneration packages of the
executive Directors and members of the senior management
of the Group are recommended by the Remuneration
Committee to the Board.

Our remuneration policy is based on the principles of
aligning remuneration outcomes with our strategy, and
encouraging strong delivery by employees by differentiating
top performers. The employees’ total compensation consists
of fixed pay including salary and allowances and discretionary
variable remuneration. It is determined on the basis of their
role and responsibilities, performance and contributions and
market dynamics.

The Group has adopted a Share Option Scheme and Share
Award Plan for the purpose of providing incentives and
rewards to eligible participants, including the employees of
the Group, for their contribution to the Group.

The remuneration of Directors is determined with reference
to their expertise and experience in the industry, the
performance and profitability of the Group as well as
remuneration benchmarks from other local and international
companies and prevailing market conditions.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Articles, or the laws of Cayman Islands, which would oblige
the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to its
existing Shareholders.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the current information that is publicly available
to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors,
as at the date of this annual report, the Company has
maintained the prescribed minimum public float under the
Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EERE

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed
from Friday, 6 June 2025 to Wednesday, 11 June 2025 (both
days inclusive) for the purpose of determining the right to
attend and vote at the forthcoming AGM. In order to be
qualified for attending and voting at the forthcoming AGM,
unregistered holders of Shares should ensure that all share
transfer documents accompanied by the corresponding share
certificates are lodged with the Company’s branch share
registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor
Services Limited at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt
Road, Hong Kong, for registration not later than 4:30 p.m.
(Hong Kong time) on Thursday, 5 June 2025.

CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS

During the FY2024, the Group made charitable contributions
in an aggregate amount of about HK$0 (FY2023: about
HK$11,000).

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There were no events causing material impact on the Group
from 31 December 2024, being the end of the Report Period
to the date of this report.

AUDITOR

A resolution will be submitted to the forthcoming AGM to
re-appoint Messrs. KPMG as auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Mr. Yu Huijiao
Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 March 2025

EERERDBFER

AR BE_E_AF<ANBESHR)
E_E-_AFNA+T—HEHD) (B8iEE

%ﬁﬁﬁ)ﬁﬁ*?ﬂ#ﬁﬂxﬁﬂ}f?ﬁuﬂi g LAE

FHFEERREFASEINE LIEE

R BERTE ﬁ’fﬂu”jl*ﬁg):ﬁﬁﬁiﬂi
REITRELERE RELZ2RODEEFA
VEBRKR - _ﬁﬁ/\ﬂﬂﬁ(i,ﬁﬂm)‘l—
FUR=1+2 (FEKME)AEMERS A
FXHEREEMNREXRERAQRTINED

DB PEERD Eﬁ% EFETBERAA
Wit AEBEREBIHRERSRBPLOI17E
B BPERFE-

HEBR

R-ZF_NFHRFEAR NEECFH
RERBFABNOBET (T _=ZFUWHHF
JZ: ’]11000/%71:)

BEMBREER
R-ZB-m&E+=-A=+—B NHEH
MAEAREAS HESEYAEES
REXFE-

3 4]

ARF R A EERFAF AR LR R
HRE LNERISHASAMEEMALR
B B -

RREFS

-
e R EE

HEE —FT-_AF=A=-t+tH

62 YTO International Express and Supply Chain Technology Limited Annual Report 2024



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERERAMSE

CORPORATE CULTURE

The Group recognizes that a good corporate culture is necessary
to support and complement its corporate governance efforts and
corporate image, and has gradually developed a corporate culture
emphasising on lawful, ethical and responsible business conduct
over the years, which has been reflected in the overall operations
and management of the Group, in order to facilitate the long-term
sustainability of the Group. In order to promote open communication
in the workplace and high ethical standards among staff and
management of the Group, the Group has established anti-corruption
and whistle-blowing policies, to provide guidance on identifying
relevant breaches or improper behaviour, reporting procedures and
consequences of violations of such policies. For further details on the
Group's anti-corruption and whistle-blowing policies, please see the
environmental, social and governance report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company recognises the importance of good corporate
governance in maintaining its corporate transparency and
accountability. The Board sets appropriate policies and
implements corporate governance practices appropriate to the
conduct and growth of the Group's business.

The Company has applied the principles as set out in the CG
Code contained in Part 2 to Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules
on the Stock Exchange during the FY2024. The Board considers
that during the FY2024, the Company has complied with
the code provisions set out in the CG Code. Key corporate
governance principles and practices of the Company are
summarized below.

A. The Board
A1. Responsibilities and Delegation

The Board is responsible for the leadership, control
and management of the Company and oversees
the Group’s business, strategic decision and
performances in the attainment of the objective
of ensuring effective functioning and growth of
the Group and enhancing value to investors. All
the Directors carry out their duties in good faith,
take decisions objectively and act in the interests
of the Company and its Shareholders at all times.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TEERRS

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board (continued)

Responsibilities and Delegation (continued)

The Board reserves for its decision on all major
matters of the Company, including the approval
and monitoring of all policy matters, overall
strategies and budgets, internal control and
risk management systems, material transactions
(in particular those that may involve conflict of
interests), financial information, appointment
of Directors and other significant financial and
operational matters.

All Directors have timely access to all relevant
information as well as the advice and services of
the Company Secretary and senior management,
with a view to ensuring compliance with
Board procedures and all applicable laws and
regulations. Any Director may request for
independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances at the Company's expense, upon
reasonable request made to the Board.

The Executive Committee and senior management
of the Company are delegated the authority
and responsibilities by the Board for the day-to-
day management and operation of the Group.
The delegated functions and work tasks are
periodically reviewed. Approval has to be obtained
from the Board prior to any significant transactions
entered into by the above-mentioned officers.
The Board has the full support of the senior
management to discharge its responsibilities.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TEEBEE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

(continued)

A. The Board (continued)
A2. Board Composition

The composition of the Board for the FY2024 and
up to the date of this report is as follows:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Yang Xinwei

Mr. Zhou Jian (Chief Executive Officer)
(Appointed on
28 March 2024)
(Note 1)

Mr. Sun Jian (Resigned  (Former Chief Executive Officer)
on 28 March 2024)
(Note 1)

Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Yu Huijiao (Chairman of the Boarad,
chairman of the
Nomination Committee
and member of the
Remuneration Committee)

Mr. Pan Shuimiao (Chairman of the Corporate
Governance Committee)

Ms. Wang Lixiu (Member of the Audit
Committee)

Mr. Su Xiufeng
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TEER®RE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

(continued)

A. The Board (continued)
A2. Board Composition (continued)

Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. Li Donghui (Member of the Audit
Committee, the
Nomination Committee
and the Corporate
Governance Committee)

(Chairman of the
Remuneration Committee
and Member of the
Nomination Committee
and the Corporate
Governance Committee)

(Chairman of the Audit
Committee and Member of
the Remuneration
Committee and the
Corporate Governance
Committee)

Mr. Xu Junmin

Mr. Chung Kwok
Mo John

Note 1: With effect from 28 March 2024, Mr. Sun Jian
resigned as an executive Director and the chief
executive officer of the Company and Mr. Zhou
Jian was appointed as an executive Director and

the chief executive officer of the Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TEERRS

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

(continued)

A. The Board (continued)
A2. Board Composition (continued)

Throughout the FY2024, the Board has met the
requirements of the Listing Rules 3.10 and 3.10A
of having a minimum of three independent non-
executive directors (representing at least one-
third of the Board) with at least one of them
possessing appropriate professional qualifications
and accounting and related financial management
expertise.

The members of the Board have skills and
experience appropriate for the business
requirements and objectives of the Group. Each
executive Director is responsible for different
business and functional division of the Group
in accordance with his/her expertise. The
independent non-executive Directors bring
different business and financial expertise,
experiences and independent judgement to
the Board and they are invited to serve on the
Board committees of the Company. Through
participation in Board meetings, taking the lead
in managing issues involving potential conflicts of
interests, the independent non-executive Directors
have made contributions to the effective direction
of the Company and provided adequate checks
and balances to safeguard the interests of both
the Group and the Shareholders.

Mr. Yang Xinwei is the cousin-in-law of the spouse
of Mr. Yu Huijiao, the chairman of the Board, a
non-executive Director and controlling shareholder
of the Company. Save as disclosed, to the best
knowledge of the Directors, the Directors and
senior management have no financial, business,
family or other material/relevant relationships with
one another.

The Company has received written annual
confirmation from each independent non-
executive Director of his independence pursuant
to the requirements of the Listing Rules. The
Company considers all independent non-executive
Directors to be independent in light of the
independence guidelines set out in the Listing
Rules.
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ERERWSE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

(continued)

A.

68

The Board (continued)

A2.

A3.

A4.

Board Composition (continued)

The Company has adopted the mechanism to
ensure independent views and input are available
to the Board, with the following key features:
(i) the Nomination Committee is established
with clear terms of reference to identify suitable
candidates, including independent non-executive
directors, for appointment as Directors; (ii) the
Nomination Committee will assess annually
the independence of all independent non-
executive directors; and (iii) the Directors
are entitled to seek, at the Group's expense,
independent professional advice reasonably
necessary for discharging their duties as
Directors. During the FY2024, the Board has
reviewed the implementation and effectiveness
of the mechanism and considered that the
implementation of the mechanism was effective.

Chairman and Chief Executive

The roles and duties of the chairman of the
Board and the chief executive officer are held by
separate persons in order to ensure a balance
of power and authority and preserve a balanced
judgement of views. Currently, Mr. Yu Huijiao
takes up the role of chairman of the Board and
is providing leadership and being responsible
for the effective functioning and leadership of
the Board, whereas Mr. Zhou Jian is the chief
executive officer of the Company, focusing on
the Company’s business development and daily
management and operations generally.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

All Directors are appointed for a specific term. Mr.
Yang Xinwei has been appointed as an executive
Director for an initial fixed term of one year
commencing from 9 December 2022 renewable
automatically for successive terms of one year
each commencing from the day immediately
after the expiry of the then current term of
appointment, until terminated as contemplated
pursuant to the termination provisions therein,
or by not less than three months’ written notice
served by either party expiring at the end of
the initial term of his appointment or any time
thereafter.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERERWSE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

(continued)

A. The Board (continued)

A4. Appointment and Re-election of Directors
(continued)

Mr. Zhou Jian has been appointed as an executive
Director for an initial fixed term of one year
commencing from 28 March 2024, renewable
automatically for successive terms of one year each
commencing from the day immediately after the
expiry of the then current term of appointment,
until terminated as contemplated pursuant to
the termination provisions therein, or by not less
than three months’ written notice served by either
party expiring at the end of the initial term of his
appointment or any time thereafter. Mr. Zhou has
obtained the legal advice referred to in Rule 3.09D
of the Listing Rules on 21 March 2024 and he has
confirmed that he understood his obligations as a
director of a listed issuer.

Mr. Pan Shuimiao has been appointed as a non-
executive Director by the Company for an initial
term of one year commencing from 21 January
2020, which shall be renewed and extended
automatically for successive terms of one year
each upon expiry of the then current term, until
terminated by not less than three month’s written
notice served by either the Company or Mr. Pan
Shuimiao expiring at the end of the initial term or
thereafter.

Ms. Wang Lixiu has been appointed as a non-
executive Director by the Company for an initial
term of one year commencing from 31 March
2023, which shall be renewed and extended
automatically for successive terms of one year
each upon expiry of the then current term, until
terminated by not less than three month’s written
notice served by either the Company or Ms. Wang
Lixiu expiring at the end of the initial term of her
appointment or any time thereafter.

Mr. Su Xiufeng has been appointed as a non-
executive Director by the Company for an initial
term of one year commencing from 21 August
2023, which shall be renewed and extended
automatically for successive terms of one year
each upon expiry of the then current term, until
terminated by not less than three month’s written
notice served by either the Company or Mr. Su
Xiufeng expiring at the end of the initial term of
his appointment or any time thereafter.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

A.

70

(continued)

The Board (continued)

A4.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors
(continued)

Mr. Yu Huijiao, a non-executive Director, and
each of the independent non-executive Directors
are appointed for a term of one year and shall
be automatically renewable for successive terms
of one year each commencing from the next
day after the expiry of the current term unless
terminated by not less than three months’ notice
in writing served by either the Company or the
Director.

According to the Articles, one-third of the
Directors for the time being (if their number is not
a multiple of three, the number nearest to but
not less than one-third) shall retire from office by
rotation at each AGM provided that every Director
shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least
once every three years. The retiring Directors
should be eligible for re-election at the relevant
AGM. In addition, any new Director appointed
by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold
office only until the first general meeting of
Shareholders after his/her appointment, whereas
any Director appointed by the Board as an
addition to the existing Board shall hold office
only until the next following AGM. The Director
appointed by the Board as aforesaid shall be
eligible for re-election at the relevant general
meeting.

At the forthcoming AGM, Mr. Yu Huijiao, Ms.
Wang Lixiu and Mr. Li Donghui shall retire by
rotation pursuant to the Articles. All of the
above retiring Directors, being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-election at the AGM. The Board
and the Nomination Committee recommended
their re-appointment. The circular of the
Company, published on the same day as this
report, contains detailed information of the said
Directors as required by the Listing Rules.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TEERRS

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

(continued)

A. The Board (continued)

A5. Training and Continuing Development for
Directors

Each newly appointed Director shall receive
formal induction on the first occasion of his/her
appointment, so as to ensure that he/she has
appropriate understanding of the business and
operations of the Group and that he/she is fully
aware of his/her responsibilities and obligations
under the Listing Rules and relevant regulatory
requirements.

Under the CG Code, Directors should participate
in appropriate continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and
relevant. The Directors are continually updated
with legal and regulatory developments, and
the business and market changes to facilitate
the discharge of their responsibilities. Trainings
and professional development for Directors are
arranged whenever necessary. In addition, reading
material on new or changes to salient laws and
regulations applicable to the Group are provided
to Directors from time to time for their studying
and reference.

The Directors are required to submit to the
Company details of the training they received
in each financial year for the Company's
maintenance of proper training records of the
Directors. During the FY2024, all the Directors
were provided with reading materials or regulatory
update on corporate governance matters and
responsibilities of the Directors for their reference
and perusal. Besides, Mr. Yang Xinwei, Mr. Zhou
Jian, Mr. Yu Huijiao, Mr. Pan Shuimiao, Ms. Wang
Lixiu, Mr. Su Xiufeng, Mr. Li Donghui, Mr. Xu
Junmin and Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John attended
other seminars and training sessions arranged by
other professional firms/institutions.
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The Board (continued)

A6.

YTO International Express and Supply Chain Technology Limited

Directors’ Attendance Records at Meetings

The attendance records of each Director at the
Board and Board committee meetings and the
general meetings of the Company held during the
FY2024 are set out below:

Name of Director ESpE
Executive Directors: HITEE:

Mr. Yang Xinwei BHERE

Mr. Zhou Jian (Note 1) BREE (Hit1)
Mr. Sun Jian (Note 1) BREE(NHI)
Non-executive Directors: FHTEE:

Mr. Yu Huijiao WERkE

Mr. Pan Shuimiao EKEEE

Ms. Wang Lixiu IBARL

Mr. Su Xiufeng BEBLE
Independent non-executive Directors: BUFHGTEE:
Mr. Li Donghui FRBAE

Mr. Xu Junmin REREE

Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John BEREAE

A. EEg @)

A6. EXEFHFELE

R-Z_NEPRFERN TE
FHEARREESNESS

ZEgEREURRR KRG RLH

oW :

Attendance/Number of Meetings (Note 2)
HEER/ eRRH (Hi2)
Corporate
Governance

Audit Remuneration  Nomination Committee General
Board  Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee tEER Meetings
ES® ENZEE®  FMWZEE ReZEe ZE® BRAE
6/6 - - - - 22
5/5 - - - - 212
n - - = - -
6/6 - 1" 1n - 212
6/6 - - - n 22
6/6 414 - - - 212
6/6 - - - - 20
3/6 24 - 1n n 212
6/6 - n n n 22
6/6 4/4 n - n 212
M1 BT -_MNFE=HA=+/\A

Note 1. With effect from 28 March 2024, Mr. Sun lJian
resigned as an executive Director and Mr. Zhou Jian

Note 2:

was appointed as an executive Director.

Represents the number of meeting of the Board
and Board committees and general meetings held
during FY2024 or, for Directors appointed after 1
January 2024 or resigned during FY2024, during

the tenure of the relevant Director.
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(continued)

A. The Board (continued)

A6. Directors’ Attendance Records at Meetings
(continued)

In addition, the Chairman of the Board held one
meeting with the independent non-executive
Directors without the presence of other Directors
during the FY2024.

A7. Model Code for Securities Transactions

The Company has devised its own code of conduct
regarding Directors’ and employees’ dealings
in the Company’s securities (the "Securities
Dealing Code”) on terms no less exacting than
the required standard as set out in the Model
Code. Each Director has been given a copy of the
Securities Dealing Code. Specific enquiry has been
made of all Directors and they have confirmed
their compliance with the Securities Dealing Code
throughout the FY2024. In addition, no incident
of non-compliance of the Securities Dealing Code
by the employees was noted by the Company.

In case when the Company is aware of any
restricted period for dealings in the Company’s
securities, the Company will notify its Directors
and relevant employees in advance.

A8. Changes in Information of Directors

Set out below is the change in the Director’s
information, which is required to be disclosed
pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules:

Mr. Li Donghui, an independent non-executive
Director, was appointed as chair of board of Lotus
Technology Inc. (stock code: LOT), a company
listed on the NASDAQ, in February 2024. Mr. Li
Donghui was also appointed as director of SEEKR
Intelligent Technology Holding Ltd. (stock code:
ZK), a company listed on the New York Stock
Exchange, in May 2024.
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The Board (continued)

Board and Workforce Diversity

The Company aims to maintain an appropriate
balance of diversity perspectives of the Board that
are relevant to the Company's business growth.
The Nomination Committee will review annually
the structure, size and composition of the Board
and where appropriate, make recommendations
on changes to the Board to complement the
Company's corporate strategy. For details of the
measurable objectives for implementing the board
diversity policy, please refer to section B3 of the
Corporate Governance Report.

The Company also considers the gender diversity
of the Board. During FY2024 and as at the date
of this report, the Board consists of one female
Director out of nine Directors. The Company
considers gender diversity has been achieved and
the Company will review from time to time the
board gender diversity and potential successors to
the board to maintain gender diversity.

Regarding the gender ratio in the workforce, as
at the 31 December 2024, the male to female
ratio of the senior management and general
workforce of the Group are 1.9 times and 0.9
times respectively. The Company considers that
the workforce gender diversity across senior
management and general workforce is achieved.

To achieve a balance of gender composition of
human resources at all levels, gender diversity
targets are set across the workforce. Based on the
existing composition of workforce, the Directors
consider that the workforce has more or less
gender parity and so no target is set in respect of
gender ratio. The Board will periodically monitor
the gender composition of the workforce and set
targets if and as needed.

During the FY2024, the Board and the Nomination
Committee have reviewed the implementation
and effectiveness of the board diversity policy and
considered that the implementation of the policy
was effective.
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(continued)

B. Board Committees

The Board has established five Board committees,
namely, the Executive Committee, the Remuneration
Committee, the Nomination Committee, the Audit
Committee and the Corporate Governance Committee,
for overseeing particular aspects of the Company's
affairs. All Board committees have been established
with defined written terms of reference which are
available on the Stock Exchange’s website and the
Company's website (except for the terms of reference
of the Executive Committee which are available to
Shareholders upon request). All the Board committees
should report to the Board on their decisions or
recommendations made.

All Board committees are provided with sufficient
resources to discharge their duties and, upon reasonable
request, are able to seek independent professional advice
in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expenses.

B1. Executive Committee

The Executive Committee comprises all the executive
Directors and operates as a general management
committee under the direct authority of the Board
to increase the efficiency for the business decisions.
It monitors the execution of the Company's
strategic plans and operations of all business units
of the Group and discusses and makes decisions on
matters relating to the management and day-to-day
operations of the Company.

B2. Remuneration Committee

The members of the Remuneration Committee
during the FY2024 were as follows:

Non-executive Director:
Mr. Yu Huijiao
Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. Xu Junmin (Chairman)
Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John

Throughout the FY2024, the Company has
met the Listing Rule requirements of having
the majority of the Remuneration Committee
members being independent non-executive
Directors as well as having the Committee chaired
by an independent non-executive Director.
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Board Committees (continued)

B2.

Remuneration Committee (continued)

The principal responsibilities of the Remuneration
Committee include making recommendations to
the Board on the Company’s remuneration policy
and structure and the remuneration packages of
Directors and members of senior management.
The Remuneration Committee is also responsible
for establishing transparent procedures for
developing such remuneration policy and structure
to ensure that no Director or any of his/her
associates will participate in deciding his/her
own remuneration, which remuneration will be
determined by the Board with reference to the
performance of the individual and the Company
as well as market practice and conditions.

During the FY2024, the Remuneration Committee
has held one meeting (the attendance records of
each Committee member are set out in section A6
above). The Remuneration Committee performed
the following major works during the year:

- General review and discussion of the
remuneration packages, policy and structure
of the directors and the senior staff of the
Group, and recommendation to the Board;

- Consideration of and recommendation to
the Board on the remuneration packages
for the directors and members of senior
management; and

- Consideration and review of the service
contracts of executive Director(s).

Pursuant to the CG Code, the annual remuneration
of the members of the senior management by band
for the FY2024 is set out below:

Remuneration band (HK$)

1,500,001-2,000,000
500,000-1,000,000

Details of the remuneration of each Director
for the FY2024 are set out in note 12 to the
consolidated financial statements contained in this
report.
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(continued)

B. Board Committees (continued) B. EE8ZEE (#)

B3. Nomination Committee B3. REZEE
The members of the Nomination Committee RZEBE_NEFHRFERAZE
during the FY2024 were as follows: B®CKENT:
Non-executive Director: HHITESE:
Mr. Yu Huijiao (Chairman) MR E (EE)
Independent non-executive Directors: BUHBITESE:
Mr. Li Donghui FRELA
Mr. Xu Junmin mERSESE

The principal responsibilities of the Nomination
Committee are to review the structure, size and
composition (including the skills, knowledge,
experience and diversity perspectives) of the Board
at least annually and make recommendations
on any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Company's corporate strategy;
identify qualified and suitable individuals to
become Board members and select or make
recommendations to the Board on the selection
of individuals nominated for directorships;
assess the independence of independent non-
executive Directors; and make recommendations
to the Board on relevant matters relating to the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors and
succession planning for Directors, in particular the
chairman of the Board and the chief executive of
the Company.
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Board Committees (continued)

Nomination Committee (continued)

In selecting candidates for directorship of the
Company, the Nomination Committee may make
reference to certain criteria such as the Company's
needs, the diversity on the Board, the integrity,
experience, skills and professional knowledge of
the candidate and the amount of time and effort
that the candidate will devote to discharge his/her
duties and responsibilities. External recruitment
professionals might be engaged to carry out
selection process when necessary.

For the nomination process of new Director, the
Nomination Committee and/or the Board should,
upon receipt of the proposal on appointment of
new Director and the biographical information
(or relevant details) of the candidate, evaluate
such candidate based on the criteria as set out
above to determine whether such candidate is
qualified for directorship. If the process yields one
or more desirable candidates, the Nomination
Committee and/or the Board should rank them
by order of preference based on the needs of the
Company and reference check of each candidate
(where applicable). The Nomination Committee
should then recommend to the Board to appoint
the appropriate candidate for directorship, as
applicable. For any person that is nominated by
a Shareholder for election as a Director at the
general meeting of the Company, the Nomination
Committee and/or the Board should evaluate
such candidate based on the criteria as set out
above to determine whether such candidate is
qualified for directorship. Where appropriate, the
Nomination Committee and/or the Board should
make recommendation to Shareholders in respect
of the proposed election of Director at the general
meeting.
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B. Board Committees (continued)
B3. Nomination Committee (continued)

The Company has adopted the director
nomination policy. Such policy, devising the
criteria and process of selection and performance
evaluation, provides guidance to the Board on
nomination and appointment of Directors. The
Board believes that the defined selection process
is good for corporate governance in ensuring
the Board continuity and appropriate leadership
at Board level, and enhancing better Board
effectiveness and diversity as well as in compliance
with the applicable rules and regulations.

The Company also recognises and embraces the
benefit of having a diverse Board to enhance
the quality of its performance. To comply
with Rule 13.92 of the Listing Rules, a board
diversity policy was adopted by the Company,
pursuant to which the Nomination Committee is
responsible for monitoring the implementation
of the board diversity policy and assessing the
Board composition under diversified perspectives
(including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, or professional
experience). The Nomination Committee shall
report its findings and make recommendations to
the Board, if any. Such policy and objectives will
be reviewed from time to time to ensure their
appropriateness in determining the optimum
composition of the Board.
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Board Committees (continued)

Nomination Committee (continued)

During the FY2024, the Nomination Committee
has held one meeting (the attendance records of
each Committee member are set out in section
A6 above). The Nomination Committee performed
the following major works during the year:

- Review of the existing structure, size and
composition of the Board to ensure that
it has a balance of expertise, skills and
experience appropriate to the requirements
for the business of the Group;

- Consideration of and recommendation to
the Board on the re-election of the retiring
Directors at the Company's AGM held on
7 June 2024;

- Assessment of the independence of the three
independent non-executive Directors; and

- Consideration of and recommendation to
the Board on the appointment of directors.

The measurable objectives for implementing the
board diversity policy are as follows:

- At least 40% of the Board members to be
aged below 55;

- At least 50% of the Board members to hold
a master’s degree;

- At least 40% of the Board members to
possess professional qualifications in legal or
accounting field; and

- At least 20% of the Board members to have
business experience in freight forwarding
and international express industry.

The Nomination Committee considered that an
appropriate balance of diversity perspectives of
the Board is maintained during the FY2024. Based
on the review by the Nomination Committee,
the Nomination Committee considers that the
Company has achieved the measurable objectives
set for implementing the board diversity policy for
the FY2024.
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(continued)

B. Board Committees (continued) B. EE8ZE8g #®)

B4. Audit Committee B4. ERZES
The members of the Audit Committee during the RZE_NEFPRFEEZRZ
FY2024 were as follows: BEg@sKENT:
Non-executive Director: HHITEE:
Ms. Wang Lixiu TEFT
Independent non-executive Directors: BUHBITESE:
Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John (Chairman) ERREE (LE)
Mr. Li Donghui TRBSLAE

The Company has met the Listing Rules
requirements regarding the composition of the
Audit Committee throughout the FY2024. The
majority of the Audit Committee members are
independent non-executive directors. Mr. Chung
Kwok Mo John possesses the appropriate
professional qualification, and accounting and
financial management expertise as required under
Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules. None of the
members of the Audit Committee is a former
partner of the Company’s existing external auditor.

The main duties of the Audit Committee are
reviewing the financial information and reports
of the Group and considering any significant or
unusual items raised by the financial officers of
the Group or external auditor before submission
to the Board; reviewing the relationship with and
the terms of appointment of the external auditor
and making the relevant recommendation to the
Board; and reviewing the Company’s financial
reporting system, internal control and risk
management systems and the effectiveness of the
internal audit function.
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Board Committees (continued)

B4.

Audit Committee (continued)

During the FY2024, the Audit Committee has
held four meetings (the attendance records of
each Committee member are set out in section
A6 above). The Audit Committee performed the
following major works during the year:

Reviewed the external auditor’s
independence and objectivity and made
recommendation of the re-appointment of
the external auditor;

Reviewed and discussed the annual financial
statements, results announcement and
annual report for the FY2023, the relevant
audit findings of the Company’s external
auditor;

Reviewed and discussed the interim financial
statements, results announcement and
interim report for the six months ended
30 June 2024 and the relevant review
findings of the Company’s external auditor;

Reviewed the reports prepared by an
external adviser on the Group's internal
control matters, and reviewed the existing
risk management and internal control
systems of the Group, and review the
effectiveness of the internal audit function
of the Company;

Reviewed the Group’s continuing connected
transactions for the FY2023 as well as the
FY2024 and the revision of annual caps of
the continuing connected transactions;

Reviewed certain material litigation and
possible related claims against the Group;

Reviewed and approved the audit plan of
the Company’s external auditor, including
the nature and scope of audit, remuneration
and terms of engagement in respect of the
audit on the financial statements for the
FY2024; and
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

(continued)

B. Board Committees (continued)
B4. Audit Committee (continued)

- Reviewed the arrangements for employees
of the Group to raise concerns about
possible improprieties in the Group's
financial reporting, internal control or other
matters and the investigation process on the
reported cases.

The external auditor has attended the above four
meetings and discussed with the Audit Committee
members on issues arising from the audit and
financial reporting matters. Besides, there is no
disagreement between the Board and the Audit
Committee regarding the appointment of external
auditor.

B5. Corporate Governance Committee
The members of the Corporate Governance
Committee during the FY2024 and up to the date
of this report were as follows:
Non-executive Director:
Mr. Pan Shuimiao (Chairman)
Independent non-executive Directors:
Mr. Li Donghui

Mr. Xu Junmin
Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John
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Board Committees (continued)

Corporate Governance Committee (continued)

The Corporate Governance Committee is
responsible for performing the corporate
governance functions of the Group, including
developing and reviewing the Company’s policies
and practices on corporate governance and
making recommendations to the Board; reviewing
and monitoring the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management; reviewing and monitoring the
Company’s policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements;
developing, reviewing and monitoring the
Securities Dealing Code; and reviewing the
Company’'s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.
The Corporate Governance Committee is also
responsible for reviewing the Group's process of
disclosure, including assessing and verifying the
accuracy and materiality of inside information and
determining the form and content of any required
disclosure; and reviewing and monitoring the
effectiveness of the shareholders’ communication
policy adopted by the Company.

During the FY2024, the Corporate Governance
Committee has held one meeting (the attendance
records of each Committee member are set out
in section A6 above). The Corporate Governance
Committee performed the following major works
during the year:

- Reviewed the policies and practices on
corporate governance of the Group and
make recommendations to the Board;

- Reviewed the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and
senior management;

- Reviewed the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements;

- Reviewed the compliance of the Securities
Dealing Code and CG Code;
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(continued)

B. Board Committees (continued)
B5. Corporate Governance Committee (continued)

- Reviewed the Company’s compliance
with the CG Code and disclosure in the
Corporate Governance Report;

- Reviewed the Group’s process of disclosure,
including assessing and verifying the
accuracy and materiality of inside
information and determined the form and
content of certain required disclosures; and

- Reviewed the effectiveness of the
shareholders’ communication policy.

C. Directors’ Responsibilities for Financial
Reporting in Respect of the Financial
Statements

The Directors have acknowledged their responsibilities
for preparing the financial statements of the Company
for the FY2024.

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced,
clear and understandable assessment of annual and
interim reports, inside information announcements
and other disclosures required under the Listing Rules
and other regulatory requirements. Management has
provided such explanation and information to the Board
as necessary to enable the Board to make an informed
assessment of the financial information and position of
the Group put forward to the Board for approval.

There are no material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.
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(continued)

Risk Management and Internal Controls

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the
risk management including the risks related to
environmental, social and governance and internal
control systems of the Group and reviewing their
effectiveness. Such systems are designed to manage
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable
and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating
and determining the nature and extent of the risks it
is willing to take in achieving the Company’s strategic
objectives, and establishing and maintaining appropriate
and effective risk management and internal control
systems. The Audit Committee assists the Board in
leading management and overseeing their design,
implementation and monitoring of the risk management
and internal control systems. The Board reviews the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems as well as the internal audit function
of the Company on an annual basis through the Audit
Committee.

The Company has developed and adopted various risk
management procedures and guidelines with defined
authority for implementation by key business processes
and office functions, including air freight, sea freight,
trade lane, corporate management, human resources,
finance and information technology. Self-evaluation
has been conducted annually to confirm that control
policies are properly complied with by each department.
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(continued)

D.

Risk Management and Internal Controls
(continued)

All departments conducted internal control assessment
regularly to identify risks that potentially impact the
business of the Group and various aspects including
key operational and financial processes, regulatory
compliance and information security. Management,
in coordination with department heads, assesses
the likelihood of risk occurrence, provides treatment
plans, and monitors the risk management progress.
Management has reported to the Board and the Audit
Committee on the effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control systems for the FY2024.

The Company has engaged an external professional firm
for providing the internal audit function and performing
independent review of the adequacy and effectiveness
of the risk management and internal control systems.
The internal audit function examined key issues in
relation to the accounting practices and all material
controls and provided its findings and recommendations
for improvement to the Audit Committee.

During the FY2024, the Board, as supported by
the Audit Committee as well as the report from
management and the internal audit findings, reviewed
the effectiveness of the Group's risk management
and internal control systems, including the financial,
operational and compliance controls, and considered
that such systems are effective and adequate.

The Company has developed a policy for handling and
dissemination of inside information. The policy provides
a general guide to the Company’s Directors, officers and
relevant employees in handling confidential information
and monitoring information disclosure.
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AAAAA AL (continued)
E. Company Secretary E. ARKRE
The Company Secretary is Ms. Wong Pui Wah, who REIWMEREMEL T KHFEE LT
fulfils the qualification requirements laid down in the RAFFECERRATE - EWMELLH
Listing Rules. Biographical details of Ms. Wong Pui BEFBEHA LIRS [EERaRE

BEEZEE] —f-R_F_WFH
HEEN EXLtBELETPR+ER
NEREEERE -

Wah are set out in the section headed “Biographies
of Directors and Senior Management” of this report.
During the FY2024, Ms. Wong has taken not less than
15 hours of relevant professional training.

F.  External Auditor and Auditor’s Remuneration F.  /NEZEE K& HET B S
The statement of the external auditor of the Company RABINEZBMEFEEREAR

88

about their reporting responsibilities on the Company’s TN FHBRFEMBRED EE$&$
financial statements for the FY2024 is set out in the FRBAFNRARRE B ZHAM RS
section headed “Independent Auditor's Report” in this —ffie

report.

The fees paid/payable to KPMG, the Company’s auditor, TN FUHRFENZERE &
and to auditors other than KPMG for the Company’s 3FV§&HE%WEH/J§H$’&E$§§K
subsidiaries, in respect of audit services and non-audit B2 5 B2 5T B SB35 AT LA R AR AT
services for the FY2024 are analysed below: NGNS A TS Y YN

ZEEMOMEBRSWWOT

Type of services provided

Fees paid/payable

by the external auditor MEREMREMNEREERER g2 ENER
HK$
/%TE
Audit services — audit fee to KPMG ZERE - — S _NFHRFE 2,922,000
for the Company and subsidiaries $’A7&Fﬁ)§@7§ﬁ%
for the FY2024 E5HSHMEBZ
¢?§K§)ﬂ
Audit services — audit fee to auditors ZERE-—_E_NFHRFE
other than KPMG for the Company’s IN/N 75ﬁ§ AEMAT
subsidiaries for the FY2024 4 2 5 Bl & 51 b = 55 B LA S Y
ZERN 2 8 E A 2,290,000
Non-audit services by KPMG ENHSHMERAH
IEZERT
— review of interim results for the six —-EMEE T _NF XA
months ended 30 June 2024 =tHREANBEAZFHEEE 600,000
— review of continuing connected — BTNV HRFEEZ
transactions for the FY2024 BEBER S 44,000
— review of annual results announcement BT _NMFYRFEZ
for the FY2024 FEEHELE 24,000
- Tax compliance service of the Company I WN 7&%?%%\5’%&12
and certain Hong Kong incorporated B ARz e RRS
subsidiaries 67,000
TOTAL: et 5,947,000
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(continued)

G.

Communications with Shareholders and
Investors

The Company believes that effective communication with
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations
and investors’ understanding of the Group’s business
performance and strategies. The Group also recognizes
the importance of transparent and timely disclosure of
corporate information, which enables Shareholders and
investors to make the best investment decision.

The Company has in place a shareholders’ communication
policy to ensure that Shareholders’ views and concerns
are appropriately addressed. The policy is regularly
reviewed to ensure its effectiveness. During the FY2024,
the Company has reviewed and considered that the
shareholders’ communication policy was effectively
implemented with the below measures in place.

The Company maintains a website at www.ytoglobal.com
as a communication platform with its Shareholders
and investors, where information and updates on the
Company’s business developments and operations
and other information are available for public access.
Shareholders and investors of the Company may send
written enquiries or requests to the Company via the
following contact details:

Attention: Company Secretary

Address: Suite 2208, 22nd Floor, Office Tower, Skyline
Tower, 39 Wang Kwong Road, Kowloon Bay,
Hong Kong

Email: tiffany.wong@ytoglobal.com

Tel: (852) 2998 4626

Fax: (852) 3586 7681

Enquiries and requests will be dealt with by the
Company in an informative and timely manner.

Besides, Shareholders’ meetings provide an opportunity
for communication between the Board and the
Shareholders. Board members and senior staff will be
available to answer questions raised by the Shareholders
at general meetings of the Company. In addition, the
Company will invite representatives of the auditor to
attend its AGM to answer Shareholders’ questions
about the conduct of the audit, the preparation and
content of the auditor’s report, the accounting policies
and auditor independence, if any.
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(continued)

H.

90

Shareholders’ Rights

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, a
separate resolution is proposed for each substantially
separate issue at general meetings, including the
election of individual Directors. All resolutions put
forward at Shareholders’ meetings will be voted by
poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results
will be posted on the websites of the Company
“www.ytoglobal.com” and the Stock Exchange after
each Shareholders’ meeting.

Pursuant to the Articles, any one or more Shareholders
holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less
than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company shall have the right, by written requisition
to the Board or the Company Secretary, to require an
extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board
for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two
months after the deposit of such requisition. If within
21 days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to
convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as
a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed
to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

There is no provision allowing Shareholders to move
new resolutions at general meetings under the Cayman
Islands Companies Act (As Revised) or the Articles.
Shareholders who wish to move a resolution may
request the Company to convene a general meeting
following the procedures set out in the preceding
paragraph.

With respect to the Shareholders’ right in proposing
persons for election as Directors, please refer to the
procedures available on the website of the Company.

Constitutional Documents

During the FY2024, there was no significant change in
the Articles.

An up-to-date version of the Articles is available on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
Shareholders may refer to the Articles for further details
of the rights of Shareholders.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BYRBEHE

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF YTO INTERNATIONAL
EXPRESS AND SUPPLY CHAIN TECHNOLOGY LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
YTO International Express and Supply Chain Technology
Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the Group”)
set out on pages 97 to 248, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024, the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended
and notes, comprising material accounting policy information
and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2024 and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the applicable
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs"”) issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the
“Code”) together with any ethical requirements that are
relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements
in the Cayman Islands, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BYREBMEBE

KEY AUDIT MATTER BRETEE

A= Key audit matter is the matter that, in our professional BB EEABRBEARZBAITHEESH
judgement, was of most significance in our audit of the # RAHAEBEEVBEHRENEN &
consolidated financial statements of the current period. This A E B E1E - 3% E 18 PN A& A 17 E 5t
matter was addressed in the context of our audit of the EEGAVKEFEALHAERBEE M
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming AEKERITIEHZEHEIEHBINER -
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on this matter.

Expected credit loss allowance for trade receivables

EZRURENAMCEBERE

Refer to note 38(b)(ii) to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on pages 132 to 138.
B2HEA BRI T80 R E132E138E MG TR -

The Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in our
audit
BRESSR AREMTHETNNEEERER

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s gross trade receivables ~ Our audit procedures to assess the expected
amounted to HK$755 million, against which an allowance for  credit loss allowance for trade receivables
expected credit losses of HK$21 million was recorded. included the following:
RZZBE-_NE+_A=+—H EBEEENEZFREKFEL FIRBMTHESEERENAHEEBR
BAR7ISSERBERT BEFLBEBEEEEREEHEIBEE T RBHETHGZEAEFEEUATRE:

The Group measures expected credit loss of trade receivables e obtaining an understanding of and

at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit loss, by assessing the design, implementation
applying estimated loss rates on trade receivables grouped and operating effectiveness of key
according to their shared credit risk characteristics. internal controls relating to credit
Management assesses the expected credit loss allowance control and estimation of expected
for possible credit-impaired trade receivables individually credit losses;

based on observable data about occurrence of events that e TRIFHEEREEEHIEHEEES
have a detrimental impact on the estimated cash flows from 8 i 5T 46 8 0 8 41 P9 R AE I A9 2R 5T
the trade receivables. For the remaining balance of trade Eie REBREFRL

receivables, the expected credit loss allowance is assessed
collectively using the provision matrix. The estimated loss

evaluating the Group’s policy for

rates in the provision matrix take into account the ageing estimating the credit loss allowance
of trade receivable balances, the repayment history of the with reference to the requirements of
Group's customers, current market conditions, and forward- the prevailing accounting standard;
looking information. . 2RBRBTEFENER FTh &
EEERAEARBARGCERARTEETHEANEFE K EfGtAREEEERENRE:

REMEBEX REXHANEEEREASTNSRETE
BHRKFENEREEER - EEERBEEHUBRLENES

assessing whether items in the trade

ERRIBEAMEENGFRERERETINTZENETHHIER receivables ageing reports were
DB EFTHLRATENEERENE S ERRIENTE categorised in the appropriate ageing
HEEEERE RESRKFENR AT S HHEE brackets by testing the completeness
BEBEETFRREEEES —FH -BEEENEFHEEXRE and accuracy of the ageing reports
REZERWFBEHNER E£EFEPNERTHE B generated by the financial reporting
TR MATEMEE R - system; and

o EBASAMBWME R EKMNRE R
FH TR R ERETFEE S UK
EERKRBEANER TR REERE
BRIFADEE R
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BYBREBMEBE

KEY AUDIT MATTER (continued)
The Key Audit Matter
BRENSEE

We identified the expected credit loss allowance for trade
receivables as a key audit matter because determining the
level of the loss allowance requires the exercise of significant
management judgement and estimation which are inherently
subjective.
AZHMITHESRWRBENFEREEERRERR RER
FiRR DHRETERBEKRKTIEREBEELERA
b bt MABHE R ABELBEH-

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
AUDITOR’S REPORT THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises all the information included
in the annual report, other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

HREETEE (®

How the matter was addressed in our
audit
AZEMTHETNNEEEREE

° assessing the appropriateness
of management’s estimates of
expected credit loss by examining the
information used by management
to derive such estimates, including
identification of possible credit
impaired trade receivables,
segmentation of trade receivables,
testing the accuracy of the historical
credit loss data, and evaluating
whether the historical loss rates have
reflected current economic conditions
and forward-looking information.

e RBBATELE i@FﬁHﬁAﬁ/ﬁX*ﬁﬁﬁfﬁuﬁ’J
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WE ZEKGRIE EHRKFES -
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5% KR IE M B R ART (S B 12 JE TE A7
EEEEMGLNES -

BRER & B 7% 3] 3R I A% BT 3] & B oh
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mﬁ

°E{ EMBEREF
BRBRER R
EPE’H? E |ERRI -

AZBEMTHEAMBERROBREL T
EHEMEN ARBBTIIEZEEM
ERBREMPANRELR

RAZBEMTHEA M B RRNEFT K
REMTHNEELANEMLER  ELtiB
B ZEHEMEBENAGAMBERRAAN
RHMTERABRETAATNBERES
FREEAABRBUFTESARERRL -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BYREBMEBE

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and
the applicable disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the
Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative
but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our
opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is
not guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

EERAAMBRRARENEL

EXERABERBEBEEGHAMASHEMNE
7B B 7% 3R 2 A R B R AR #O 8 A B
BRETREEEMATFNEAMBERER
VTHEERSRESAVBEREOFERT
FHEBRRFRERMEMNEKXBRR
MR AREZER -

ERBGEMBRAT EFAENE &
SEFBELENEN Y EERABRTH
REFBELCEZAENTR URERKFE
RERetER KRIEEHEH E5HE
BRYEE LA LR EEMERNER

TR

ERZEEWHEERTEE
MBEREBENEE-

BEREM
RYMR BT RSV B RRARRE
HEE

AZBMITHERDHRAMBHERER
ER T FEANRFRERMEANEXN
HRRAMGSAERE THABEAR
BEITERMZBEN RS - ARG IER
AT ((EREE)ME KRt ZIN AN E 5
BEHMEN BRMAR TR ARENRNE Y
EMEMATAREIAEZERE-

/

BERE RS KFHNRE BETRERER
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BYBREBMEBE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

2
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BYREBMEBE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

o Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within
the group as a basis for forming an opinion on the
group financial statements. We are responsible for the
direction, supervision and review of the audit work
performed for purposes of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence and communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be
thought to bear on our independence and, where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Chan Ting Yuen.

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

27 March 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
mAER&ER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE—E-_NE+=—HA=+—HIFE

2024 2023
CENF
Notes HK$'000 HK$000
liksa FE T FET
Revenue W # 5 6 5,322,482 5,291,610
Cost of sales k=D (4,952,012) (4,810,282)
Gross profit EH 370,470 481,328
Other income E b A 7 21,646 27,998
Administrative expenses THAX (383,641) (376,054)
Net impairment loss recognised FEHEEEEELT
under expected credit loss model MR R EE R EE 11 (12,877) (3,036)
Impairment loss on interests in REE - 5 ERERN
associates and joint ventures B E R 20, 21 (24,521) (13,000)
Other gains or losses B 5 EiE 8 6,736 3,756
Share of results of associates JE(RE S N R EE 181 (75)
Share of results of joint ventures BIREELEERE (13,480) 2,574
Finance costs B & KA 9 (2,434) (2,039)
(Loss)/profit before taxation BrEA (BE) 5 A (37,920) 121,452
Income tax expense Frig®if X 10 (4,045) (24,984)
(Loss)/profit for the year FRN(EER),JHF 11 (41,965) 96,468
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to: AT ZHEEMGFR
(B18), & H
Equity shareholders of the Company PN g (40,774) 96,775
Non-controlling interests FEPE R A (1,191) (307)
(41,965) 96,468
(Losses)/earnings per share B (BE) /&8F GBW)
(Hong Kong cents)
Basic YN 14 (9.75) 23.15
Diluted #a 14 (9.75) 23.15

The notes on pages 106 to 248 form part of these H106E248E MM B ZZEHTHIHRED
financial statements. Details of dividends payable to equity —38% %8 B F N T &G B AR RS
shareholders of the Company attributable to the profit for the A% B A% B0 sF IS S A M 5E13 o

year are set out in note 13.
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REBREREMEZERER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

BE—E-_NE+=—A=+—HIFE

(Loss)/profit for the year

Other comprehensive income
for the year (after tax and
reclassification adjustments)

Items that will not be reclassified to
profit or loss

Deficit on revaluation of leasehold
land and buildings

Deferred tax arising on revaluation of
leasehold land and buildings

Items that may be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss

Share of other comprehensive income of
associates

Share of other comprehensive income of
joint ventures

Exchange difference arising from
foreign operations

Other comprehensive income for the year
Total comprehensive income for the year

Attributable to:

Equity shareholders of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Total comprehensive income for the year

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

2024 2023
CEDNF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
liksa FE T FET
FR(EE),/ &5 (41,965) 96,468
FREA @RS
(KB HER
EFOEARER)
BT EFHEE
FEas a8 5
HMELH RIEFEHEA
(1,429) (65)
HETHEEFEHES
RO IE JE 7 18 35 463 140
Bt EH DEE
B a9 E 5
LB E AR 2wk
227 157
EhHEECEHMEE
g (866) 1,099
EINETEEEMIE X Z5
(10,100) (5,462)
FREM2E S (11,705) (4,131)
FREEUA LT (53,670) 92,337
LA & B RS
ZIN/NEIE Fai 23 (52,467) 92,922
I8 A% #E 25 (1,203) (585)
FAREE RSB (53,670) 92,337

The notes on pages 106 to 248 form part of these financial

statements.

FI106E248E MM T B ZEMBEHREN
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e AR &

AT 31 DECEMBER 2024
RZZE-_WFE+-_A=+—H

Non-current assets
Investment properties
Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets

Goodwill

Intangible assets

Interests in associates
Interests in joint ventures
Deferred tax assets

Current assets

Trade receivables

Other receivables, deposits and
prepayments

Contract assets

Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

Amount due from an immediate
holding company

Amounts due from joint ventures

Amounts due from associates

Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries

Prepaid tax

Pledged bank deposits

A fixed bank deposit with
maturity more than 3 months

Bank balances and cash

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables

Contract liabilities

Amounts due to associates

Amounts due to an immediate
holding company

Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries

Tax liabilities

Lease liabilities

Bank borrowings

Net current assets

Total assets less current liabilities

S ABEE
1RE %

OEN LR
PRBAE

e

7

N U EOL £
REBLEHEN
T BB A

RBEE

B 5 I WA

H YRR e K
BN FROR

BHEE
BAFEFABREN
TREE

e B A IR A R SRR

U & & b F IR

JiE W Bt 22 2 m] SRR

JE U [R] 5 B4 /8§ 2 =] 3R IR
BN A

SRR ITER
A BE =AM
EHIRITE R
RITEHRR R

hREBAE

B 5 & H Al A BOR
BHAaRE

AR NI/ O]

e B EER AR RIA

J& 1<) 8] X BfY /B8 2 ) 5R0R
PIEAE

HERE
RITEK

RBEEFE
EERERABRE

Notes

it

15
16
17
18
19
20

35(b)

22

22
23

24

25
27
26
25
35(a)
28

28
29

30
31
26

26
25
35(a)
32
33

2023

HK$ 000

FET

4,417 5,051
27,751 29.775
34,673 38415
451 500
14,449 7606
2.134 3437
- 37,156
20,900 18.150
104,775 140,090
734,159 1,044,855
90,860 90,465
1,904 2,583
- 745

- 125

- 18,922
11,035 14,651
124,311 10.697
11,899 14,923
14,683 21,644
- 3,855
672,246  823.029
1,661,097 2,046,494
388,734 712,968
13,836 10,995
- 4799

79 4,799
84,295 117.419
6,025 4,908
18,662 20661
- 794
511,631 872,544
1,149,466 1,173,950
1,254,241 1,314,040
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RE BRI R

AT 31 DECEMBER 2024
R-E_NF+=—_A=+—H

Non-current liabilities
Other payables

Lease liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities

Capital and reserves
Share capital
Reserves

Total equity attributable to
equity shareholders of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Total equity

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors

on 27 March 2025:

Mr. Yang Xinwei
BHERE
DIRECTOR

BF

The notes on pages 106 to 248 form part of these financial

statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AR B M R R R G M i

#
FEIE R R

HE ot AR HR

2023
Notes HKS$ 000
ogza FAE T
30 7,358 1,697
32 18,635 19,335
35(b) 2,212 4628
28,205 25,660

1,226,036 1,288,380

36 42,019 42,019
1,179,091 1,240,255
1,221,110 1,282,274

4,926 6.106

1,226,036 1,288,380

BER-_E-_RAE=A-_t+HHRESHE
M RETED

Mr. Zhou Jian
BExEE
DIRECTOR

EZE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
RERERSBX

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BHE T -_WFE+-_A=+—HItFE

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
RNARBRFEL

Share
awards  Translation
reserve reserve

RHZR Ex

Property Non-
revaluation  Retained controlling
Teserve profits interests Total

nEEf ¥ FER

Share
capital

Share  Treasury
premium stock

Capital
reserve

Special
reserve

Statutory

reserve Sub-total

i K% &% ;
R & R L i i B f i Nt i it

HKS 000

T&r

HKS'000
77

HKS'000
T

HKS'000 HKS000  HKS'000

PO
# 7 LHr
TET 7

HKS'000

HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000

A7 7

At 1 January 2024 RZF-RF-A-A 4,019 441,102 (6,563) 2323 (295,411) 7452 (78,925) 1414 12,776 1,150,087 1,282,274 6,106 1,288,380
Loss for the year FRER - - - - - - = = - (a0774)  (40,778) (1,191) (41,965
Deficit on revaluation of leasehold land &+ R BT E (B4

and buildings - - - - - - - - (1,429) - (1,429) - (1,429)
Deferred tax arising on revaluation RETHREFERELN

of leasehold land and buildings EREHE - - - - - - - - 463 - 463 - 463
Share of other comprehensive EEBELAL DR ANA

income of associates - - - - - - 21 - - - 21 - 1
Share of other comprehensive ElEaE0EEpR AUS

income of joint ventures - - - - - - (866) - - - (866) - (866)
Exchange difference arising from BNEBELNESZE

foreign operations - - - - - - (10,088) - - - (10,088) (12) (10,100)
Total comprehensive income FRREKALE

for the year - - - - - - (10,727) - (966) (40,774) (52,467) (1,203) (53,670)
Recognition of equity-settled ENREEE2IRGA

share-based payment (note 42) ERONR(ME0) - - - - - 967 - - - - 967 = 967
Lapse of equity-settled share-based RN RESENRGE

payment EROAR - - - - - (6.127) - - - (6.127) - - -
Dividends paid to shareholders (note 13 FRER RS (#:13) - - - - - - - - - (9,664) (9,664) = (9,664)
Dividends paid to non-controling AEEREREARS

interests - - - - - - - - - - - (3,149) (3,149)
Capital contribution from FEREROTE

non-controlling interests - - - - - - - - - - - 31m 31n
At 31 December 2024 RZF-RE+-A=+-H 4,019 441,102 (6,563) 233 (295,411) 2,29 (89,652) 7414 11810 1,105776 1,221,110 4926 1,226,036
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
REEZEER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BHE-_Z-_ME+_-_A=+—RHILEE

| |
= Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
PPN - ARARERREE
AAAAAAL
SAAAAAA Share Property Non-
Share Share Treasury Capital Spedial awards  Translation  Statutory  revaluation  Retained controlling
capital  premium stock reserve reserve reserve reserve feserve feserve profits — Sub-total interests Total
it EE s B RhER 31 EE NEER RE FER

fx &R ki B G i B B i ) Iy L a3t
HKSO00  HKSUOD  HKSOO0  HKSOD0  HKSOO0  HKSUO0  HKSDO0  HKSUOD  HKSUOD  HKSUD  HKSUOD  HKSUOD  HKSOOO
AT FET FET ®ET FET FET TEr TEr TET TEr TET FET FET

(Note 36a)) (Note 3616)) (Note 36c)
(H360) (Ht36)) (H380)

At 1 January 2023 RZF==%-f-A 42,019 441,102 (6,563) 233 (295411) 9,783 (74,997) 7414 12,700 1,061,526 1,199,897 10514121041
Profit for the year FREH - - - - - - - - - 9,775 9,775 (307) 96,468
Deficit on revaluation of leasehold land &+ R BT E (B4

and buildings - - - - - - - - (65) - (65) - (65)
Deferred tax arising on revaluation EELHREFERELY

of leasehold land and buildings EREHE - - - - - - - - 140 - 140 - 140
Share of other comprehensive EEBERTAB2ARE

income of associates - - - - - - 157 - - - 157 - 157
Share of other comprehensive ElEaE0EEpR AUS

income of joint ventures - - - - - - 1,099 - - - 1,09 - 1,099
Exchange difference arising from BNEBELNESZE

foreign operations - - - - - - (5,184) - - - (5,184) (278) (5,462)
Total comprehensive income FRREKALE

for the year - - - - - - B9 - BT QM (585 92337
Recognition of equity-settled ENREEEZIRGA

share-based payment (note 42) BRI (i) - - - - - 3321 - - - - 330 - 3321
Lapse of equity-settled share-based KL RERENRG A

payment ERaR - - - - - (5,652) - - - 5,652 - - -
Dividends paid to shareholders (note /3 RRRIE[RE (4313 - - - - - - - - - (13866)  (13866) - (13866)
Dividends paid to non-controling AEEREREARS

interests - - - - - - - - - - - (5513) (5513)
Capital contribution from FEREROTE

non-controlling interests - - - - - - - - - - - 1,690 1,690
At 31 December 2023 RZF-=%+-A=t-H 4,019 441,102 (6,563) 2383 (295,411) 7452 (78,925) 7414 12,776 1,150,087 1,282,274 6,106 1288380

The notes on pages 106 to 248 form part of these financial 25106%2488 ] 18 A ;2 & B 15 R KX &
statements. — &5 e
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
RERERER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE—E-_NE+=—HA=+—HIFE

2023
Notes HK$ 000
i aE FET
Operating activities REED
(Loss)/profit before taxation BELAT (E18) %7 (37,920) 121,452
Adjustments for: P
Interest revenue B U A 7 (11,580) (21,506)
Finance costs A& KA 9 2,739 2,039
Share of results of associates FE(RES &N R ¥ E 20 (181) 75
Share of results of joint ventures BIEEEDLEES 21 13,480 (2,574)
Depreciation of property, plant and W -WERERHEITE
equipment 11 6,947 6,627
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEERE 11 26,897 25,753
Amortisation of intangible assets A 11 1,615 1,663
Loss/(gain) on disposal of property, plant  HEWE  BE K ZED
and equipment B8, (W) 8 59 (171)
Gain on early termination of REBELIEHAEADZ
lease contracts U 2 8 (85) (354)
Net impairment loss recognised EHEEEBRERT
under expected credit loss model R EBEFE 11 12,877 3,036
Fair value changes of financial asset BATEFFABRRD
at fair value through profit or loss SRMEEZ ANFEES 8 = (37)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEWE QR A kS 8 (19,393) -
Equity-settled share-based payment IR E 2 AR
REHEE N R 42 967 3,321
Impairment loss on interests in associates  REE -5 EBPER
and joint ventures W EEE 20, 21 24,521 13,000
Fair value changes of investment WEMENFEES

properties 8 508 277

Write back of long outstanding payables — B[O EHIASZMERNZE 7 (1,475) (3)
COVID-19 related rent concessions 2 U ECOVID-19
received HEAESER - (86)
Operating cash flows before movements &8 & & & ) Al Ay 4L &
in working capital Be&nR= 19,976 152,512
Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables Z 5 W ER L
(&) 290,266 (260,410)
Decrease in contract assets EHEERLD 678 26,222
(Increase)/decrease in other receivables, HEf I - Ze Rk
deposits and prepayments B RIE (M), R (1,968) 1,903
Decrease in amounts due from joint ventures & & 4 (> ¥ ZUIE R 2 16,322 5,065
Decrease/(increase) in amounts due JIE i B & N R FRIE R
from associates (#n) 4,198 (2,183)
(Decrease)/increase in trade and B 5 hHEMENFRIE
other payables CRA) /% (309,706) 278,888
Increase in contract liabilities A EELE 2,841 591
(Decrease)/increase in amounts due to JE - Bt 8 N B FR 0B
associates CRA) /% (534) 1,760
Decrease in amounts due to JET R XM B R Rl FE
fellow subsidiaries k> (91,638) (399,253)
Cash used in operations LEFARS (69,565) (194,905)
Income taxes paid B TEH (3,192) (50,975)
Net cash used in operating activities KRETHFERARSTEE (72,757) (245,880)
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
REBRERER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

BE TN+ _-_A=1t—HIFE

2023
AR R AR = _=
I Notes HK$'000
k=3 FETT
Investing activities RETH
Interest received B W F B 11,580 21,506
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEE¥¥ - BE LR 16 (12,234) (4,728)
Purchase of intangible assets BEELEAE 19 (8,808) (4,623)

Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWE BEEEED
plant and equipment Fi {5 kI8 41 514
(Payment for)/proceeds from early RERILEEESD

termination of lease contracts (ﬁﬁ)/”ﬁl | 5RIE (27) 330
Repayment from/(advance to) associates A= /NS]| /
(@ sﬁ%@ ) 3,728 (3,584)
Repayment from/(advance to) joint ventures %ﬁé%Lw\/
(A& ZERERR) 2,600 (563)

Repayment from/(advance to) an immediate

BEEEBRA 75%’1?5’\/

holding company (MEBEEERIFIRR) 304 (106)
Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits RIEEFRITER 10,386 29,190
Placement of pledged bank deposits FEREEMEITER (4,049) (12,325)
Withdrawal of a fixed bank deposit with ~ 12EZ|EI BB E =10 A &

maturity more than 3 months TE BRER 1T 1 3K 3,855 45,591
(Advance to)/repayment from fellow (BREEMBATRZR),

subsidiaries EEPENGIE- (30,279) 43,984
Net proceeds from sale of financial assets &4 @& EF Wi 746 -
Net cash generated (used in)/from REED (FTA) il

investing activities ReFHE (22,157) 115,186
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

RERERER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

BE_T_HNE+_A=1t—HLFE

Financing activities

(Decrease)/increase in bank overdrafts

Advance from intermediate holding
company

(Repayment)/advance from associates

(Repayment)/advance from fellow
subsidiaries

Interests paid

Dividends paid to non-controlling interests

Dividends paid to equity shareholders of
the company

Capital element of lease rentals paid

Capital contribution from
non-controlling interests

Net cash used in financing activities

Net decrease in cash and
cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at
the beginning of the year

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes

Cash and cash equivalents at the end
of the year

Analysis of the balances of cash and
cash equivalents
Bank balances and cash

The notes on pages 106 to 248 form part of these financial

statements.

2023
Notes _;/&600
Jokza FET
BEES
RITHEZ OB,/ 34 (794) 794
HEERARRK
79 -

B %2 N ) %x /ﬂm (8,575) 7,081

%Bﬁ% Al (B8R,

N (1,097) 441
B F B (2,351) (2,039)
B2 Hxﬁé SR SRR (3,149) (5,512)
) 7R 2 A B 5 IR EROR 15 AR B

(9,664) (13,866)
B zEXRIES (24,341) (27,023)
IR EREE
3,172 1,690
METEBFMARSEE (46,720) (38,434)
RERBESESEYRD FE
(141,634) (169,128)
ENRERBESEEY
823,029 998,365
INEEREB B E (9,149) (6,208)
ERBERBESEEY
672,246 823,029
RERBESEBYWEHIN
RITHBR LIRS 672,246 823,029

— 5
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR A B R MY A

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

BE—

106

= O — Al s Sl
GENERAL

YTO International Express and Supply Chain Technology
Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated and
registered as an exempted company with limited liability
under the Companies Law in the Cayman Islands on 6
March 2013 and its shares are listed on the Main Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) since 11 July 2014. The ultimate
holding company of the Company is Shanghai Yuantong
Jiaolong Investment Development (Group) Co., Ltd.,
a company incorporated in the PRC. The intermediate
holding company of the Company is YTO Express
Group Co., Ltd., a joint stock limited liability company
|ncorporated in the PRC with its shares listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange. The immediate holding
company of the Company is YTO Global Holdings
Limited, a limited liability company incorporated in
Hong Kong. The address of the registered office and
the principal place of business of the Company are
Vistra (Cayman) Limited, P.O. Box 31119 Grand Pavilion,
Hibiscus Way, 802 West Bay Road, Grand Cayman,
KY1-1205, Cayman Islands and Suite 2208, 22nd Floor,
Office Tower, Skyline Tower, 39 Wang Kwong Road,
Kowloon Bay, Hong Kong respectively.

The Company acts as an investment holding company.
The principal activities of associates, joint ventures
and subsidiaries are set out in notes 20, 21 and 45
respectively.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollar (“HK$"), which is the same as the
functional currency of the Company.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

(a) Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which
collective term includes all applicable individual
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong
Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs") and
Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"), and
the applicable disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. These financial
statements also comply with the applicable
disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited. Material accounting policies
adopted by the Group are disclosed in note 3.

—REHR
EBREBREREERETER QA
(IRAF)R—_ZE—=F=AXAH

FHRERSREBEAREAMKLEE
AAEREERAG  ERHE
—WELAT—HREBEBAEXSM
ﬁﬁ A ([BERFT))ER EMe AR
N A2 BRI B R R B R AR
42“715.@%%&§¥E(E
B)ERAA - ARR ZHEZERA
A AR I?Hﬁ&iZHﬂ%*ﬁﬁE’&T
Bl@RERNDERAR  HEMHNKE
BBEEHERGFA LM AR ﬂZE&T
fEral BN BEBEMKILIZBERA
EBEBEBEIERBERAF - ARQ TEI’J‘I
=g kEELEEMIHHU S B
&Vistra (Cayman) Limited, P.O. Box
31119 Grand Pavilion, Hibiscus Way,
802 West Bay Road, Grand Cayman,
KY1-1205, Cayman Islands& & B h

BEERYE wﬂriﬁ%% NRHE22

182208=
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BEBMERE LB ([BBTBE
REEA ] ZABeEESE
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R AR %%Eﬁﬁmwﬁ
BERER)RZRE) BE
%@ﬁ%ﬂ&%%“?hwz
BRABRBERTHERE - ZETHER
AMBTEBHARIMAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R & B 3% R Y R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE-F-_N&E+-A=+—RHLFE

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

(a)

(b)

Statement of compliance (continued)

The HKICPA has issued certain amendments to
HKFRSs that are first effective or available for
early adoption for the current accounting period
of the Group. Note 2(c) provides information on
any changes in accounting policies resulting from
initial application of these developments to the
extent that they are relevant to the Group for
the current accounting period reflected in these
financial statements.

Basis of preparation of the financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2024 comprise the Company
and its subsidiaries (together referred to as “the
Group”) and the Group’s interests in associates
and joint ventures.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis except for
investment properties, certain property, plant and
equipment and certain financial instruments that
are measured at fair values or revalued amounts
as explained in the accounting policies set out
below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value
of the consideration given in exchange for goods
and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to
sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants
at the measurement date, regardless of whether
that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair
value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes
into account the characteristics of the asset or
liability if market participants would take those
characteristics into account when pricing the asset
or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for
measurement and/or disclosure purposes in the
consolidated financial statements is determined
on such a basis, except for share-based payment
transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS
2 Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that
are accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 16
and measurements that have some similarities
to fair value but are not fair value, such as net
realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in
use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE-FT-_HNE+-A=+—RHLFE

2.

108

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial

statements (continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset
takes into account a market participant’s ability to
generate economic benefits by using the asset in
its highest and best use or by selling it to another
market participant that would use the asset in its
highest and best use.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair
value measurements are categorised into Level
1, 2 or 3 based on degree to which the inputs to
the fair value measurements are observable and
the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described
as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted)
in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities that the entity can access at the
measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted
prices included within Level 1, that are
observable for the asset or liability, either
directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for
the asset or liability.

The preparation of financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires management
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the application of policies and
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income
and expenses. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience
and various other factors that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of
which form the basis of making the judgements
about carrying values of assets and liabilities
that are not readily apparent from other sources.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period
in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects
both current and future periods.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE-F-_N&E+-A=+—RHLFE

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial

(c)

statements (continued)

Judgements made by management in the
application of HKFRSs that have significant effect
on the financial statements and major sources of
estimation uncertainty are discussed in note 4.

Changes in accounting policies

The Group has applied the following new and
amended HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA to these
financial statements for the current accounting
period:

. Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of
financial statements — Classification of
liabilities as current or non-current (“2020
amendments”) and amendments to HKAS 1,
Presentation of financial statements — Non-
current liabilities with covenants (“2022
amendments”)

° Amendments to HKFRS 16, Leases — Lease
liability in a sale and leaseback

° Amendments to HKAS 7, Statement of cash
flows and HKFRS 7, Financial instruments:
Disclosures — Supplier finance arrangements

None of these developments have had a material
effect on how the Group’s results and financial
position for the current or prior periods have been
prepared or presented.

The Group has not applied any new standard
or interpretation that is not yet effective for the
current accounting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRMWE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

Bz

3.

110

—EWFE+ZA=1T—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control
is achieved when the Company:

° has power over the investee;

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its
returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Company loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically,
income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or
disposed of during the year are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss from the date
the Company gains control until the date when the
Company ceases to control the subsidiary.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE-F-_N&E+-A=+—RHLFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of
the Company and to the non-controlling interest. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to
the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full
on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which
represent present ownership interests entitling their
holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEe

Bt 7% AR MY A

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE-FT-_HNE+-A=+—RHLFE

112

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in
existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group's interests in subsidiaries that
do not result in the Group losing control over the
subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions.
The carrying amounts of the Group’s relevant
components of equity and the non-controlling interests
are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative
interests in the subsidiaries, including re-attribution
of relevant reserves between the Group and the non-
controlling interests according to the Group's and the
non-controlling interests’ proportionate interests. Any
difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted, and the fair value of
the consideration paid or received is recognised directly
in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the
assets and liabilities of that subsidiary and non-
controlling interests (if any) are derecognised. A gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated
as the difference between (i) the aggregate of the
fair value of the consideration received and the fair
value of any retained interest and (ii) the carrying
amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities
of the subsidiary attributable to the owners of the
Company. All amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary
are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed
of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e.
reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another
category of equity as specified/permitted by applicable
HKFRSs). The fair value of any investment retained
in the former subsidiary at the date when control is
lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition
for subsequent accounting under HKFRS 9 or, when
applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an
investment in an associate or a joint venture.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses, other than business
combination under common control, are accounted
for using the acquisition method. The consideration
transferred in a business combination is measured at fair
value, which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-
date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group,
liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners
of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by
the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree.
Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised in
profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair
value, except that:

. deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets
or liabilities related to employee benefit
arrangements are recognised and measured in
accordance with HKAS 12 “Income Taxes” and
HKAS 19 “Employee Benefits” respectively;

° liabilities or equity instruments related to share-
based payment arrangements of the acquiree or
share-based payment arrangements of the Group
entered into to replace share-based payment
arrangements of the acquiree are measured in
accordance with HKFRS 2 “Share-based Payment”
at the acquisition date (see the accounting policy
below);

o assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as
held for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 “Non-
current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations” are measured in accordance with that
standard; and

° lease liabilities are recognised and measured at
the present value of the remaining lease payments
(as defined in HKFRS 16) as if the acquired leases
were new leases at the acquisition date, except
for leases for which (a) the lease term ends
within 12 months of the acquisition date; or (b)
the underlying asset is of low value. Right-of-use
assets are recognised and measured at the same
amount as the relevant lease liabilities, adjusted
to reflect favourable or unfavourable terms of the
lease when compared with market terms.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Business combinations (continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value
of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the
acquiree (if any) over the net amount of the identifiable
assets acquired and the liabilities assumed as at the
acquisition date. If after reassessment, the net amount
of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum
of the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair
value of the acquirer's previously held interest in the
acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in
profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate
share of the entity's net assets in the event of
liquidation may be initially measured either at fair value
or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share
of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets. The choice of measurement basis is made on
a transaction-by-transaction basis.

When the consideration transferred by the Group
in a business combination includes a contingent
consideration arrangement, the contingent
consideration is measured at its acquisition-date
fair value and included as part of the consideration
transferred in a business combination. Changes in the
fair value of the contingent consideration that qualify
as measurement period adjustments are adjusted
retrospectively. Measurement period adjustments are
adjustments that arise from additional information
obtained during the “measurement period” (which
cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date)
about facts and circumstances that existed at the
acquisition date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Business combinations (continued)

The subsequent accounting for the contingent
consideration that do not qualify as measurement
period adjustments depends on how the contingent
consideration is classified. Contingent consideration that
is classified as equity is not remeasured at subsequent
reporting dates and its subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration
that is classified as an asset or a liability is remeasured
to fair value at subsequent reporting dates, with the
corresponding gain or loss being recognised in profit or
loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the
Group's previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the
date when the Group obtains control), and the resulting
gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss or
other comprehensive income, as appropriate. Amounts
arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the
acquisition date that have previously been recognised
in other comprehensive income and measured under
HKFRS 9 would be accounted for on the same basis as
would be required if the Group had disposed of directly
of the previously held equity interest.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is
incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which
the combination occurs, the Group reports provisional
amounts for the items for which the accounting is
incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted
retrospectively during the measurement period
(see above), and additional assets or liabilities are
recognised, to reflect new information obtained about
facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition
date that, if known, would have affected the amounts
recognised at that date.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is
carried at cost as established at the date of acquisition
of the business less any accumulated impairment losses,
if any, and is presented separately in the consolidated
statement of financial position. For the purposes of
impairment testing, goodwill arising from an acquisition
is allocated to each of the relevant cash-generating units
(or groups of cash-generating units) that are expected
to benefit from the synergies of the acquisition, which
represent the lowest level at which the goodwill is
monitored for internal management purposes and not
larger than an operating segment.

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating
units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested
for impairment annually or more frequently when
there is indication that the unit may be impaired. For
goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting period,
the cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating
units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for
impairment before the end of that reporting period. If
the recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount,
the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill and then to the other
assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount
of each asset in the unit (or group of cash-generating
units).

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit,
the attributable amount of goodwill is included in
the determination of the amount of profit or loss on
disposal. When the Group disposes of an operation
within the cash-generating unit, the amount of goodwill
disposed of is measured on the basis of the relative
values of the operation disposed of and the portion of
the cash-generating unit retained.

The Group’s policy for goodwill arising on the
acquisition of an associate and a joint venture is
described below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE-F-_N&E+-A=+—RHLFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Interests in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the power
to participate in the financial and operating policy
decisions of the investee but is not control or joint
control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the
parties that have joint control of the arrangement have
rights to the net assets of the joint arrangement. Joint
control is the contractually agreed sharing of control
of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions
about the relevant activities require unanimous consent
of the parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates or
joint ventures are incorporated in the consolidated
financial statements using the equity method of
accounting. The financial statements of associates and
joint ventures used for equity accounting purposes are
prepared using uniform accounting policies as those
of the Group for like transactions and events in similar
circumstances. Under the equity method, an investment
in an associate or a joint venture is initially recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position at cost
and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share
of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of
the associate or joint venture. Changes in net assets of
the associate or joint venture other than profit or loss
and other comprehensive income are not accounted for
unless such changes resulted in changes in ownership
interest held by the Group. When the Group's share
of losses of an associate or a joint venture exceeds
its interest in that associate or joint venture (which
included any long-term interest that, in substance, form
part of the Group's net investment in the associate or
joint venture), the Group discontinues recognising its
share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised
only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or
constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of
the associate or joint venture.

FESEEE @
REEARARGELENER
BERBAAEEHEREEATE
NOEB-BATENRAESER
RETHOMBEREERRRE X
B % B IROR R Y I M A (R AR
& -

AELEE—AKERE B
o 4 5 2 H?%%WJ%E#%Q
R % 4 f) BB A 4 F o 32
$IR IR ST AR SRR A
2H EEEHMEDERAATA
72 45 0 5 77 1 HH — B R B R B
FE -

ﬁ%QTiA%ﬁ¥M¥%M&§F
RBEDNEREREATAKRAN
%ﬁ%°§%§@%%&§%%%@
ARAELENTHHEREMREMEAMU
ERTEREERURZHERL —
M) & AT BUR A A o IRIBRE a5 0K
RBERBSAELEEENRENHIR
AR RS I ISR R MR - A&k
ETHEAERARE D G SH S
REIHE %ﬁ%%ﬁ 5 N H b 2 W
A-BERAXAELCEZEEFE
B M E A2 E WA RSN A
%A%’@Fﬁ§%%ﬁ$ﬁl%ﬁ
CHBRERNE B AEE S HE
M“Tié%ﬁ%%@%tﬂﬁ%
ZBERRHAECENER (B
EfR LARARERZBEDARG
LSRR EFE o TR R
§)$%l HUBRERE D1 ay
—FTER-BINBERASEEEEL
EERBEERTRRKRZB L RAX
BELEFERNRE T SR -

“ECNEFR BRERREHEEENZERIE 117



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o)

Bt 7% AR MY A

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE-FT-_HNE+-A=+—RHLFE

118

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Interests in associates and joint ventures
(continued)

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is
accounted for using the equity method from the
date on which the investee becomes an associate or
a joint venture. On acquisition of the investment in
associates or a joint venture, any excess of the cost of
the investment over the Group’s share of the net fair
value of identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee
is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the
carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the
Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment,
after assessment, is recognised immediately in profit or
loss in the period in which the investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective
evidence that the interest in an associate or a joint
venture may be impaired. When any objective
evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the
investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment
in accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by
comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in
use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying
amount. Any impairment loss recognised is not allowed
to any asset, including goodwill, that forms part of
the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of
that impairment loss is recognised in accordance HKAS
36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the
investment subsequently increases.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Interests in associates and joint ventures
(continued)

When the Group ceases to have significant influence
over an associate or joint control over a joint venture,
it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest
in the investee with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. When the Group retains
an interest in the former associate or joint venture
and the retained interest is a financial asset within the
scope of HKFRS 9, the Group measures the retained
interest at fair value at that date and the fair value
is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition.
The difference between the carrying amount of the
associate or joint venture and the fair value of any
retained interest and any proceeds from disposing of
the relevant interest in the associate or joint venture
is included in the determination of the gain or loss
on disposal of the associate or joint venture. In
addition, the Group accounts for all amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in relation
to that associate or joint venture on the same basis
as would be required if that associate or joint venture
had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognised in
other comprehensive income by that associate or joint
venture would be reclassified to profit or loss on the
disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the Group
reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss
(as a reclassification adjustment) upon disposal/partial
disposal of the relevant associate or joint venture.

The Group continues to use the equity method when
an investment in an associate becomes an investment
in a joint venture or an investment in a joint venture
becomes an investment in an associate. There is no
remeasurement to fair value upon such changes in
ownership interests.

FESTBE @)

RBEERARGELENES

()

MﬂKE@Z:E%H?M”\jTZEﬁEﬁ

éj}i‘ﬁ””'fﬁ%%ﬁﬂﬁ% 7 | 4 -

ELERREEEBERIESEHE
fi ELEZEZRBEZRAER - EK
SERBRANBERRHELELEZ
Hn BERBEZAT USRS E
Bl EEAN SR EER  BIARE
@E/\”‘E?ﬁﬁyﬁ TEREBER M
NFERWE B ENERE 2 AFE -

B AR A & E ZRAEEE TR
{7!':% AREm 2R $T§&H:1'EH§‘#M“7?
EERBESFSEMMAERIE
F) = %8 Eu‘l‘)\fﬁﬂitﬂ%%ﬁ%ﬂ
CEEDE BTN WZ
ARAETXERELENRBEE
_Xﬁ{i B AEEAEFEBIZERE
EANEHZBERRHNELELERN
J/XETF’\\HM%E%U\TJE? RS-

At Tﬁﬁﬁ%%@jiA%ﬁ%LATE

Eme2AWABRZEBERENS 955\2%
HEHBEEESBEZ2ERE AR
EBEBERHEBoHEHBEE R
AIRAETEBESRBET»ERE
Bx (PIEEF D ERAE) -

li

il

)

\DII

Fa

2N D) 3
5 & 581

\O

=N A2 RARRHEERX
KRB B DEZIREK LB
KRER NEBEEEEHBE
REBELEZEREBERDEBE
BRAFEETERTE

Il my £
NS

2

-1 Blmk N\ Bk
) N b K5 °F

WE o

“ECNEFR BRERRE#EENMZEBRLE 119



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRMWE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Interests in associates and joint ventures
(continued)

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an
associate or a joint venture but the Group continues
to use the equity method, the Group reclassifies to
profit or loss the proportion of the gain or loss that
had previously been recognised in other comprehensive
income relating to that reduction in ownership interest
if that gain or loss would be reclassified to profit or loss
on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate
or a joint venture, profits and losses resulting from
the transactions with the associate or joint venture
are recognised in the Group' consolidated financial
statements only to the extent of interests in the
associate or joint venture that are not related to the
Group.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control”
of the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service
(or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a
series of distinct goods or services that are substantially
the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is
recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following criteria is
met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs;

o the Group’s performance creates or enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

° the Group's performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the
Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(continued)

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the distinct good
or service.

A contract asset represents the Group's right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that
the Group has transferred to a customer that is not
yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in
accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable
represents the Group's unconditional right to
consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required
before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation
to transfer goods or services to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the
same contract are accounted for and presented on a net
basis.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement
of progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation

Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation is measured based on output
method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis
of direct measurements of the value of the goods or
services transferred to the customer to date relative to
the remaining goods or services promised under the
contract, that best depict the Group’s performance in
transferring control of goods or services.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(continued)

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or
services to a customer, the Group determines whether
the nature of its promise is a performance obligation
to provide the specified goods or services itself (i.e.
the Group is a principal) or to arrange for those goods
or services to be provided by the other party (i.e. the
Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good
or service before that good or service is transferred to
a customer. The Group is an agent if its performance
obligation is to arrange for the provision of the
specified good or service by another party. In this case,
the Group does not control the specified good or
service provided by another party before that good or
service is transferred to the customer. When the Group
acts as an agent, it recognises revenue in the amount of
any fee or commission to which it expects to be entitled
in exchange for arranging for the specified goods or
services to be provided by the other party.

Except for management fee and information technology
("IT") service fee income, all revenue are derived from
the Group’'s ordinary course of business. Management
fee and IT service fee income are recognised over time
by the Group's performance as the Group performs and
included in other income.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses if any.

Ownership interests in leasehold land and
building

When the Group makes payments for ownership
interests of properties which includes both leasehold
land and building elements, the entire consideration is
allocated between the leasehold land and the building
elements in proportion to the relative fair values at
initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRME
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Ownership interests in leasehold land and
building (continued)

To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments
can be made reliably, interest in leasehold land that
is accounted for as an operating lease is presented as
“right-of-use assets” in the consolidated statement of
financial position except for those that are classified
and accounted for as investment properties under the
fair value model. When the consideration cannot be
allocated reliably between non-lease building element
and undivided interest in the underlying leasehold land,
the entire properties are classified as property, plant and
equipment.

Leasehold land and buildings held for use in the
production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purposes, are stated in the consolidated
financial statements at their fair value at the date
of revaluation less any subsequent accumulated
depreciation and any subsequent accumulated
impairment losses. Revaluations are performed with
sufficient regularity such that the carrying amount
does not differ materially from that which would be
determined using fair value at the end of the reporting
period.

Any revaluation increase arising on the revaluation of
leasehold land and buildings is recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the property
revaluation reserve, except to the extent that it reverses
a revaluation decrease of the same asset previously
recognised in profit or loss, in which case the increase
is credited to profit or loss to the extent of the decrease
previously charged. A decrease in net carrying amount
arising on revaluation of such leasehold land and
buildings is recognised in profit or loss to the extent
that it exceeds the balance, if any, on the property
revaluation reserve relating to a previous revaluation of
that asset. Depreciation on revalued land and building
is recognised in profit or loss. On the subsequent sale
or retirement of a revalued asset, the attributable
revaluation surplus is transferred to retained profits.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Ownership interests in leasehold land and
building (continued)

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost
or revalued amount of items of property, plant and
equipment less their residual values over their estimated
useful lives, using the straight-line method. The
estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
accounted for on a prospective basis.

Items may be produced while bringing an item of
property, plant and equipment to the location and
condition necessary for it to be capable of operating
in the manner intended by management. The proceeds
from selling any such items and the related costs are
recognised in profit or loss.

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on
the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant
and equipment is determined as the difference between
the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset
and is recognised in profit or loss.

Investment properties

Investment property is property held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost,
including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties
are measured at their fair values using the fair value
model, adjusted to exclude any prepaid or accrued
operating lease income. Gains or losses arising from
changes in the fair value of investment property are
included in profit or loss for the period in which they
arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal
or when the investment property is permanently
withdrawn from use or no future economic benefits are
expected from its disposals. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset) is included in the profit or loss in
the period in which the item is derecognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE-F-_N&E+-A=+—RHLFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are
acquired separately are carried at costs less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful
lives is recognised on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life and
amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.

Internally-generated intangible assets

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an
expense in the period in which it is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from
development activities (or from the development phase
of an internal project) is recognised if, and only if, all of
the following have been demonstrated:

o the technical feasibility of completing the
intangible asset so that it will be available for use
or sale;

o the intention to complete the intangible asset and
use or sell it;

o the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

o how the intangible asset will generate probable

future economic benefits;

° the availability of adequate technical, financial
and other resources to complete the development
and to use or sell the intangible asset; and

° the ability to measure reliably the expenditure
attributable to the intangible asset during its
development.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Internally-generated intangible assets
(continued)

The amount initially recognised for internally-generated
intangible asset is the sum of the expenditure incurred
from the date when the intangible asset first meets
the recognition criteria listed above. Where no
internally-generated intangible asset can be recognised,
development expenditure is recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which it is incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated
intangible assets are reported at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses (if
any), on the same basis as intangible assets that are
acquired separately.

Intangible assets acquired in a business
combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
are recognised separately from goodwill and are initially
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date
(which is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets with
finite useful lives are carried at costs less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful
lives is recognised on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when
no future economic benefits are expected from use or
disposal. Gains and losses arising from derecognition of
an intangible asset, measured as the difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of
the asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset
is derecognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE-F-_N&E+-A=+—RHLFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Impairment losses on property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets to determine whether
there is any indication that those assets have suffered
an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in
order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if
any.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets are estimated
individually. When it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In addition, corporates assets are allocated to individual
cash generating units when a reasonable and consistent
basis of allocation can be established, or otherwise
they are allocated to the smallest group of cash
generating units for which a reasonable and consistent
allocation basis can be established. The Group assesses
whether there is indication that corporate assets may
be impaired. If such indication exists, the recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit or
group of cash-generating units to which the corporate
asset belongs, and is compared with the carrying
amount of the relevant cash-generating unit or group
of cash-generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in
use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value
of money and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) for which the estimates of future cash
flows have not been adjusted. A portion of the carrying
amount of a corporate asset is allocated to an individual
cash-generating unit if the allocation can be done on
a reasonable and consistent basis, or to the smallest
group of cash-generating units if otherwise.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Impairment losses on property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets (continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or
a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. For corporate assets or portion of corporate
assets which cannot be allocated on a reasonable and
consistent basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group
compares the carrying amount of a group of cash-
generating units, including the carrying amounts of
the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets
allocated to that group of cash-generating units, with
the recoverable amount of the group of cash-generating
units. In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment
loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill and then to the other assets on a pro-rata
basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the
unit or the group of cash-generating units. The carrying
amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest of
its fair value less costs of disposal, its value in use and
zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would
otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated
pro rata to the other assets of the unit or the group of
cash-generating units. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit
or a group of cash-generation units) is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or
a cash generating unit or a group of cash-generation
units) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised as income immediately.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way
purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised
and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the
market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are initially
measured in accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition
or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets or financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss (“FVTPL") are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition
of financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial
liability and of allocating interest revenue and interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash receipts and payments (including all fees and
points paid or received that form an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life
of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.

FESTBE @)

EWMIA

EX-SEERRASTEAMNKEXN
AINATR eRIATREENEME
B-MANERZEEEXRHEZS
MEENRRX P AMEERINKIL
FER - EﬁLNEEEEIFﬁ%&
MREVIFMEE cHHEERARNE
EZemMEEEER-

%ﬂéé&%ﬂﬁ1mi&@¥%?

HEELEAEPAMNZE SRR
E(ﬂ%?%%ﬁﬁ%ﬁ%%w%@
FEHE)RIN - WBRBETEREE
ke®@Af (RAFETARS ([&Z
RFEFABRRDNEREEXLSH
BEBNMEEBRIEORIZIRA
RS ERERZEATHREEXS
RAGENAFETRT AR (103
) - WEERAFEFABDSN TR
EESCRAEMERBENRIK
RENF R B R -

ERMNEXERFE-—HeREELD
MEECHERARZRAREED K
MEBWA R EF X Z277%  BERF
REREBETREERERAB ALY
AERFHE (a8 RERRE B
BRITEAARRSBARMSK (B
%%&f@ﬂﬁZ@&% PZFAE
NHEWEBERARRE XHHARE
@mﬁ&%%)im*%w$ﬁﬁﬁ
ZLp &

CECNEFR BRERREMEENMZEBRLE 129



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRMWE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

Bz

130

—EWFE+ZA=1T—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash
flows; and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified dates
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured
at FVTPL, except that at the date of initial application
of HKFRS 9/initial recognition of a financial asset the
Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent
changes in fair value of an equity investment in other
comprehensive income if that equity investment is
neither held for trading nor contingent consideration
recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to
which HKFRS 3 “Business Combinations” applies.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern
of short-term profit-taking; or

° it is a derivative that is not designated and
effective as a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a
financial asset that are required to be measured at
the amortised cost as measured at FVTPL if doing
so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting
mismatch.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (continued)

(i)

(i)

Amortised cost and interest revenue

Interest revenue is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest revenue
is calculated by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset,
except for financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired (see below). For financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest revenue is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the
amortised cost of the financial asset from the next
reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-
impaired financial instrument improves so that
the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired,
interest revenue is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of the financial asset from the beginning of the
reporting period following the determination that
the asset is no longer credit impaired.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for
being measured at amortised cost are measured
at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period, with
any fair value gains or losses recognised in profit
or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit
or loss includes any dividend or interest earned on
the financial asset and is included in the “other
gains or losses” line item.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss ("ECL"”) model on financial assets
(including trade receivables, other receivables, rental
deposits, amounts due from immediate holding
company, joint ventures, associates, a related company
and fellow subsidiaries, pledged bank deposits and bank
balances) and other items (contract assets) which are
subject to impairment under HKFRS 9. The amount of
ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes
in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of
the relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL
("12m ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL
that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
Assessments are done based on the Group’s historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions at
the reporting date as well as the forecast of future
conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for contract
assets, trade receivables and trade balances due
from associates and joint ventures. To measure the
ECL, contract assets and trade receivables have been
grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics
respectively. In addition, trade receivables and contract
assets with possible credit-impairment are assessed for
ECL individually. The ECL for trade balances due from
associates and joint ventures are assessed individually.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE-F-_N&E+-A=+—RHLFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12 month ECL, unless there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, in which case, the Group recognises
lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL
should be recognised is based on significant increases in
the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that
is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit risk
has increased significantly:

o an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial instrument’s
external (if available) or internal credit
rating;

o significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRMWE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

ME+-_A=+—BILFE

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

o existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor's ability to meet its
debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of the
debtor; and

o an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor
that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the credit
risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are more
than 90 days past due, unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that
the credit risk on a debt instrument has not
increased significantly since initial recognition
if the debt instrument is determined to have
low credit risk at the reporting date. A debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk
if (i) it has a low risk of default, (ii) the borrower
has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash
flow obligations in the near term and (iii) adverse
changes in economic and business conditions
in the longer term may, but will not necessarily,
reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its
contractual cash flow obligations.

FESTBE @)

R IA (@)
EMEE (#)
LHEERE (&)

(i)

EE R ARZ M (8)

e FEHHEMEKABITH
BIEE B S KR T &
ESRNIE SO
BIRA TR A B E

s BERARZXEMNERK
BRMBEREBL K&

s HBHEBABRTHEHRE
EHBE S KIE MR E BT
AEE EEIMIRE
g?@%ﬁﬁ%@iﬁT\ﬂ@

B LA HAERNA BEA K
B BEE BO0 B iy - AEE R
EEERRBVIAERIAKRE
RIEIEI - BRIFEANREBEGIE R
AEBENERSTEL IO

A8 Bl o

BE EXA - REBRRME
BITABEERRHEEHASR
BEERR AEBTANEER
[ B B ¥) 46 B AR LA SR S 4 BB
B fHEBIANER EH TR
EERAAEEERR: (EA
BRENORR  (ERARE
HANABHEEENIBTEAN
RenEBRERIINRALE R
IR B AN I 2 B ] gE B
—TEHIBRERABRITEANR
TREEENES -

YTO International Express and Supply Chain Technology Limited Annual Report 2024



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE-_Z-_ME+_-_A=+—RHILEE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness
of the criteria used to identify whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk and
revises them as appropriate to ensure that the
criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount becomes
past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group,
in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset
is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion
is more appropriate.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of that financial
asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial
asset is credit-impaired includes observable data
about the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
the borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event;

(c)  the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic
or contractual reasons relating to the
borrower’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession(s) that
the lender(s) would not otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for
that financial asset because of financial
difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the counterparty
is in severe financial difficulty and there is no
realistic prospect of recovery, for example,
when the counterparty has been placed under
liguidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings. Financial assets written off may still
be subject to enforcement activities under the
Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account
legal advice where appropriate. A write-off
constitutes a derecognition event. Any subsequent
recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.

FESTBE @)

R IA (@)
EMEE (#)
LHEERE (&)

(iii)

(iv)

EEERENESREE

TREERE HAXZESFMH (Y
ZEMEEMAARARREAE
BRANEE)BERLREE
BE-SREELFEEREN
EBRERABTIFHOAE
HHUR:

(@) BOIAHBERANEANY
IR 2

by BRAN(WMENIE B
=)

(0 BRANERARBEE
RA BN L EL A
MR EERALEE
RAGEEMBERATTEE
BHRR:

(d) B3R A S A BEFE A BR 2 =X
HMMBEHR: X

() RERMEEMEEMEGHE
B 0 PR 6 7 OB 2K

55 R R

EMBTRIYTFHERBREN K
(G Ny QT = ]
W F T BE R E ARETR
F) AEBRIMHESBEE-
REBZEAEA® (KHEE) -
EMENETMEEAELINAR
AN 55 B Y [B] 2 Fr o 17 9% B 1T
A MEHEKBURER B -
E E R YR B E B o FERR o

YTO International Express and Supply Chain Technology Limited Annual Report 2024



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE-F-_N&E+-A=+—RHLFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is
based on historical data adjusted by forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an
unbiased and probability-weighted amount that
is determined with the respective risks of default
occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between
all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and
the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or
cater for cases where evidence at the individual
instrument level may not yet be available, the
financial instruments are grouped on the following
basis:

. Nature of financial instruments (i.e. the
Group's trade receivables and contract assets
are assessed as a separate group. Other
receivables, rental deposits, amounts due
from related parties, pledged bank deposits
and bank balance are assessed for ECL on
an individual basis);

° Past-due status;

o Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

o External credit ratings where available.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

The grouping is regularly reviewed by
management to ensure the constituents of
each group continue to share similar credit risk
characteristics.

Interest revenue is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit impaired, in which case
interest revenue is calculated based on amortised
cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or
loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments
by adjusting their carrying amount, with the
exception of trade receivables, contract assets
and amounts due from related parties where the
corresponding adjustment is recognised through a
loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when
the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither
transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained
interest in the asset and an associated liability for
amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues
to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a
collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE-F-_N&E+-A=+—RHLFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (continued)

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument
which the Group has elected on initial recognition to
measure at FVTOCI upon application of HKFRS 9, the
cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the
investment revaluation reserve is not reclassified to
profit or loss, but is transferred to retained profits.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Classification as debt or equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by the
Group entity are classified as either financial liabilities or
as equity instruments in accordance with the substance
of the contractual arrangements entered into and
the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued
by the Group are recorded at the proceeds received, net
of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments
is recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase,
sale, issue or cancellation of the Company’s own equity
instruments.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BHE-_Z-_ME+_-_A=+—RHILEE

(continued)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities (including trade and other payables,
loan from immediate holding company, amounts due to
fellow subsidiaries, associates and a related company
and bank borrowings) are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using effective interest method, unless
the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which
case they are stated at cost invoice amounts.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when
the financial liability is (i) held for trading; (ii) it is
designated as at FTVPL; or (iii) contingent consideration
that may be paid by an acquirer as part of a business
combination to which HKFRS 3 applies.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in
profit or loss.

Provisions, contingent liabilities and onerous contracts
(i) Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
legal or constructive obligation arising as a result
of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made.
Where the time value of money is material,
provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES FESHEEX @
AAAAA AL (continued)

Financial instruments (continued) R IA (@)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments cREERERT A (&)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE-F-_N&E+-A=+—RHLFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
(continued)

Provisions, contingent liabilities and onerous contracts
(continued)

(i) Provisions and contingent liabilities (continued)

Where it is not probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required, or the amount
cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is
disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote. Possible obligations, whose existence
will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events are
also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote.

Where some or all of the expenditure required to
settle a provision is expected to be reimbursed
by another party, a separate asset is recognised
for any expected reimbursement that would be
virtually certain. The amount recognised for the
reimbursement is limited to the carrying amount
of the provision.

(i) Onerous contracts

An onerous contract exists when the Group has
a contract under which the unavoidable costs of
meeting the obligations under the contract exceed
the economic benefits expected to be received
from the contract. Provisions for onerous contracts
are measured at the present value of the lower
of the expected cost of terminating the contract
and the net cost of fulfilling the contract. The
cost of fulfilling the contract includes both the
incremental costs of fulfilling that contract and
an allocation of other costs that relate directly to
fulfilling that contract.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions,
and short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having been
within three months of maturity at acquisition. Cash and cash
equivalents are assessed for expected credit losses (ECL).
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of an asset
which necessarily takes a substantial period of time to
get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalised as
part of the cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs are
expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost
of a qualifying asset commences when expenditure for
the asset is being incurred, borrowing costs are being
incurred and activities that are necessary to prepare
the asset for its intended use or sale are in progress.
Capitalisation of borrowing costs is suspended or ceases
when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare
the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are
interrupted or complete.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement
benefit plans are recognised as an expense when
employees have rendered service entitling them to the
contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be
paid as and when employees rendered the services.
All short-term employee benefits are recognised as an
expense unless another HKFRSs require or permit the
inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave)
after deducting any amount already paid.

Equity-settled share-based payment
arrangements

Share award plan

For grants of share awards that are conditional upon
satisfying specified vesting conditions, the fair value of
service received is determined by reference to the fair
value of shares awards granted at the date of grant
and is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting
period, with a corresponding increase in equity (share
awards reserve).
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Equity-settled share-based payment
arrangements (continued)

Share award plan (continued)

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises
its estimates of the number of share awards that are
expected to ultimately vest. The impact of the revision
of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit
or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the
revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to
share awards reserve.

When share awards are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share awards reserve will be transferred
to share premium or treasury stock. When the share
awards are forfeited after the vesting date or are still
not exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously
recognised in share awards reserve will be transferred to
retained profits.

Contract costs

Contract costs are either the incremental costs of
obtaining a contract with a customer or the costs
to fulfil a contract with a customer which are not
capitalised as property, plant and equipment or
intangible assets.

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those
costs that the Group incurs to obtain a contract with a
customer that it would not have incurred if the contract
had not been obtained e.g. an incremental sales
commission. Incremental costs of obtaining a contract
are capitalised when incurred if the costs relate to
revenue which will be recognised in a future reporting
period and the costs are expected to be recovered.
Other costs of obtaining a contract are expensed when
incurred.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Contract costs (continued)

Costs to fulfil a contract are capitalised if the costs
relate directly to an existing contract or to a specifically
identifiable anticipated contract; generate or enhance
resources that will be used to provide goods or services
in the future; and are expected to be recovered. Costs
that relate directly to an existing contract or to a
specifically identifiable anticipated contract may include
direct labour, direct materials, allocations of costs, costs
that are explicitly chargeable to the customer and other
costs that are incurred only because the Group entered
into the contract (for example, payments to sub-
contractors). Other costs of fulfilling a contract, which
are not capitalised as property, plant and equipment or
intangible assets, are expensed as incurred.

Capitalised contract costs are stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.
Impairment losses are recognised to the extent that the
carrying amount of the contract cost asset exceeds the
net of (i) remaining amount of consideration that the
Group expects to receive in exchange for the goods or
services to which the asset relates, less (ii) any costs that
relate directly to providing those goods or services that
have not yet been recognised as expenses.

Amortisation of capitalised contract costs is charged
to profit or loss when the revenue to which the asset
relates is recognised.

Leases
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from
business combinations on or after the date of initial
application, the Group assesses whether a contract is or
contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS
16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date,
as appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed
unless the terms and conditions of the contract are
subsequently changed.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one
or more additional lease or non-lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in the contract to
each lease component on the basis of the relative stand-
alone price of the lease component and the aggregate
standalone price of the non-lease components.

The Group also applies practical expedient not to
separate non-lease components from lease component,
and instead account for the lease component and any
associated non-lease components as a single lease
component.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of land and buildings, computer
equipment, furniture & fixture and motor vehicles
that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option. It also applies the recognition exemption for
lease of low-value assets. Lease payments on short-term
leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised as
expense on a straight-line basis or another systematic
basis over the lease term.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(continued)

Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

° the amount of the initial measurement of the
lease liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

o an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group

in dismantling and removing the underlying
assets, restoring the site on which it is located or
restoring the underlying asset to the condition
required by the terms and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and
the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate
line item on the consolidated statement of financial
position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” (“HKFRS 9”) and
initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair
value at initial recognition are considered as additional
lease payments and included in the cost of right-of-use
assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the
present value of lease payments that are unpaid at that
date. In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in
the lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable;

o variable lease payments that depend on an index
or a rate;

o amounts expected to be payable by the Group
under residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the
Group is reasonably certain to exercise the option;
and

. payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if
the lease term reflects the Group exercising an
option to terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)

Lease liabilities (continued)

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use
assets, or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying
amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to
zero) whenever:

° the lease term has changed or there is a change
in the assessment of exercise of a purchase
option, in which case the related lease liability
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the date
of reassessment.

o the lease payments change due to changes in
market rental rates following a market rent
review, in which cases the related lease liability
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using the initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate
line item on the consolidated statement of financial
position.

Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a
separate lease if:

o the modification increases the scope of the lease
by adding the right to use one or more underlying
assets; and

o the consideration for the leases increases by an
amount commensurate with the stand-alone price
for the increase in scope and any appropriate
adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect
the circumstances of the particular contract.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)
Lease modifications (continued)

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a
separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability
based on the lease term of the modified lease by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease
liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to the
relevant right-of-use asset. When the modified contract
contains a lease component and one or more additional
lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the modified contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone
price of the lease component and the aggregate stand-
alone price of the non-lease components.

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as
finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of
the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the
lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All
other leases are classified as operating leases.

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are
recognised as receivables at commencement date
at amounts equal to net investments in the leases,
measured using the interest rate implicit in the
respective leases. Initial direct costs (other than those
incurred by manufacturer or dealer lessors) are included
in the initial measurement of the net investments in
the leases. Interest revenue is allocated to accounting
periods so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of
return on the Group’s net investment outstanding in
respect of the leases.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessor (continued)

Classification and measurement of leases (continued)

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term
of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in
negotiating and arranging an operating lease are
added to the carrying amount of the leased asset, and
such costs are recognised as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term except for investment
properties measured under fair value model.

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

When a contract includes both leases and non-lease
components, the Group applies HKFRS 15 to allocate
consideration in a contract to lease and non-lease
components. Non-lease components are separated from
lease component on the basis of their relative stand-
alone selling prices.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for
under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments from lessees.

Sublease

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts
for the head lease and the sublease as two separate
contracts. The sublease is classified as a finance or
operating lease by reference to the right-of-use asset
arising from the head lease, not with reference to the
underlying asset.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessor (continued)

Lease modification to a finance lease

The Group accounts for a modification to a finance
lease as a separate lease if both:

(a)

the modification increases the scope of the lease
by adding the right to use one or more underlying
assets; and

the consideration for the lease increases by an
amount commensurate with the stand-alone price
for the increase in scope and any appropriate
adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect
the circumstances of the particular contract.

For a modification to a finance lease that is not
accounted for as a separate lease, the Group accounts
for the modification as follows:

(a)

if the lease would have been classified as an
operating lease had the modification been in
effect at the inception date, the Group shall:

(i)  account for the lease modification as a
new lease from the effective date of the
modification; and

(i) measure the carrying amount of the
underlying asset as the net investment in
the lease immediately before the effective
date of the lease modification.

otherwise, the Group applies the requirements of
HKFRS 9.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessor (continued)
Lease modification to an operating lease

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating
lease as a new lease from the effective date of the
modification, considering any prepaid or accrued lease
payments relating to the original lease as part of the
lease payments for the new lease.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax. The tax currently
payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable
profit differs from “profit before taxation” as reported
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss because
it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and it further excludes
items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary differences to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which those deductible temporary differences can be
utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the
initial recognition (other than in a business combination)
of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit. In
addition, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition
of goodwill.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiary and interests in associates and joint ventures,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal
of the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments
and interests are only recognised to the extent that it
is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits
against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of the reporting period and reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of
the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in
which the liability is settled or the asset is realised,
based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from
the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of
the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities
or deferred tax assets for investment properties that
are measured using the fair value model, the carrying
amounts of such properties are presumed to be
recovered entirely through sale, unless the presumption
is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the
investment property is depreciable and is held within
a business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in
the investment property over time, rather than through
sale.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Taxation (continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-
of-use assets and the related lease liabilities, the
Group first determines whether the tax deductions
are attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease
liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies
HKAS 12 “Income Taxes” requirements to right-of-
use assets and lease liabilities separately. Temporary
differences on initial recognition of the relevant right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities are recognised.
Temporary differences arising from subsequent revision
to the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities, resulting from remeasurement of lease
liabilities and lease modifications, are recognised on the
date of remeasurement or modification.

In assessing any uncertainty over income tax treatments,
the Group considers whether it is probable that the
relevant tax authority will accept the uncertain tax
treatment used, or proposed to be use by individual
group entities in their income tax filings. If it is
probable, the current and deferred taxes are determined
consistently with the tax treatment in the income tax
filings. If it is not probable that the relevant taxation
authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment, the
effect of each uncertainty is reflected by using either
the most likely amount or the expected value.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied to the same taxable entity by the
same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or
loss, except when it relates to items that are recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
in which case, the current and deferred tax are also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred
tax arises from the initial accounting for a business
combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting
for the business combination.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recorded in its functional currency (i.e. the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates) at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the
dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are re-translated at the rates prevailing at
that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that
are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value
was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the re-translation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated
financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the
Group's foreign operations are translated into the
presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong
dollars) at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end of
the reporting period, and their income and expenses are
translated at the average exchange rates for the period,
unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the
period, in which case, the exchange rates prevailing at
the dates of transactions are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity under the heading
of translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling
interests as appropriate), if any.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal
of the Group's entire interest in a foreign operation,
or a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary
that includes a foreign operation, or a disposal involving
loss of significant influence over an associate or a joint
venture that includes a foreign operation), all of the
exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect
of that operation attributable to the owners of the
Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a
subsidiary that does not result in the Group losing
control over the subsidiary, the proportionate share
of accumulated exchange differences are reattributed
to non-controlling interests and are not recognised in
profit or loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e. partial
disposals of associates or joint ventures that do not
result in the Group losing significant influence or joint
control), the proportionate share of the accumulated
exchange differences is reclassified to profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable
assets acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign
operation on or after 1 January 2005 are treated as
assets and liabilities of that foreign operation and
retranslated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the
end of each reporting period. Exchange differences
arising are recognised in equity under the heading of
translation reserve.

Related parties

(@) A person, or a close member of that person’s
family, is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or
(i) is a member of the key management

personnel of the Group or the Group's
parent.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Related parties (continued)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the Group are members of
the same group (which means that each
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is
related to the others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which
the other entity is a member).

(iii)  Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity.

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of either
the Group or an entity related to the Group.

(vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the entity
(or of a parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
Group's parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence, or
be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the
entity.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to
the Group’s most senior executive management for the
purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group’s various lines of business
and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and are
similar in respect of the nature of products and services,
the nature of production processes, the type or class of
customers, the methods used to distribute the products
or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not
individually material may be aggregated if they share a
majority of these criteria.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in note 3, management is required
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be
relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.
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4,

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following is the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty
at the end of the reporting period, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year.

Estimation of expected credit loss allowance of
trade receivables

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s gross trade
receivables amounted to HK$755,305,000 (2023:
HK$1,055,894,000), against which an allowance
for expected credit losses of HK$21,146,000 (2023:
HK$11,039,000) was recorded.

The Group measures expected credit loss of trade
receivables at an amount equal to lifetime expected
credit loss, by applying estimated loss rates on trade
receivables grouped according to their shared credit
risk characteristics. Management assesses the expected
credit loss allowance for possible credit-impaired trade
receivables individually, and the expected credit loss
allowance for remaining balances is assessed using the
provision matrix collectively.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates.
Information about ECL on the Group’s trade receivables
is disclosed in note 38.

The Group's lifetime ECL on trade receivables as at 31
December 2024 amounted to HK$21,146,000 (2023:
HK$11,039,000).
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REVENUE

Revenue represents freight forwarding and related
services income which is recognised over time as
customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group's performance as the
Group performs. The Group’s revenue is recognised
using output method over the period of performance by
delivering a shipment from a place of origin to a place
of destination. The performance obligation is satisfied
upon delivery at destination. Details of disaggregation
of revenue are set out in note 6.

Payment of the transaction price is generally due within
30 days. All services are for periods of less than one
year. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction
price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is not
disclosed.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group determines its operating segments based on
internal reports about components of the Group that
are regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision
maker (i.e. the executive directors of the Company) in
order to allocate resources to the segment and to assess
its performance.

Information reported to the Group’s chief operating

decision maker for the purposes of resource allocation

and assessment of performance is focused on five main

operations.

Air freight: this segment is related to freight
forwarding by air.

this segment is related to freight
forwarding by seas.

Ocean freight:

this segment is related to provision
of warehousing services.

Logistics:

International express this segment is related to provision

and parcel: of time-define international
express and parcel services.
Others: this segment is related to freight
forwarding by land and trucking
services.

iz

WHEEERELABERS WA
%hﬁ#%ﬁ&$$lﬁmhﬂhw
m&¥m$ﬁgﬁm%k#2ﬂ”
R AEE WS Bﬁmﬁmiﬁ
JB 4 BRI N B 3B 1% & W) R SRR IE X
ZHNMBER BHEERXINZEER
Rt 1BiER - s &8l D 2 1B E R K
56 ©

RPERZHHR—RNI0BAEH -
PRERBZFROR—FUAR-ER
EAWBREEABISHRA AN D
%5%%*%&%%2%%%%$%
Ego

7 EHER
AEBRBEWUEIELERRE (B
ARBPITEE) E % 2 50 2 % [ 2

PR REETHEES S UM
DEDEE RN FHERE -

BRERSBERRBAFEMAAEEE
BEBEBRREZRNERETROE
TREET@E-

e o BEnEEERERRE-
5E Lo mERsFeEREAR-
iR : e BRI A IR 7S B A
BIgttRE o BRI TR
EBR: %%%@V@%ﬁﬁ
Hitr: Mo MEEDEERERE

BEBRGAER-

YTO International Express and Supply Chain Technology Limited Annual Report 2024



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE-_Z-_ME+_-_A=+—RHILEE

6.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(a) Segment revenue and results

Operating and reportable segments &2k 2H5

6. DIER (@m)
(a) DWW BZREE

Segment revenue

7 8 Wik

Segment results
2 WEE

2024 2023 2024 2023

Air freight (note i) T8 (fifiti)

Ocean freight (note j) GE (M)

Logistics (note ii) Wi (i)

International express and parcel BERRERBR
(note iii) (i)

Others (note i) Hit (Hfstiv)

Total B

Other income Hipe A

Other gains or losses HiofGmskEE

Unallocated corporate expenses AARABAX

Share of results of associates AN ES:

Share of results of joint ventures EhEEEER

Finance costs BEKA

Impairment loss on interests in REE SR RER
associates and joint ventures WEBE

(Loss)/profit before taxation bR 5 A1 i

Notes:

(i) Revenue from freight services, including air freight

and ocean freight, is recognised over time upon the
performance obligation is satisfied.

(i) Revenue from logistic services is recognised over time
for warehousing services.

(iii) Revenue from international express and parcel
services is recognised over time for time-define
international express and parcel services.

(iv) Other services is recognised over time for land and
trucking services.

it -

)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

el —CToCF Eebmilay —T--F
HKS$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FEL FET
(restate) (restate)

(HEZ)) (&)

3,272,682 2,632,299 34,178 91,974
834,815 647,630 33,883 21,000
81,024 70,225 2,005 (1,898)
1,039,072 1,802,463 180 81,134
94,889 138,993 6,570 22,022
5,322,482 5,291,610 76,816 214,232
21,646 27,998

6,736 3,756

(102,864) (111,994)

181 (75)

(13,480) 2,574

(2,434) (2,039)

(24,521) (13,000)

(37,920) 121,452
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6.

162

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

YTO International Express and Supply Chain Technology Limited

Segment revenue and results (continued)

The accounting policies of the reportable
segments are the same as the Group’'s accounting
policies described in note 3. Reportable segment
results represent the profit earned by each
segment without allocation of other income, other
gains or losses, share of results of associates,
share of results of joint ventures, unallocated
corporate expenses (including depreciation,
amortisation and impairment, etc.) and finance
costs.

Segment assets and liabilities

No analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities by
operating and reportable segments is disclosed as
it is not regularly provided to the chief operating
decision maker for review.

Geographical information

The Group’s revenue by geographical market
based on the location of operations:

R (HTEE)
=M (B aEii)
SRR F 28

BOM (B i)

The PRC (note i)

Northern America (note i)
Australia

Europe (note iii)

Other Asian regions (note jv) Bt Za M@ (4 itiv)
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Revenue from external customers

REINBEFE B W=
2024 2023
—ENF ZEZ=F
HK$’000 HK$000
FETT FET
4,427,331 4,517,743
171,067 148,155
175,280 145,869
32 -
548,772 479,843
5,322,482 5,291,610
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(c) Geographical information (continued)

Information about the Group’s specified non-
current assets by geographical market based on

location of assets:

The PRC (note i) R (B )
Northern America (note i) b EM (K aEin)
Australia SRR Fgm

Europe (note iii)
Other Asian regions (note iv)

Notes:

)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

BN (A i)

Included in the PRC segment are revenue from
Hong Kong amounting to HK$3,288,925,000 (2023:
HK$3,549,569,000) and non-current assets from
Hong Kong amounting to HK$34,132,000 (2023:
HK$36,335,000).

Northern America segment represents revenue and
non-current assets from the United States of America
(the "USA").

Europe segment represents revenue and non-current
assets from the Hungary for the year ended 31
December 2024.

Other Asian regions comprised countries which
generated revenue or with non-current assets that
is individually immaterial to the Group's revenue or
assets.

Specified non-current assets exclude interests in
associates, interests in joint ventures and deferred tax
assets.
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(c) HWEZER (&)
ERAAEEBREEMETHE o
MiEMENFEERSEE
&H:

2024 2023
—E_ME —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
F BT FET
60,838 52,058
9,159 15,493
8,760 7,859
27 -
2,957 5,937
81,741 81,347
B2t -
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(iii)

(iv)

(v)
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(d) Information about major customers

Revenue arising from air freight, ocean freight
and logistics services of HK$2,064,295,000
(2023: HK$2,289,779,000) arose from sales
to the Group’s largest customer. No other
single customers contributed over 10% of the
total revenue of the Group for both 2023 and
2024. The percentage of revenue of the Group
attributable to the largest customer is 38.8%
(2023: 43.3%).

OTHER INCOME

Interest revenue on bank deposits R 1T1F A F B U A

Rental income WA

Management fee income EEEE- N

IT service income B AR BR B A

Write back of long outstanding BERAREEREN
payables A

Government grants (note) BT+ BY (H7at)

Sundry income I A

Note: For the year ended 31 December 2024 and 31 December
2023, the government grants related to non-Hong Kong
government grants with immaterial individual balances.

2 EBE F (@)

(d)

FREXEREFHNESR

TEEE EERYRRER W
HEERNAEEREARFHEE
B 2 4 9 IR %52,064,295,00078
7T (ZEFE-=%:2,289,799,000
BL) T EBEME —TPLPR
:E:‘i& T — Y 4F 5 K
BB AEBBARTHI0O% °
%K@)EFETELKE@H&@E’JE
St A38.8% (T = =4
43.3% ) °

Ha g A
2024 2023
—E_NEF —E=F
HK$°000 HK$ 000
11,580 21,506
450 470
5,748 3,461
344 2,236
1,475 3
1,239 207
810 115
21,646 27,998

HaE

HE-_Z-_WNF+-A=+—HILF
ERZZZ=F+ZA=+—RHL#F
B B EEEERBRTMENAERE -
BAEZMMER &%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE-F-_N&E+-A=+—RHLFE

8. OTHER GAINS OR LOSSES 8. HiMBRmIEE
2024 2023
—E-NF T =%
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEWB ARG
(note 45(iv)) ( ﬁ/f;f45(/v)) 19,393 -
(Loss)/gain on disposal of property, HE®WE HE K&
plant and equipment = (E1E) /B& (59) 171

Gain on early termination of RARIEHESR LD
lease contracts B 85 354

Fair value changes of financial BATEGFABRZ
assets at FVTPL TREEZ
NTEEEY - 37
Fair value changes of investment WEMENFEES
properties (508) (277)
Net foreign exchange (loss)/gain SNE (BB) /BaF8E (10,963) 3,791
Others HAit (1,212) (320)
6,736 3,756
9. FINANCE COSTS 9. BMERL
2024 2023
—E-MF —ET-=
HK$°000 HK$000
FET FET
Interests on: Tﬁ'JXIEE'Jﬂ S,
- borrowings — RITEX 310 92
— lease liabilities — HEAaE 2,124 1,947
2,434 2,039
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRMWE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BHE-_Z-_ME+_-_A=+—RHILEE

10.

166

INCOME TAX EXPENSE 10. FRIBHAX

Current tax : BVHAR 1A
- Hong Kong Profits Tax — BABNEB
— Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT") — PEPEMSH
in the PRC ([EMBER])
— Other jurisdictions — HM el AR

(Over)/under provision in respect BEFE (BERE),/

of prior years BETR

- Hong Kong Profits Tax — BANIER

- EIT in the PRC — PECEMRAEH
— Other jurisdictions — BEfbalEkR

Withholding tax on dividend received 2 40% 8 #9780 F

Deferred taxation (note 35(b)) EIERIE (K 5#35(b))

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the
estimated assessable profits during both financial years.

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first
HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying group entity
will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million
will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group entities not
qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will
continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

2024 2023
—E-UE —ZE-=

HK$°000 HK$'000

FET FET

398 12,012

6,626 7,397

1,414 3,080

8,438 22,489

(371) (259)

(33) (10)

13 (519)

(391) (788)

= 949

8,047 22,650

(4,002) 2,334

4,045 24,984

EBNEGH TR EMBREE NG
FERR T % A 16.5% & -

RENGSHMAH SEREETR
B28 &7 70 M % 128.25% B - 2
BEBITIA B A B £16 5% H -
MEHRMEAH T T EREEER L
i M) o B 1R B — TR K 16.5% R -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE-_Z-_ME+_-_A=+—RHILEE

10.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

The directors of the Company considered the amount
involved upon implementation of the two-tiered profits
tax rates regime as insignificant to the consolidated
financial statements. Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated
at 16.5% of the estimated assessable profit for both
years.

Under the Law of the PRC on EIT (the “EIT Law") and
Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the PRC
subsidiaries of the Group is taxed at 25% for both
financial years.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the British
Virgin Islands (the “BVI") and the Cayman Islands, the
Group is not subject to any income tax in the BVI and
the Cayman Islands.

Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the
rates prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

Details of the deferred taxation are set out in note
35(b).

“ECNFFR EBEEBEREHEENEZERAF

10.

&S @

ARRBERR BiENE B
PrE RS BEREMBERRLES
RNEAER - B BN EHIZMEFENG

REFECEMEBHREA([EEMRT
BOED REERESTOEEBGD - A
5 B 1 o B Y B 2 ) 0 E B B R
NIFHZ25% B T KA T -
RELABREZES ([RBEZES])
EASBEENHARRG  AEEE
RERZHERHAEREBARME
BTN

£ H A RAHE R E A W TR IR IR AH BE 7
EEBRABRITHEGTE-

BT IR B RE IS B M 7E35(b) e
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10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 10. FAEHMAX @
N ALAAAAANAL
A Income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to A BT 45 B0 5 32 B BR B AT i B B9 E BR
the profit before taxation as follows: T
2024 2023
—EF —E-=
HK$'000 HK$°000
FET FET
(Loss)/profit before taxation BR&IAT (E518) s F (37,920) 121,452
Tax at the Hong Kong Profits Tax Z16.5% 8 BB FER
rate of 16.5% (2023: 16.5%) BB (ZT_=F:
16.5% ) (6,257) 20,040
Tax effect of expenses not TR FAZ HY
deductible for tax purposes kiS4 5,143 3,620
Tax effect of income not taxable BERTWA R
for tax purposes WG (1,862) (3,881)
Tax effect of share of JE(REEE NRIEER
results of associates MG E (30) 12
Tax effect of share of results of BhagdhEEEN
joint ventures ki34 2,224 (425)
Tax effect of tax losses RERTIAE BN
not recognised M 1,001 802
Utilisation of tax losses previously {8 B LATE R HERR
not recognised s EE (1,080) (4,758)
Over provision in respect of BEFEBERG
prior years (391) (788)
Effect of different tax rates of group K& B AN E#E R
entities operating in jurisdictions KENEBERT X
other than Hong Kong TRMEE 5,472 9,723
Reversal of withholding tax on RO RBFTENT
undistributed earnings £l (259) (516)
Withholding tax on dividend B B R TE
received - 949
Others Hh 84 206
Income tax expense for the year FRBRAXZ 4,045 24,984




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AU BRKRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
HEZZ-_MF+-_A=+—RHLEFE

11. (LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 1. FR (FFE) ER

2024 2023
—ZE_E —_E_=

HK$°000 HK$000

FETT FET

(Loss)/profit for the year has been G R (EE) & F

arrived at after charging Bk, (FFA)
(crediting): T &R
Auditors’ remuneration % 2 Em B 5,947 5,813
Depreciation of property, ME BERREBERTE
plant and equipment 6,947 6,627
Depreciation of right-of-use assets R EETE 26,897 25,753
Amortisation of intangible assets | EEHH
(included in administrative (FFATTERRA )
expenses) 1,615 1,663
Net impairment loss recognised RHEEEBEERET
under expected credit loss model  FEFR YR (E B 18 F 58 12,877 3,036
Staff costs BTHRA
Directors’ emoluments (note 12) BEWE (HiE12) 5,190 6,246
Other staff costs Eih 8 TR~
Staff costs excluding retirement TR R KR K
benefit contributions EOJ=N %N 236,065 241,710
Retirement benefit contributions RRER R 22,043 26,168
Equity-settled share-based payment JARK#E 4 & 2 LARR (D
RERR R 967 2,161
Total staff costs BTRAMETE 264,265 276,285
Gross rental income from HEYEHE S WAEBER
investment properties 262 270
Less: outgoings incurred which B EEHESWAK
generated rental income BEBETH (51) (56)

211 214
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE-_E-_WE+-—_A=+—HIEE

12.

170

DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND
EMPLOYEES’' EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section
383(1) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and
Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information
about Benefits of Directors) Regulation are as follows:

Year ended 31 December 2024

12. EE THERREEMS

ESRITHRARME

RIBEEE D RERBPIZE383(1) &KL QR
(BREEENDER) RO F2m W 5E
MEEMEWT:

BE-_Z_NE+-A=+—HLEEE

Basic Performance Equity-settled Retirement
Directors’  salaries and bonus share-based benefit
fees allowances (note j) payment  contributions Total
URELEE
EXHER EMAA AN P
Name of director EEnP E=He =41 ( ERNAR BARAMR @t
HKS$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$ 000
FE7 FE7 FET FE7 FET
Executive directors HITER
Mr. Yang Xinwei BRERE - 1,972 - - 18 1,990
Mr. Sun Jian (note if) BEEE (Witi) - 887 - - 119 1,006
Mr. Zhou Jian (note iif) BRRE (W) - 1,496 - - 98 1,594
Non-executive directors FHTES
Mr. Yu Huijiao BEREE - - - - - -
Mr. Pan Shuimiao BKERE - - - - - -
Ms. Wang Lixiu TEEFLT - - - - - -
Mr. Su Xiufeng BEREE - - - - - -
Independent non-executive BIFHTES
directors
Mr. Li Donghui TRBRE 200 - - - - 200
Mr. Xu Junmin REREE 200 - - - - 200
Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John  EER %4 200 - - - - 200
600 4,355 - - 235 5,190
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE-_Z-_ME+_-_A=+—RHILEE

12. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND 12. EE - THHEBREEM S @)
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (continued)

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments EERITHAZMS (40
(continued)
Year ended 31 December 2023 BE-ZE-=F+-A=+t—HLEE
Basic  Performance  Equity-settled Retirement
Directors' salaries and bonus share-based benefit
fees allowances (note i) payment contributions Total
NREEE
EXEER By ZHRD A
Name of director ESps EENe i (Hiiti) EReRT  RARMER @t
HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FET FET FET FET FET
Executive directors HITES
Mr. Yang Xinwei BERERE - 1,994 - - 6 2,000
Mr. Huang Yifeng ERERE - 827 - - 12 839
Mr. Sun Jian BErA - 1,431 50 1,160 166 2,807
Non-executive directors FHTES
Mr. Yu Huijiao WEREE - - - - - -
Mr. Pan Shuimiao EKERE - - - - - -
Ms. Wang Lixiu TEALT - - - - - -
Mr. Su Xiufeng BABEE - - - - - -
Independent non-executive BIFHTES
directors
Mr. Li Donghui FREBRE 200 - - - - 200
Mr. Xu Junmin BERLE 200 - - - - 200
Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John BEREE 200 - - - - 200
600 4,252 50 1,160 184 6,246
Note i:  The amounts are discretionary bonus which are Wi HEBEAREARBEENRIEE
determined based on individual performance. FARD
Note ji:  The director was resigned on 28 March 2024. Wieti: ZESFR_Z_HF=A=+/\H
BT -
Note jii: The director was appointed on 28 March 2024 as Wiatii - ZESEHR_Z-_WF=A=+/\AH
executive director. BEZEARTES-

“E_NFEFHR EBEERNEHEEREERLIE 1M
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BHE-_Z-_ME+_-_A=+—RHILEE

12.

172

DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (continued)

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
(continued)

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were
for their services in connection with management of the
affairs of the Company and the Group. The emoluments
of the non-executive directors and independent non-
executive directors shown above were for their services
as directors of the Company.

Five highest paid individuals

The five highest paid individuals included 2 directors
(2023: two directors) whose emoluments were included
in the disclosure above. The emoluments of the
remaining 3 highest paid individuals (2023: three) for
the year ended 31 December 2024 are as follows:

Employees (==
— basic salaries and allowances — EARH & RERL
- performance bonus — BRI
- equity-settled share-based — URELEE A
payment I 10 3 A Y
(NEA
— retirement benefit contributions  — EREFH R

12. EE THARBRKREEMNE @

EERTHAZME (@0

EXFHTRATEEME IR ESFHA
RAEAIRAEEEHEREMRZ RE M
Xfte EXFIRERMITE S RBIIF
WITEEME I REEETARAE
ERUERB AT -

TEREHFAL

AR FATRE KBS (2%
—ZHF MBES) HEHMEEREX
BE-#E_FT_NF+_A=+—
BEFE #T=% (22 =_=F:=
BIREBHFATHHESHOT

2024 2023
—E-WEF —ET-=

HK$000 HK$'000

FET FE T

4,180 4,109

126 395

102 231

157 356

4,565 5,091
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REMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE-_Z-_ME+_-_A=+—RHILEE

12. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND 12. EE - THREAIZREEM S &)
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (continued)
Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments BEERTHAZMNE (80

(continued)
Five highest paid individuals (continued)
Their emoluments were within the following bands:

2024
—E-mEF
No. of

employees

EESAH

HK$1,000,000 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,000/ T ZE

1,500,000/ 7T 2
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 L=

2,000,000/ 7T 1
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 7T %

2,500,000/ 7T -

EEESHAL (8
mENMENF THNEE:

employees

ESAZ

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 31
December 2023, no emoluments were paid by the
Group to the directors of the Company or the five
highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or
upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of

office.
13. DIVIDEND 13. RE
2024
—E-mEF
HK$000
FET
Final dividend for the year HE—_Z-_=%+—-A
ended 31 December 2023 =+—HLEFED
of HK2.3 cents NEANR B FhR2. 3L
(2022: HK3.3 cents) per share T F:3.3810) 9,664

2023

HK$'000
FET

13,866

A final dividend in respect of the year ended 31
December 2023 of HK2.3 cents per share, in an
aggregate amount of HK$9,664,000 has been approved
by the shareholders in 7 June 2024.

No dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December

2024 has been proposed by the directors of the
Company.

ZEZNEFR

ARBEEABMRERBEE_ZT =
+—A=Zt+—BUEFEZRERE2.
Al A 3519,664,0008 0 IRE D7
—E-NFENAEHBE

EEREREHEEMNEBERAT

REE-_ZT-_NF+-_A=+—HK
T E =+ -_A=1+—HItFEE"
AREBTERARARESRAERS
FALTINEE EAE AR
AREB R EE  SIEABIREE-

w i

2

NREEERAREE T _MF+ A
=t+—HNFERHKE -
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE-FT-_HNE+-A=+—RHLFE

14.

15.

174

(LOSSES)/EARNINGS PER SHARE

(Losses)/earnings (EBE) BA
(Losses)/earnings for the purposes
of basic and diluted (losses)/
earnings per share ((loss)/profit for

the year attributable to equity

Z (E18) /B

(RRARIERBE

14.

M EEREALEE
(EB#H) /" BHNAE K

shareholders of the Company) EEFERN (BE),/
yink D)
Number of shares g 4=
Weighted average number of Est‘+**’_ﬂx§$&?§ﬁ/§
ordinary shares for the purpose BNAEN LR
of basic and diluted earnings hnkEFa 8

per share

The weighted average number of ordinary shares for the
purpose of basic earnings per share has been adjusted
for the shares purchased under share award plan as set
out in note 42.

Diluted earnings per share equaled basic earnings
per share for the year ended 31 December 2024 and
2023 because the dilutive potential ordinary shares
outstanding were anti-dilutive.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The Group leases out various offices premises under
operating leases with rentals payable monthly. The
leases typically run for an initial period of 1 year to 2
years.

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as
a result of the lease arrangements, as all leases are
denominated in the respective functional currencies of
group entity. The lease contracts do not contain residual
value guarantee and lessee’s option to purchase the
property at the end of lease term.

15.

SR (EE) &2F
2024 2023
—E_NF —E-=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
(40,774) 96,775

2024
—E-NUE —E-=F

2023

417,990,000 417,990,000
5t BB R E AN A I ) I R 0 AE 1

HEEHRERNZBFIBEOK
I VEL AR - aNE EE42P7 4

MRBTENNBERELBRAR
&% RIE Wﬁﬁ_v_@¢+_
A=Z+—BLFEER-_FT_=F+=
A=Z+—BLEEZEREFRHN MR
BREARFER -

REMHE

AREREEHEENESHRAYE
MeARAXN -ZEHEBTENS
HER—FEMF-

AEE N EFNBE 2B E S IMNERKR

BERRMAMES N EERES AN
DeEERE ZFHEANLTE
ERGEEERIARARERE

RHMEEEE-
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

At the beginning of the year RF )

Fair value changes recognised RiE s AR
in profit or loss REEES

Exchange realignment ME 3, 8 B

At the end of the year REFER

The Group’s investment properties are all situated
outside of Hong Kong as at 31 December 2024 and
31 December 2023. The fair value of these investment
properties have been arrived at on the basis of a
valuation carried out on the respective dates by RHL
Appraisal Limited, an independent qualified professional
valuer not connected with the Group. The directors
of RHL Appraisal Limited are members of the Hong
Kong Institute of Surveyors, and they have appropriate
qualifications and recent experience in the valuation of
properties in the relevant locations. The fair values of
the investment properties were determined by using the
direct comparison approach with reference to the recent
transaction prices for similar properties as available,
adjusted for differences in the nature, location and
conditions of the subject properties. There has been no
change to the valuation technique during the year.

In estimating the fair value of the investment properties,
the highest and best use of the investment properties
is their current use. Key unobservable inputs used in
valuing the investment properties were premium or
discount which the valuer applied to those transaction
prices to take into account some key characteristics of
the asset which is being valued being better or worse
than the asset that was actually sold recently. An
increase in the property age would result in a decrease
in the fair value measurement of the investment
properties, and vice versa. An increase in adjusted
transaction prices subject to property size and property
floor level would result in an increase in the fair value
measurement of the investment properties, and vice
versa.

The fair value hierarchy of these investment properties
is categorised into level 3 and there were no transfers
into or out of Level 3 during the year.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

15. REWE @)

2024 2023
—E_NF —ET-=
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET
5,051 5,393
(508) (277)
(126) (65)
4,417 5,051

%

—E-_NE+_A=+—HEZZ
—=F T A=+ —H AEEHENEK
EMEHMNRBEBRIIN -ZEHRED
ENAFEDREREANE E B ERHE
B & EREEGEMXFITHE
BEARARRSBHTETHEE
MmEH - XKFITHEEBER QRN
ExTATENEMmEees A%S
HEERKIBRABMRETYE
HENKER - REMELIFEDIKLR
ENESHEUMENOEZZERIU
BERLEBLAET WIREMNYELEN
TR ENEERAE-FA
HEFRMIEES) -

REAREMENRFEE RKEY
ENERRAgAERS ARERE-
REEWMEBETFEANERIFTL
B ABUR R BB MBS
EREEXBRERANZEIRZERNU
EELWFAEEENE THRAREER
BERHEECRNOIHRERHNENEE -
BREMATEHRENEAFEHFE
WD RZIR-BEFHERE LD
EBEMENKABISEN LS
EYREMENRATEFELF R
Z IR

REREMENATERRRRERSE
=R FABERFE=ABALEL -
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BHE-_Z-_ME+_-_A=+—RHILEE

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

176

COST OR VALUATION
At 1 January 2023
Additions

Revaluation

Disposals

Exchange realignment

At 31 December 2023 and
1 January 2024

Additions

Revaluation

Disposals

Disposal of subsidiaries

Exchange realignment

At 31 December 2024

Comprising:
31 December 2024
At cost
At valuation

Comprising:
31 December 2023
At cost
At valuation

16. ME BEERE

Leasehold Furniture
landand  Computer and Leasehold Motor  Machinery
buildings  equipment  equipment improvements  vehicles equipment Total
BETHE
BT  BMRE GAREE RELE RE BERE o
HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000 HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000
FET FEr FET FEr  FEr FEr  FEr
RASEE
R-B-=%-f-8 18,703 38,272 12,532 16,022 4,766 - 90295
RE - 1,180 1,011 1,350 1,187 - 4728
Bt (686) - - - - - (686)
e - (3,803) (1,887) 2,270 (1,049) - (9,011
EiAE (229) 23 163 (74) (672) - (589)
RZZZ=F+-A=+-RAk
—T-mE-F-A 17,788 35,872 11,819 15,026 4232 -V NEN
RE - 2,409 5,536 1,888 1,897 504 12,234
Bt (1,976) - - - - - (1,976)
HE - (1,131) (203) - (86) - (1,420)
RETAA - (158) (4,277) - (1217 - (565
B RE (445) (306) 2 (561) (81) 9 (1,378)
R-Z-m&
+-A=t+-8 15,367 36,686 12,899 16,353 4,745 495 86,545
BE:
“E-MET-A=+-H
BARE - 36,686 12,899 16,353 4,745 495 71,178
R E 15,367 - - - - - 15367
15,367 36,686 12,899 16,353 4,745 495 86,545
BE:
L =k
R - 35,872 11,819 15,026 4232 - 66,949
RIGER 17,788 - - - - - 17,788
17,788 35,872 11,819 15,026 4232 - 8737
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REMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE-_Z-_ME+_-_A=+—RHILEE

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

16. ¥ HWERFZE @

(continued)
Leasehold Furniture
landand  Computer and Leasehold Motor  Machinery
buildings  equipment  equipment improvements  vehicles equipment Total
HELHER
ERRE BAR%EE HEHE RE  BERE b
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS000  HK$'000 HKS000  HK$'000
TET THET FEr  TEr FEr  TEr
DEPRECIATION e
At 1 January 2023 W-ZE-=%-A—-H 31,931 10,538 12,220 3223 - 57,912
Charge for the year FRz 2370 831 2,244 561 - 6,627
Elimination on revaluation E/HEHKH - - - - - (621)
Eliminated on disposals ~ HEEEKH (3,801) (1,884) (2,231) (752) - (8,668)
Exchange realignment B X HE (1,120) (352) 584 600 - (288)
At 31 December 2023 and R-ZE-ZF+-A=1+—BkK
1 January 2024 “Z-mE-F-H 29,380 9,133 12,817 3,632 - 54,962
Charge for the year FRzE 2,101 1436 2,153 697 13 6,947
Elimination on revaluation 2 {54 8 - - - - - (547)
Eliminated on disposals ~ th& B4 3 (1,032) (202) = (86) - (1320
On disposal of subsidiaries J&Z ¥/ 7] (30) (661) - (136) - (827)
Exchange realignment B X HE (239) (25) (80) (77 - (421)
At31 December 2024 R=ZF=ME+=A=+-A 30,180 9,681 14890 4030 13 58794
CARRYING VALUES REE
At31December 2024 ~ RZZ-MEF-A=+—H 6,506 3218 1,463 715 482 27,751
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=5+-fA=+-AH 6,492 2,686 2,209 600 - 29,775

The above items of property, plant and equipment are
depreciated using the straight-line method after taking
into account of their estimated residual values at the

following rates per annum:

Leasehold land and buildings
Computer equipment
Furniture and equipment
Leasehold improvements

20%-33"5%
20%-33":5%

Motor vehicles 20%
Machinery equipment 10%

Over the term of the lease

5 years or over the term of
the lease if shorter

biimE -BERRERB & EHE
At R BER L EREZIA T ER

R E

et RET RS E
BB 20%%33:%
ERREE 20%%E331;%
HEHE 54F sk % 7 21

(B EBE)

R 20%

R 10%
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16.

178

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(continued)

Fair value measurement of the Group’s
leasehold land and buildings

The Group’s leasehold land and buildings were valued
on 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023 by RHL
Appraisal Limited, an independent qualified professional
valuer not connected with the Group. The directors
of RHL Appraisal Limited are members of the Hong
Kong Institute of Surveyors, and they have appropriate
qualifications and recent experience in the valuation of
properties in the relevant locations. The fair values of
the leasehold land and buildings were determined by
using the direct comparison approach with reference
to the recent transaction prices for similar properties as
available adjusted for differences in the nature, location
and conditions of the subject properties. There has been
no change to the valuation technique during the year.

All leasehold land and buildings are situated in the PRC.

In estimating the fair value of the leasehold land and
buildings, the highest and best use of the leasehold
land and buildings is their current use.

Key unobservable inputs used in valuing the leasehold
land and buildings were premium or discount which the
valuer applied to those transaction prices to take into
account some key characteristics of the asset which
is being valued being better or worse than the asset
that was actually sold recently. An increase in adjusted
transaction prices subject to property size and property
floor level would result in an increase in the fair value
measurement of the investment properties, and vice
versa.

The fair value hierarchy of these leasehold land and
buildings is categorised into level 3 and there were no
transfers into or out of Level 3 during the year.

16.

ME- -BENRSZE @
AEFHEITHREFHNAEE
frE

AEEHEE L MEBFOMBERER
SEMERENBYUSEARERME
BKMTHEERBERARAR-ZE
“HEF A=+ —HR=-FT_=F
TZA=+—HET KMITFHER
RERARMEELSETBNEMBES
2B HBEAEEERIORNNER
WEETHERGEENLR -HE L
EREFRFEDESENRERSELUY
FNERRZBUEBRLBEEE
WiIRFOMERELE 3 MR b
g%%ﬁ%@ﬁwﬁ@&ﬁﬁﬁ@

PREREL W RBFHMRFE-
REFHEHE L RETOHRFER

HETHREFNENAEZAERS
RERERE-

REE L3RBT ESE RS
TABREARERGEMERER
ZERERANAZEERLERFEEENE
TIERBESERIERNTHER
HEMNEEMNGEXERSE R T
MEBBELMEEEMENLHER
SBEHLEABERRENENRFE
AELEA - RZIA-

ZEHETHEBTFHORFEERR
BRE=-F FAMERE=REA
o
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REMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE-_Z-_ME+_-_A=+—RHILEE

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16.

17.

(continued)

Fair value measurement of the Group’s
leasehold land and buildings (continued)

If leasehold land and buildings of the Group had not
been revalued, they would have been included on a
historical cost basis at the following amounts:

Cost

Accumulated depreciation

Carrying value

DN
REE

AREE

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

As at 1 January 2023
Carrying amount

As at 1 January 2024
Carrying amount

As at 31 December 2024

Carrying amount

For the year ended
31 December 2023
Depreciation charge

For the year ended
31 December 2024
Depreciation charge

R-EB-=%—H—H
FEEE

R-ZBE-_NE—-HF—H
BREE
R-ZT-WF

+=A=+—8
A

BE-Z-=fF

+=-A=+—-BHLEE

WEER
BE-—Z_MF

TZA=+t—-HLFE

FEER

—ENFFHR BEEBREREEMKBERAT

— = —

ME- -BENSZE @

rEBHELHREFHNOTE

TE (#)

MARENHEEL W REFI BB

AE S BERREELATIEEA

2024 2023

—B-EF —T=F

HK$°000 HK$°000

FET TFET

12,131 12,131
(5.227) (4,881)

6,904 7,250

17. ERAEEE
Land and Computer Motor

buildings  equipment vehicles Total
THREF BERRE RE B
HK3$°000 HK3$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
FET FET FET FET
36,982 1,123 100 38,205
37,245 1,115 55 38,415
33,830 830 13 34,673
25,406 306 41 25,753
26,570 285 42 26,897
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17.

180

—E-_NE+-_A=1+—HIFE

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

Expense relating to
short-term leases

Expense relating to leases of HEEBEAERSE

low-value assets, excluding

short-term leases of

low value assets

Total cash outflow for leases HMERS KL BRE
Additions to right-of-use assets  RINEfFAEELE

For both years, the Group leases various land and
buildings, computer equipment and motor vehicles for
its operations. Lease contracts are entered into for fixed
term of 1 to 5 years, 1 to 4 years and 1 to 5 years.
Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions.
In determining the lease term and assessing the length
of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies the
definition of a contract and determines the period for
which the contract is enforceable.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and
the lease term.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for
land and buildings, computer equipment, furniture
& fixture and motor vehicles and leases of low-value
assets for computer equipment and furniture & fixture.
As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the portfolio of
short-term leases is similar to the portfolio of short-term
leases to which the short-term lease expense disclosed
above.

In addition, the Group reassesses whether it is
reasonably certain to exercise an extension option,
or not to exercise a termination option, upon the
occurrence of either a significant event or a significant
change in circumstances that is within the control of
the lessee. During the year ended 31 December 2024
and 2023, there is no such triggering event.

HIGHIHE B MR X

(TEEEREEEE
MEEE)EENFAX

17. FRAEEE

2024 2023
—E_NF —ZE-=

HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
11,597 8,785
441 363
38,503 36,170
28,950 31,009

RAEFEAN REERETEENR
EZELTIHREF BREHEURA
B-HEGHNE—E2RF - —2NF
E—ZhFEWETHR vV -HERK
RORENEEHE T BREHEEZ
B A [R] 6 3% B2 16 1 o 72 7% E 1H B KR AT
A HERARARER NEBER
BRANERWET AL PR EIHNITH
B o

ERREERBERENEMBE A ER
FHLRHER (AREER/E)AGIR
eE-

AEBTEHMH L RIET  BHERME -
FEMEEBERAEIVEHHEE I
MEMBEEARRBEEEIT LK
EBEELEEME- NS _MFR_-Z
=+ -_A=Z+—HB -EHAE4R
AHEFXFENEHHEHERASINEEH
HEHAAEL -

(13N e o=y =S I @ (= N
HEANBRBEAEENELE  N&E
BEes¥fTIERCAERETHEL
BB NITERIEEERE - NE
E-_F_NNFEFRZTE-_=ZF+=-A
—t+—BLFE BEEBEEREMN-
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE-F-_N&E+-A=+—RHLFE

17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

In addition, lease liabilities of HK$37,297,000 (2022:
HK$39,996,000) are recognised with related right-of-
use assets of HK$34,673,000 as at 31 December 2023
(2022: HK$38,415,000). The lease agreements do not
impose any covenants other than the security interests
in the leased assets that are held by the lessor. Leased
assets may not be used as security for borrowing
purposes.

The Group derecognised right-of-use as sets of
HK$370,000 (2023: HK$3,470,000) and lease liabilities
of HK$456,000 (2023: HK$3,824,000) because of early
termination of lease contracts.

Details of the lease maturity analysis of lease liabilities
are set out in notes 32 and 38(b)(iii).

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023, the Group received rent concessions of nil and
HK$86,000 respectively in the form of a discount on
fixed payments due to severe social distancing and
travel restriction measures introduced to contain the
spread of COVID-19.

17. FAHEEE @

Wi R—_E-_=mWE+-_A=+—
B - #%REEAE37,297,0008 T
(_7__¢ 39996000,’%%)5@*@
a1 A B AE34,673,0008 T (=
— =%:38,415,000&0) - T E =
WAEHHAAFENHEEEFHIE
REZENTANZHE - HEEETHE
BIEEEER-

HRFEREEE370,0008
T — = :3,470,000/% 7T
B 15456,0008 T (=&
3,824,000 7T ) °

AEBEEEAMKLERESDHME L
(=
=

IIV
[1] =

HEaEMmEENHSMHFEBIR
M 5532 X&38(b)(iii) °

REE T _WEAR_ZT_=ZF+=
A=+ HIEFE AREENUKEREHN
FAMABRSE T IERRIKITR
5| #E 38 DA 38 HI COVID- 193 81 B 4 1Y
BENZIBNERTHEERE &
86,0008 T °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
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18.

182

GOODWILL 18. HE
Step
acquisition of
On Time
Worldwide
Acquisition of Logistics Ltd.
Best Loader HK ("OT Korea”) Total
bl A=Y
On Time
Worldwide
Wi  Logistics Ltd.
Best Loader HK ([ OT Korea ]) wat
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET Fi&T FET
cosT EZS
At 1 January 2023 R-_E-_=F—H—H 145 511 656
Exchange realignment ME XA - (11) (11)
At 31 December 2023 and RZE_=F+-_A=+—8BxK
1 January 2024 —ET-WE—-—A—H 145 500 645
Exchange realignment ME 5 5 % - (49) (49)
At 31 December 2024 RZZEZNEF+=-A=+—H 145 451 596
IMPAIRMENT BAE
At 1 January 2023, RZTEZ=F—HF—H8"
31 December 2023 and —ET-=%+-A=+—8BK
31 December 2024 —E-WFE+=-_A=+—H 145 - 145
CARRYING VALUES FREE
At 31 December 2024 R-ZE-_NF+-A=+—H - 451 451
At 31 December 2023 R-TE-_=%+-A=+—8 - 500 500
(i) Best Loader Logistics Company Limited (“Best (i) Best Loader Logistics Company
Loader HK") ceased its businesses since early Limited ([Best Loader HK 1) B
2020. TR FRRIEEER-
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REMBHRERMEE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
HEZZ-_MF+-_A=+—RHLEFE

19. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 19. BEEE
Development Customer
cost lists Trademarks Total
BERA EFRE [ st
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
COST RA
At 1 January 2023 R_E-_=F—H—H - 8,110 9,369 17,479
Additions g 4,623 - - 4,623
Exchange realignment fE 5 % (1) 13 - 12
At 31 December 2023 and R-E-=F
1 January 2024 +ZA=+—Hk
—E-_mE—-A—H 4,622 8,123 9,369 22,114
Additions g 8,808 - - 8,808
Exchange realignment I (115) (347) - (462)
At 31 December 2024 RZZZMF
+-A=+-8 13,315 7,776 9,369 30,460
AMORTISATION AND BHERREE
IMPAIRMENT
At 1 January 2023 R_E-_=F—H—H - 5,373 7,987 13,360
Charge for the year FAZH 68 660 935 1,663
Exchange realignment fE 5 % 1 (516) - (515)
At 31 December 2023 and PN ——
1 January 2024 +ZA=+—Hk
—E-_m&E-—-A—H 69 5,517 8,922 14,508
Charge for the year FERZH 563 623 429 1,615
Exchange realignment I (1 (111) - (112)
At 31 December 2024 R-ZEB_MF
+=-A=+—8 631 6,029 9,351 16,011
CARRYING VALUES REA
At 31 December 2024 RZE-_MF
+-R=+—H 12,684 1,747 18 14,449
At 31 December 2023 RZZEZ=F
+-A=+—H 4,553 2,606 447 7,606
Intangible assets with finite useful lives represent the AEAFHERNBEEZEAERER,A
carrying amounts of the customer lists, trademarks and EWREE EERMAEKAR-

development cost.
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19.

20.

184

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

The above intangible assets are amortised using the
straight-line method at the following rates per annum:

Development cost 10%-20%
Customer lists 162/;%—-20%
Trademarks 10%

Estimated useful lives of the customer lists and
trademarks have been determined by management of
the Company according to the industrial experiences
over the revenue expectation and also by reference to
the relevant industrial norm.

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

Cost of investments, unlisted REKAK FEET
Share of post-acquisition profits FEAE W 15205 T 2
and other comprehensive Hib2mEmKRA

income, net of dividends received (MMBE W SE)
Impairment loss recognised EERREEE

19

20.

. BREE @)

E A A T R E R R A T
FI R4

A 8% Ak AN 10%-20%
XEPEE 16%,%-20%
ER 10%

EPRERBEENMEAERFHE
BADAEEEREMGRENITE
RERIME2EHRBIOTXENERERE -

REEDNTWEDR
2024 2023
—E-ME —FT-=

HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET

1,367 1,367

2,926 2,518

(2,159) (448)

2,134 3,437
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REMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE-_Z-_ME+_-_A=+—RHILEE

20.

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

Particulars of associates at 31 December 2024 and
31 December 2023 are as follows:

Name of entity

BHEEHE

Fashion Care Logistics B.V.

On Time Worldwide Logistics Limited

On Time Worldwide Logistics L.L.C.

On Time Worldwide International Cargo
Services L.L.C.

On Time Worldwide Logistics (Private)
Limited

Place/country of
incorporation/
operation
EREL/
FEwy /A%

The Netherlands
HH#

Bangladesh
M E

The United Arab Emirates
A RE A B RE

The United Arab Emirates

P AE A B RE
Sri Lanka
HEHF

“ECNFFR EBEEBEREHEENEZERAF

Class of issued
capital shares
2R
B

Ordinary
LEk
Ordinary
e

Ordinary
el

Ordinary

Ordinary

REEQXATNES (@

RZE-_N&F+_A=+—HEK_E
=+ A=+ —HBHEERQARNHF

IGRUNNE

Proportion of
nominal value of
interest held

by the Company
ERAEAREN
EE LA
2024 2023
ZECNE it
16.7% 16.7%
49% 49%
49% 49%
49% 49%
40% 40%

Principal activities

TREHR

Inactive

EEEY

Provision of freight
forwarding services

RESERERS

Provision of freight
forwarding services

RESERERS

Provision of freight

forward services
RESERERE
Provision of freight

forwarding services

REGERERY
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20.

186

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

Aggregate financial information of associates
that are not individually material:

The Group's share of results of PN ey /N
associates E5

The Group's share of other REBEREEMEE
comprehensive income Wz

The Group's share of total REBEEE2EKRA
comprehensive income #agE

Aggregate carrying amount of the 752 E B & A 7
Group's interests in associates B REAE

Unrecognised share of losses of associates

The unrecognised share of losses of 4F [ 2k i 32 i {5 B 4
associates for the year NAEBE

Reversal of unrecognised share of B [EBE FE RERH

losses in previous years FEAL B 18

Cumulative unrecognised share of  F R KR BT ELL
losses of associates for the year RN =]

REEQATWEDS @

BERFERBEATNTBER
#EE

2024 2023
“E-UEF —FT-=

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

181 (75)

227 157

408 82

2,134 3,437

ABERELBEENTEIR

2024 2023
—E_NEF —F-=

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

(952) (1,486)

270 1,222
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REMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE-F-_N&E+-A=+—RHLFE

21. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES

2023
“ENEF —_T_=%F
HK$'000 HK$000
FET TET
Cost of investments, unlisted WEKAFEE™ = 53,819
Share of post-acquisition profits JE 1 W 12 0 A1) 2
and other comprehensive income, — Efth &MU A
net of dividends received (MBREKRE) - (3,663)
Impairment loss on interests in RE2ERREEE
joint ventures - (13,000)
- 37,156
Particulars of the joint ventures at 31 December 2024 RZZE_WNF+ZRA=+—BEKZZ
and 31 December 2023 are as follows: __¢‘|' A=+—HM&aEDHEF
BT
Proportion of
Place/country of nominal value of
incorporation/ Class of issued interest held
Name of entity operation capital shares by the Company Principal activities
EMRL, APRABEERN
BEEE mend BR CRTREER T {8 Lb A TEER
2024 2023
CECNF
OTX Logistics Holland The Netherlands Ordinary 0% 50% Provision of freight forwarding
i B TmR services and investment holding

RUEERBRERREZR

OTX Solutions Holland The Netherlands Ordinary 0% 50% Provision of freight
i B BB forwarding services

R{EERERY

Westpoort Recon B.V. The Netherlands Ordinary 0% 50% Provision of freight
Gl TmR forwarding services

REFERBERS

OTX Trade Services B.V. The Netherlands Ordinary 0% 50% Provision of freight
Gl | Tmk forwarding services

REBERERE
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21. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued) 21.

At 30 June 2024, the Group performed the impairment
assessment over the interests in joint ventures,
given the continuous losses from ordinary operation
recorded by the joint ventures, the Group recognised
HK$22,810,000 impairment loss on interests in joint
ventures (2023: HK$13,000,000).

On 6 August 2024, Jumbo Channel Limited (“Jumbo”),
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
and Uniserve Holdings Limited (“Uniserve”) entered
into a share purchase agreement, in relation to t he
transfer of 50% shares of the Company’s joint venture
company, OTX Logistics B.V., from Jumbo to Uniserve at
a consideration of Euro 1. The transaction completed in
August 2024.

Aggregate financial information of the joint ventures
that are not individually material:

The Group's share of results of REBREEEDRE
joint ventures ES5

The Group's share of REBEEEMEER
other comprehensive income e

The Group's share of AEEEEE2E
total comprehensive income WA 458

Impairment loss on interests in REeLdtENREEE
joint ventures

Aggregate carrying amount of AEERGEDEER
the Group's interests in KER BB

joint ventures

188

REELENER (@

HZE2024F6 8308 AEBHAZE D
EMESETTRENGE - EREE
TEBEHBREERELHNEER K
£ B R 722,810,000 THE LR
¥ HERRORE 1R 5 (20234 1 13,000,000
BIT) °

RZZE-_WNFNANHE ARQRHEE
2 & ¥ A flJumbo Channel Limited
([Jumbo ] ) MUniserve Holdings
Limited ([Uniserve | ) gt JA 1B 7T &89
HEKARRAEEE R AOTX Logistics
B.V.50% MW R M #Jumbo®E ;& 4
Uniserve— E &5 TRMDEEH T - %
TEMN_E_MNENATK-

BRZEEREELENMBER AR

2024 2023
—E-UE —ZT-=
HK$'000 HK$000
FET FET
(13,480) 2,574
(866) 1,099
(14,346) 3,673
(22,810) (13,000)
= 37,156
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Trade receivables

Less: allowance for expected credit

losses

22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES,
DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS

g 5 WERE
BRI

As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing
analysis of trade receivables, based on the invoice date

and net of loss allowance, is as follows:

0-30 days
31-60 days
61-90 days
91-180 days
181-365 days
Over 365 days

£30K
31E260K
61F290K
91£180K
181E365K
HRIA365K

Trade receivables are due within 30-60 days from the
date of billing. Further details on the Group’s credit
policy and credit risk arising from trade receivables are

set out in note 38(b)(ii).

ZEIMEFR

22.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE-F-_N&E+-A=+—RHLFE

EZREMBRARIE BTN
REMNKE
2023
HK$'000 __i§§ib0
FAET TET
755,305 1,055,894
(21,146) (11,039)
734,159 1,044,855
RERSHEAR REZEAHNES

YRGB EEBERERE DN

5T
2024 2023
—E_NE —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$000
FET FET
459,792 829,456
108,406 102,240
60,179 73,770
38,201 26,060
64,349 8,847
3,232 4,482
734,159 1,044,855

AEERMHEE S EFREMEFH30-60
AN ERP - EHEEEEEBRRX KA

FEYIRKEE 2 EERA

T 3E38(b)(ii) °

B FBE R

EEREREHBEENEERAT 189
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22.

190

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES,
DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS (continued)

At the end of the reporting period, other receivables,
deposits and prepayments are as follows:

Other deposits HEfbiz e
Other receivables H th i W FRIB
Contract costs A KR
Other tax receivables H i & U FR I8
Prepayments TE IR

Rental deposits Meks

Details of impairment assessment of other receivables
and rental deposits are set out in note 38(b)(ii).

Contract costs capitalised as at 31 December 2024
relate to the prepaid freight costs to freight carriers.
Contract costs are recognised as part of “cost of sales”
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss in the
period in which revenue from the freight forwarding
service is recognised.

The amount of capitalised contract costs is expected to
be recovered within one year.

The amount of capitalised costs recognised in profit
or loss during the year was HK$10,008,000 (2023:
HK$30,352,000). There was no impairment in relation
to the opening balance of capitalised costs or the costs
capitalised during the year (2023: HK$nil).

&Eﬂﬂ@ﬂ&l
IE (®

RIE - BT B

il
=
‘:'

2023

—E-NE =4
HKS$’000 HK$'000
FET FETT
22,005 18,028
13,333 21,555
11,570 10,008
5,912 6,819
23,723 26,093
14,317 7,962
90,860 90,465

H i e Y5008 e T £ 3% & R E R -
15 B0 M FE38(b)(ii)

R_ZF_NMF+_A=+—HEEN
{EE’J/\%’JW$5§|‘1ELAT?§HE’JL
BHR-AOKARNEERERBE K
i FE R H&ﬁf‘ﬁ&@é?@ﬁﬁi‘%ﬁﬂﬁ%ﬂ%ﬁﬁ
ERARIH—FE e

IR —F AL E AR A KR -

RAFEEEBIERNERN LR A S
%8 /10,008,0008 0 (=& - =4
30,352,000/ T ) ° F ) & AN {L K A&
EHRIANFENER KA ERE
(ZE-=F:ZEFx) -
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REMBHRERMEE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
HE_Z_WWF+_A=+—HLFE

23. CONTRACT ASSETS

23. BHEE

Contract assets EHNEE

Arising from performance under EFREEREER
freight forwarding business BTHAEME

Receivables from contracts with FB i E|RE %A
customers within the scope of F1SKEEANES

HKFRS 15, which are included in & & EWRIE

“Trade and other receivables” SFFATES RHA

(note 22) FE W R E
(Btat22)

-  Freight forwarding business

The contract assets primarily relate to the Group’s
right to consideration for services performed and
not billed because the rights are conditional on
the Group's future performance. The contract
assets are transferred to trade receivables when
the rights become unconditional.

There are no contract assets that is expected to be
recovered after one year for both 2024 and 2023.

Details of impairment assessment of contract assets are
set out in note 38(b)(ii).

2024 2023
—E_NF —E-=%F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
1,904 2,583
734,159 1,044,855

- EERBER

EHMEETERMNASELL
212 B R AR #) IR 7% W XA
BZRER TR BEENER
FARAEENRERREME - EH
MENRSERNE ANEE
SR EE P YRR -

RoITE-MER T - =FREFE -
MEAHNEERRER —FE%KE -

BHEEREFGFBEINKE
38(b)(ii) °
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o)

Bt 7% AR MY A

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE-FT-_HNE+-A=+—RHLFE

24.

25.

192

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL

Financial assets at FVTPL represents the investment in a
quoted investment fund which is denominated in United
States dollar ("US$") of HK$Nil (2023: investment in a
quoted investment fund which is denominated in US$
of HK$745,000). The fair value of the investment fund
is determined based on the adjusted quoted market bid
price provided by the counterparty financial institution.

AMOUNT(S) DUE FROM (TO) IMMEDIATE
HOLDING COMPANY/FELLOW
SUBSIDIARIES

As at 31 December 2024, the amount due from
immediate holding company is non-trade related,
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

As at 31 December 2024, the amounts due from fellow
subsidiaries comprise of (i) trade receivables balances
of HK$94,032,000 (2023: trade payables balances of
HK$10,697,000) and (ii) non-trade receivables balances
of HK$nil (2023: HK$30,279,000) which are unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.

25.

BERAFEAABRZNEHEE

BATFEFABENESHEEREIUE
FT(IEZERXTAENT BTN B RE
WEESHWRE(ZE_=F U E
JLETEM745,0008 T B REKRE
EeWEE) HEEESHWATFE
TR BEF AU S EIRE L AR
MBEAREBEETE -

ER(MEZERAT B%
Bt B A Rl T IE
RZE-_NF+-_A=+—H EK

g

EEERAAREARIFESHER &
ER RERAREREE-

A\ -—mME+ - A=+—H K
H?W%/ATE’JMEE%OE%WEH&
45 #294,032,0008 L (- - =4
B 5 45 8210,697,0008 7T ) K (i)
3!5%%%14&%%@%30,279,000;‘%7_5<:
ToZF ERTET) EBERES
ﬁﬁﬁﬁ‘%%&mﬁzg*%ﬁ"
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE-F-_N&E+-A=+—RHLFE

25. AMOUNT(S) DUE FROM (TO) IMMEDIATE

HOLDING COMPANY/FELLOW
SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

The following is an ageing analysis of trade balances
due from/(to) fellow subsidiaries, based on the invoice
date at the end of the reporting period:

0-30 days 0£30K
31-60 days 31£60K
61-90 days Z90K
91-180 days 91 180K
181-365 days 181EF365K
Over 365 days HBiB365K

As at 31 December 2024, the amounts due to fellow
subsidiaries comprise of (i) trade payables balance
of HK$83,697,000 (2023: HK$115,724,000); and (ii)
non-trade payables balance of HK$598,000 (2023:
HK$1,695,000) which are unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand.

The following is an ageing analysis of trade balances
due to fellow subsidiaries, based on the invoice date at
the end of the reporting period:

0-30 days 0E30K
31-60 days 31%60%
61-90 days 61%290%
91-180 days 91E180K
Over 180 days BiR180K

“ECNFEFR BEERREEEENRARAT

25.

e A ES

UTARHERRREER B HHE

W,/ (MMREWBERRESDEHIE
BT

2024 2023

“E_NEF =

HK$°000 HK$'000

FE T FET

16,285 2,122

2,635 2,466

4,634 1,812

19,643 3,932

4,569 365

46,266 -

94,032 10,697
RZE-_WNF+_A=+—8" EfR
RAREMNBRARREBEENE 5 EN

H

SNIA 45 8283,697,0008 T (ZE ==
115 724,000 L) : X(NIEE 5
ﬁéﬁmlﬁfsﬁﬁ%% 000 L (ZE==
1,695,000 C) BEMREBEAE
BF B NBRBEREE-

_FR

LATﬁ%EAiﬁiﬂ;ﬁﬂﬂE}Fé’ém BERE
NRREMBRARESEHRERER DT
2024 2023
—E-mE T =4
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET
19,454 28,723
27,661 7,863
9,126 58,354
20,399 16,136
7,057 4,648
83,697 115,724
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE-FT-_HNE+-A=+—RHLFE

26.

194

AMOUNT(S) DUE FROM (TO) ASSOCIATES

As at 31 December 2024, other than set out
below, amounts due from associates amounting to
HK$5,918,000 (2023: HK$9,646,000) are non-trade
related, unsecured, interest-free and recoverable on
demand.

The Group allows average credit period of 30 days to its
trade balances due from associates and the balances are
unsecured and interest-free. The following is an ageing
analysis of trade balances due from associates, based on
the invoice date at the end of the reporting period:

0-30 days 0E30K
31-60 days 31E260K
61-90 days 61£290K
91-180 days 91 180K
Over 180 days BiR180K

As at 3 1 December 2 0 2 4, amounts due to associates
comprise of (i) trade receivables balance of HK$nil
(2023: trade payables balance of HK$4,103,000),
and (i) non-trade payables balance of HK$nil (2023:
HK$8,902,000) which are interest-free and recoverable/
repayable on demand.

The following is an ageing analysis of trade balances
due from/(to) associates included in amounts due to
associates, based on the invoice date at the end of the
reporting period:

0-30 days 0E30K
31-60 days 31E60K
61-90 days 61290K
91-180 days 91E180K
Over 180 days Bim180K

26. EW () B&EQTRE

RZE-_NFE+=_HA=+—8"

D = Nl /AN

185,918,000 Tt (=& = = F
Eii:d

§#$

9,646,000/ 7t) BIEE HHE - £
BB MARERIKRE -

AREBGREERKEBZARE D EHIE

HFEEHIORNEET LA ERIT

FrB - UTARBEHRABERSE

EIHﬂEﬁJEH&H?MAn Rk

DT

2023

" HK$ 000

FET

= (1,775)

(609) (23)

(502) -

(410) 4)

6,638 6,807

5,117 5,005

RN-—ZE-_NME+-A=+—8 EfR

ERNRIFEBENE S ERKFIE L
BEB T (DT -=ZF: E%FEHTA
TA 45 $424,103,000870) © R(i)IEE B
JENFBEGTEBTL(ZE_=ZF
8,902,000 L) - HAFE FHE -
R BRARERIE, MEE-

J:AT?%BAi&iHﬁﬂﬁEF FERHEA
R NE RN IEE’JFEH&/(H)HHP
BRARIE BRI D -

sé‘é"i%
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)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE-F-_N&E+-A=+—RHLFE

27.

28.

AMOUNTS DUE FROM JOINT VENTURES

As at 31 December 2024, amounts due from joint
ventures comprise of (i) trade receivables balance of
HK$nil (2023: HK$16,322,000), and (ii) non-trade
receivables balance of HK$nil (2023: non-trade payables
balance of HK$2,600,000 which are unsecured, interest
fee and recoverable/repayable on demand.

The Group allows average credit period of 30 days
to its trade balances due from joint ventures and the
balances is unsecured and interest-free. The following
is an ageing analysis of trade balances due from joint
ventures based on the invoice date at the end of the
reporting period:

0-30 days 0£30K
31-60 days 31E260K
61-90 days £90K
91-180 days 91E180K
Over 180 days Bim180K

BANK DEPOSITS

Pledged bank deposits

Pledged bank deposits of HK$14,683,000 (2023:
HK$21,644,000) are pledged as securities in favour of
banks facilities. The average effective interest rate of
pledged bank deposits was 0.42% (2023: 0.44%) per
annum as at 31 December 2024.

A fixed bank deposit with maturity more than
3 months

A fixed bank deposit with maturity more than 3 months
of HK$nil (2023: HK$3,855,000) at 31 December 2024.
The fixed bank deposit with maturity more than 3
months was not pledged as securities in favour of banks
facilities.

“ECNFEFR BEERREEEENRARAT

27.

28.

EWREELERE
RZEB-_WE+—_R=+—8 EK
AETERBRBENE HERFAEL
$EBT(ZE - =4%:16,322,000
BL)  R(NVEEZERFBLEHST
BT(ZE-Z=ZF: kB HENFHE
45 £22,600,000/8 7T) - H A& E KR -
B RAZRERIEEE -

AEBBREBREEEEEHERIE
HFEB0RNEEH FHEAHRSE

ERERE - AT AR Eiﬁﬁiﬂﬁﬁfz
ZZEAMMEREZLREHERIE
e D AT

2024 2023
“E_NEF TEC-=F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET
= 636
= 1,261
= 915
= 2,882
= 10,628
= 16,322
RITHER
EEARITER

14,683,000/8 ;L M B | IR 1717 3K
:?_—E 21,644,000 7T) &
ERBITREMNERNER R

“WHE+-_A=+—8 2EEET
GROFEHEREFFE E0.42% (=
T -=4F:044%) °

AP EB=EANEHMETE
N

RZFE-_NEF+-_A=Z+—H" 58
BRBB=EAANTEHRITERATE
T (=& - =%:3,855,00087C) °
é'JEiﬂEltiB_ﬂﬁ ®E BT
FEABTERNERWIKE -
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29.

30.

196

BANK BALANCES AND CASH

Bank balances as at 31 December 2024 carry interests
at market rates which range from 0% to 5.3% (2022:
0% to 5.4%) per annum.

As at 31 December 2024, cash and cash equivalents
situated in Mainland China amounted to
HK$199,239,000 (2023: HK$243,008,000). Remittance
of funds out of Mainland China is subject to relevant
rules and regulations of foreign exchange control.

Details of impairment assessment of bank deposits and
bank balances are set out in note 38(b)(ii).

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Trade payables %JEH/TA
Other payables and 0 8 S A

other taxes payable 4t 78 A 08
Accrued freight expense JEETEBEMX
Accrued staff costs JEFHE IR
Other accrued charges Hib gt & A
Retirement benefits obligation RKENEE
Deposit received and others BliRe REM
Payable to employees &I 8 T8
Analysed as: DR

— current —mE

- non-current — IR E

The average credit period granted by suppliers is 15-60
days. Included in non-current other payables is mainly
the retirement benefits obligations. All the remaining
trade and other payables are expected to be settled
within one year.

29.

30.

BITEBREES
RZE-_NFE+_A=+—HHIR
TEEDRENF0%ES3I% (ZF
TE=F0%E5.4% ) BT 15 FE F X
B
RZF-_WE+=—A=+—8"
RAPBEARBORe MBS EDE
199,239,000 0 (— & — =4 :
243,008000/%75) o & B R E R
7B ST B B NEE H A M B A8 A &%
SRR e

BITERRBITESAORETHFS
B A B FE38(b)(i) °

EZREMERNRIE
2024 2023
—E-NEF —E-=%F
HK$'000 HK$000
FETT FET
265,884 450,559
19,580 19,925
63,679 197,094
19,445 25,163
14,674 11,620
2,153 2,599
3,885 7,049
6,792 656
396,092 714,665
388,734 712,968
7,358 1,697
396,092 714,665

HEBRTHFHEEHRR15-60K-
FERBDEAMENRIELTERRIKNER
BEE-FABTHNE S REMEMNK
AR —F RN -
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)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE-F-_N&E+-A=+—RHLFE

30. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued)

31.

The following is an ageing analysis, based on invoice
date, of trade payables at the end of the reporting
period:

Within 60 days 60K A
61-180 days 612180K
181-365 days 1812365K
Over 365 days HBiB365K

CONTRACT LIABILITIES

Contract liabilities EHEE

Freight forwarding business HERBER
— Billings in advance of performance —J&#) 2 B} 7 1A

-  Freight forwarding business

When the Group bills customers before the
completion of service to customers for export
shipment, this will give rise to contract liabilities,
until the full amount of revenue recognised.

The amount of revenue recognised for the year that
was included in the contract liability balance at the
beginning of the period is HK$10,995,000 (2023:
HK$10,404,000).

There are no billings in advance of performance
expected to be recognised as income after more than
one year for both 2024 and 2023.

30. EZREMEMSRIE @

AT RRBERRRERZAHANE
5 PN SRR R AR e 0 AT -

2024 2023
—E-ME —ET-=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FETT FET
212,010 399,414
41,419 39,946
605 4,350
11,850 6,849
265,884 450,559
31. ANAE

2024 2023
—E-MEF —ET-=

HK$000 HK$'000

FET FE T

13,836 10,995

- EEREEX

BEOBEYME  EAKERNT
Iﬂiﬂﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ%?ﬁaﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁ i#
EEXEANAR EEERTHNK

.
Enl

FRERL H&ﬁfmﬁrk/\%ﬁﬁﬁmuﬁz
&% 510,995,000 L (2 - =
£ :10,404,000 7T ) ©

REZF_MER—T_=FMEFE -
MERENZENFARRASNEE—
FREDSWA -
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BHE-_Z-_ME+_-_A=+—RHILEE

32. LEASE LIABILITIES 32. HE&GE
2024 2023
—E_NF —EF-=
HK$'000 HK$000
FET TFHET
Lease liabilities payable: ENEEEE:
Within one year —F RN 18,662 20,661
In more than one year but tEiE— FE DR MF
not more than two years 14,491 15,343
In more than two years but BEAMTFEIRASF
not more than five years 3,646 2,840
More than five years iyl 498 1,152
37,297 39,996
Less: Amounts due for settlement  J& : —FRNEE A ER
within one year (shown FIE(RRBEE
under current liabilities) ET#ER) (18,662) (20,661)
Amounts due for settlement —FilREE N ENIE
after one year (shown under (RIERBEE
non-current liabilities) BTER) 18,635 19,335
The ranges of interest rates are from 0.02% to 5.00% FIEHEN F0.02%=E5.00% (==
(2023: 0.02% to 5.00%). —=F N TF0.02%E5.00% ) °
33. BANK BORROWINGS 33. |RITER
2024 2023
—E_EF —EF-=
HK$'000 HK$000
FET T
Secured and repayable on demand: E#EFRIZERKEE
— bank overdrafts —RITEX - 794
As at 31 December 2024, there is no bank borrowings. RZEZ_NF+ZA=+—H AHF

BRBRITER
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

Bz

34. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING

— = —

=

ME+-_A=+—BILFE

FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash and
non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities
are those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows
will be, classified in the Group's consolidated statement of
cash flows as cash flows from financing activities.

At

1 January
2024

i i3
-A-H
HKS'000

TEn

New
leases
entered

EEINE
HKS'000
FER

Early
termination
of lease
contracts

RERL
BRAH
HKS'000

FiET

Exchange
realignment

ExHE
HKS 000

FEr

34.

BERRE  HEMX

METHRELESGENHE

TRAAEEREETHFELEEN

BHFB BERASLIFREH-

MERHMELABIRREREN
ARBAERERAKTEGARERE
RANBERBERDRECRENARG-

CovID-19
related rent At
concessions  Financing 31 December
received  cash flows

ERE
covip-19
RARELEH
HKS 000
FEr

Dividend
declared

Interest
expense

Disposal of
subsidiaries

#E
Reng
HKS'000

FET

EE7LR
HKS'000
FET

HKS 000

FEn

HKS'000
FET

HKS'000
-7

Bank overdrafts (note 33) RITER (H#33) 794 - - - - - - - (199) =
Amount due to an immediate holding ERERERAANE
company - - - - - - - - 79 79
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries (note 25) FERRZK B2 RFE
(H#23) 1,695 - - - - - - - (1,097) 598
Amounts due to associates (1ot 26) ERBERRNE Witz 8,575 - - - - - - - (8,575) -
Lease liabilities (note 22) REREHZ2) 39,996 28,950 (456) (1,511) - 2124 (5.341) - (26,465) 31,297
Interest payable EfiflE - - - - - 01 - - (221) -
Dividend paid to equity shareholders BRAATEERRRS
of the Company - - - - 9,664 - - - (9,664) -
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests 2 3EARERRE - - - - 3,149 - - - (3,149) -
Capital
Early contribution Covip-19
At New  termination fromnon- related rent At
1 January leases of lease  Exchange  Dividend Interest ~ controlling ~ concessions  Financing 31 December
2023 entered  contracts realignment  declared expense interests received  cash flows 2023
Bl
ok Jutt 3 RREL FAREE  COVD-19 ¥R RoEoZE
-A-B MIUEE  HEAH ERIE BEERE  FERX JIE EBESEN  ReRE tZA=T-B
HKS000  HKS 000 HKS000  HKS000  HKSOO0  HKS000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
AL FET AT AT AL AL AL AT AL iz
Bank overdrafts (note 33) RTEX (Hit33) - - - - - - - - 79 79
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries (note 25) TR ZM B2 AFE
(Wit2s) 1,254 - - - - - - - 441 1,695
Amounts due to associates (rote 26) ERBEQRNE (i) 1,494 - - - - - - - 7,081 8575
Lease liablties (note 32) BERR (M) 4126 31,009 (B84 (13%) - 1947 - (86)  (28970) 39,99%
Interest payable ERfIE - - - - - 9 - - (92) -
Dividend paid to equity shareholders BRARERERERE
of the Company - - - - 13,866 - - - (13,866) -
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests 2 f3EERERRE - - - - 5512 - - - (5512) -
TEINEFR EBEERREHEBENMRAERIE 199
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

BHE-_Z-_ME+_-_A=+—RHILEE

35. CURRENT AND DEFERRED TAXATION 35.

(a) Current taxation in the consolidated
statement of financial

represents:

Provision for Hong Kong
Profits Tax for the year
Provision for EIT in the PRC

for the year
Provision for tax in other
jurisdictions for the year
Provisional tax paid

Balance of tax provision
relating to prior years

200 YTO International Express and Supply Chain Technology Limited Annual Report 2024

B B &% 3R E B 18
(a) ZRAMBRRARFVEEHR
position HIE
2024 2023
—E-mF —E_=F
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET
FRNEBFNGHEE
398 12,012
FRDEMBGHEE
6,626 7,397
FREMBEAER
HIAREE 1,414 3,080
ERTE (14,312) (32,504)
(5,874) (10,015)
BEFERIBREE S
(5.874) (10,015)




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE-_Z-_ME+_-_A=+—RHILEE

35. CURRENT AND DEFERRED TAXATION

(continued)

(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities
recognised:

The followings are the major deferred tax assets/

(liabilities) recognised and movements thereon
during the current and prior years:

Accelerated

35. IHAREZER E (@)

(b) ERIAELEBEERAR

REAFERBEFEAR CHER
IBEERBEE (BE)R

HEgHMT:

Withholding
tax on

tax Intangible Revaluation undistributed

depreciation assets of properties earnings  Tax losses Others Total

FARER
MERERE  BVEE L3k BB HEER Hit o
HK$'000 HK3'000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HKS$'000  HKS$'000  HKS'000
FET FiEr FET FiEr FiEr FET FET
At 1 January 2023 W-Z-=%-F-H (344) (645) (1,542) (3,451) 18,650 2,344 15,012
Utilisation of deferred tax M ROETFAEH - - - 868 - - 868
(Charge)/credit to profit or loss REZT (%) /3t AR (248) 159 38 516 (2,527) (272) (2,334)
Credit to other comprehensive income 7 £ {t 2 i 25 41k - - 140 - - - 140
Exchange realignment EHEZ 4 3) 28 (136) (59) 2 (164)
At 31 December 2023 RZFZ=F+-A=+-H (588) (489) (1,336) (2,203) 16,064 2,074 13522
Utilisation of deferred tax FIRsHRMEEHMER - - - 1,531 - - 1,531
(Charge)/credit to profit or loss RB&ET (1K) /3 AB& (21) 151 127 259 3,461 25 4,002
Credit to other comprehensive income 7 E {12 E M5 41k - - 463 - - - 463
Exchange realignment EHAE [¥)] 41 (135) 4 (656) (82) (830)
At 31 December 2024 RZZZME+=A=1+-8 (611) (297) (881) (409) 18,869 2,017 18,688

For the presentation purposes on the consolidated
statement of financial position, certain deferred
tax assets (liabilities) have been offset. The
following is the analysis of the deferred tax
balances for financial reporting purposes:

Deferred tax assets EERIREE
Deferred tax liabilities ELERIBEE

IR AMBRAKRZ2IME
FTEEHRBEEE(RE)EHR
Hop M B HmEME - EENIA

RO
2024 2023
—E_NEF —ZET-=

HKS$’000 HK$000
FAETT FET
20,900 18,150
(2,212) (4,628)
18,688 13,522
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BHE-_Z-_ME+_-_A=+—RHILEE

35. CURRENT AND DEFERRED TAXATION

(continued)

202

(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities

()

recognised: (continued)

Deferred tax asset has been recognised if it is
probable to utilise the tax losses in the future. At
31 December 2024 and 2023, the unrecognised
tax losses will expire in the following years:

2025 —E-FE
2026 ZEREF
2027 B LF
2028 —E-NF
Indefinite 4R 2

As at 31 December 2024, deferred tax liabilities
have been recognised in respect of the aggregate
amount of undistributed earnings of subsidiaries
of HK$2,037,000 (2023: HK$18,657,000). As at
31 December 2024, the aggregate amount of
undistributed earnings of subsidiaries for which
deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised
was HK$84,281,000 (2023: 64,225,000).

Pillar Two income tax

The Group has applied the temporary mandatory
exception from deferred tax accounting for the
top-up tax and would account for the tax as
current tax when incurred.

35. IHAREZER E (@)

(b)

CRIAECLEBEERARE
(%)

IR AT BER AR BT IAEE
AEAELCEHBEE - =
E_WNFEER-_ZTE-_=ZF+=A4
Zt+—H KERREEBEER
AT FEEER:

2024 2023
—E_NF —ZE-=

HK$°000 HK$'000

FET FET

2,009 2,078

1,778 1,842

1,401 17,195

52 -

71,460 72,372

76,700 93,487

(c)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e % R MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE-_Z-_ME+_-_A=+—RHILEE

36. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES 36. RARREE
(a) Share capital (a) WA
Number of Share
ordinary shares capital
ZEREE (&
HK$'000
FET
Ordinary shares of SREE0.10ETTH
HK$0.10 each T i AR
Authorised: EE
At 1 January 2023, RZZE-_=%—HF—H"
31 December 2023, “E=F+-A=+—8"
1 January 2024 and —E-MFE-A-BR
31 December 2024 —E-_ME+-_A=+—H 2,000,000,000 200,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTECBRHLRAM:
At 1 January 2023, RZE-_=%—A—8"
31 December 2023, —Z-=%+-f=+—-8-
1 January 2024 and —ETWFE-A-BK
31 December 2024 —E-NF+-A=+—H 420,190,000 42,019
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRMWE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE-FT-_HNE+-A=+—RHLFE

36. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

204

(b) Special reserve

(c)

Special reserve comprises (i) the difference
between the nominal amount of 500,000 shares
of the Company amounting to HK$50,000 as
consideration in exchange for the paid up capital
of On Time Worldwide Logistics Limited (“OT
BVI”) amounting to HK$389,000 after elimination
of share premium amounting to HK$241,000
as part of the corporate reorganisation in year
ended 31 December 2013; and (ii) the difference
between the aggregate net assets value of Citynet
Logistics Worldwide Limited (“Citynet”), On Time
Worldwide Logistics Limited ("OT WW HK"), On
Time Shipping Line Limited (“OT SL HK"), On
Union Management Limited (“On Union HK") and
On Time Express Limited (“OT HK"”) amounting to
HK$316,029,000 and the aggregate share capital
of Citynet, OT WW HK, OT SL HK, On Union HK
and OT HK amounting to HK$20,520,000 as at
31 March 2014 on which the Company acquired
the entire equity interest in Citynet, OT WW HK,
OT SL HK, On Union HK and OT HK by issue of
400,000 shares at HK$0.1 each upon corporate
reorganisation.

Statutory reserve

Statutory reserve represents general and
development fund reserve required in accordance
with the laws and regulations in the relevant
jurisdictions, including the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC”) and Thailand (2023: the PRC
and Thailand).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE-_Z-_ME+_-_A=+—RHILEE

37. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through
the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net
debts, which includes the bank borrowings disclosed in
note 33, net of cash and cash equivalents and equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising
share capital, reserves and retained profits.

The Group’'s adjusted net debt-to-capital ratio at
31 December 2024 and 2023 was as follows:

Current liabilities: mEEE:
Trade and other payables B 5 R H A EA I
Contract liabilities AHEE

Amounts due to an immediate & B R A B RUE
holding company

Amounts due to associates JETBE & R R FIB

Amounts due to fellow ESRZRWE AR
subsidiaries FRIE

Tax liabilities HEEE

Lease liabilities HEBE

Bank borrowings RITER

Non-current liabilities: ERBEE:

Other payables H b fE SRR

Lease liabilities HEBE

Deferred tax liabilities EER T A E

Total debt BG4

Add: Proposed dividends R R E

Less: Bank balances and cash ¥l : SR1TA5 82 RIS

Adjusted net debt RAREBFH

Total equity BT

Less: Proposed dividends B BRI R

Adjusted capital BRAEER

Adjusted net RAREBFTHE
debt-to-capital ratio Bt &

37.

Note
Hrat

30
31

25
26

25
35(a)
32
33

30
32
35(b)

13
29

13

EXEREE
7 85 (6] % 52 58 7R LA HEAR 75K [ R T

ERSERELS RNEBELCE

NV S S S PN

AREBEALEBREEE FHE (£
FEAMT FE33 W = A SR 1T 18 =) ﬁ?ﬂ%
HeRRSEEN) RALRAAA
FEEZ(BERAN FENMRE R
F) e
AEBR_ZF-_NER-_F_=F
jf':ﬁ BN ARER FESR
NGRS N
2023
HKS 000  HKS$'000
FET FET
388,734 712,968
13,836 10,995
79 -
- 4,799
84,295 117,419
6,025 4,908
18,662 20,661
- 794
511,631 872,544
7,358 1,697
18,635 19.335
2,212 4,628
539,836 898,204
- 9.664
(672,246) (823.029)
(132,410) 84,839
1,226,036 1,288,380
- (9,664)
1,226,036 1,278,716
(10.8%) 6.6%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRMWE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BHE-_Z-_ME+_-_A=+—RHILEE

37.

38.

206

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

The directors of the Company review the capital
structure on a continuous basis taking into account the
cost of capital and the risk associated with the capital.
The Group will balance its overall capital structure
through the payment of dividends, new shares issue
and share buyback as well as the issue of new debts or
redemption of existing debt.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a) Categories of financial instruments

Financial assets ERMEE
Financial assets at FVTPL BAFEFTAERN
SRMEE

Financial assets at HEEK AT EDN
amortised cost ERMEE

Financial liabilities SREE

Financial liabilities at RS AGTER
amortised cost cREEE

Lease liabilities HEEE

37.

38.

BEXREKRERE (@)

ARREERBEEHNELAEE 28
BEARKARERARER A& EE
BRSNS BETHRRBEQ RN
URBTHEHLBERRBER FE
HEBEXRERE-

TRIA
(a) €WMIAEHR

2024 2023
—E-NEF —ET-=

HKS$’000 HK$'000

FET FETT

- 745
1,609,047 1,985,043
476,581 830,629
37,297 39,996
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE-_Z-_ME+_-_A=+—RHILEE

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include
financial assets at FVTPL, trade receivables, other
receivables, contract assets, rental deposits,
amount(s) due from/(to) immediate holding
company, fellow subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures, pledged bank deposits, a fixed bank
deposits with maturity more than 3 months, bank
balances and cash, trade and other payables, bank
borrowings and lease liabilities. These risks include
market risk (including interest rate risk, currency
risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity
risk. The risks associated with these financial
instruments and the policies on how to mitigate
these risks are set out below. Management of the
Group manages and monitors these exposures to
ensure appropriate measures are implemented on
a timely and effective manner.

(i) Interest rate risk and currency risk

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest
rate risk in relation to lease liabilities. The
Group is also exposed to cash flow interest
rate risk due to the fluctuation of the
prevailing market interest rate on variable-
rate pledged bank deposits, a fixed bank
deposits with maturity more than 3 months,
bank balances and bank borrowings which
carry interest at prevailing market interest
rates.

The Group currently does not use any
derivative contracts to hedge its exposure to
interest rate risk. However, management has
closely monitored the interest rate exposure
and will consider hedging significant interest
rate exposure should the need arise.

38. @I A )
(b) cREREEEEREE

AEBEIZERTAGREEZR
FEHFABSNEZHEE BH
J&WORIE ~ B A R MR IR - & 4
EE Hege B ()
HEERERAR R RKERR
E AR RAEERERA R
WBTEF DHARBEB=EA
B E HIRTT 17 30 SRITAE SR S 3R
% B 5 MHEAE N A RTT
fERRHERE ZFRRERE
migER (BREMNXER §%
R kERRERR) EERRK
nBETRER -ZEERMITEY
Ko 6 = B & B [ an fe] [ K 48 8
R BEE N T3 NEEE
BEEENERZTAR AR
REEARIRINZ S -

(i) FAEEBREWER

T m g
AEEEmHYRBAEARESR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRMWE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BHE-_Z-_ME+_-_A=+—RHILEE

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)

()

Interest rate risk and currency risk
(continued)

Interest rate risk (continued)
Interest rate sensitivity analysis

For the purpose of sensitivity analysis, the
variable-rate pledged bank deposits, a fixed
bank deposits with maturity more than 3
months and bank balances are excluded as
the directors of the Company considered
that the interest rate risk of variable-
rate pledged bank deposits, a fixed bank
deposits with maturity more than 3 months
and bank balances are insignificant as the
fluctuation in interest rate is limited. There
is no exposure to interest rates for variable-
rate bank borrowings at the end of the
reporting period.

Currency risk

The Group undertakes certain transactions
denominated in foreign currencies, hence
exposures to exchange rate fluctuation arise.
Management manages its foreign currency
risk by closely reviewing the movement of
the foreign currency rate and will consider
hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE-F-_N&E+-A=+—RHLFE

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 38. ERIT A (m)

(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (continued) (%)
(i) Interest rate risk and currency risk (i) AN=ERRE¥ERR (H)
(continued)
Currency risk (continued) ErE s (E)
The carrying amounts of the Group's foreign RBEBRR NEEULF
currency denominated financial assets and SHEE BEE I AN
financial liabilities (including trade and N cREE S
other receivables, rental deposits, financial BmEeE(BEEZ REAM
assets at FVTPL, amounts due from/to & I 3R Haemd %
fellow subsidiaries, amounts due from/to ANFEFABZNESHE
associates, amounts due from joint ventures, BE-JE EAERNE
pledged bank deposits, a fixed bank N Al - U A B
deposits with maturity more than 3 months, ERNRIRIE EREED
bank balances and cash, trade and other ERIE Eﬁ#ﬁfﬁ’ TR
payables and lease liabilities) other than A3 A #B B = 8 A 89 5F B
the respective group entities’ functional R1T IR fEﬂ ﬁ%&iﬁ
currencies at the end of the reporting period 25 &E /rHZF’gf (NE:N
are as follows: REEBE)ME Eﬁ ZZD
T
2024 2023
—ENE —T_=F
HK$000 HK$000
FET FHETT
Assets BE
us$ ETT 625,423 709,245
RMB AR 115,627 444,909
EUR BL T 10,654 11,313
Indonesian Rupiah (“IDR") ENfR/& ([EDEJE ) 2,287 1,347
Liabilities =R
us$ ETT 169,597 63,215
RMB AR 147,417 281,084
EUR BA T 4,061 5,230
IDR EE&E 1,123 2,577
British pound Sterling HEE 1,449 184

(b) EREABEEERRER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRMWE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE-FT-_HNE+-A=+—RHLFE

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

210

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)

()

Interest rate risk and currency risk
(continued)

Currency risk (continued)

The carrying amounts of foreign currency
denominated intra-group balances which
have been eliminated in the consolidated
financial statements are as follows:

Amounts due from (to) group entities

uss$ ETT
RMB AR
EUR BL 7T

Currency risk sensitivity analysis

The group entities are mainly exposed to
the effect of fluctuation in US$, RMB and
EUR. The following table details the Group’s
sensitivity to a 10% increase and decrease
in the functional currency of relevant group
entities against US$, RMB and EUR. 10%
(2023: 10%) is the sensitivity rate used as
it represents management’s assessment of
the reasonably possible change in foreign
exchange rates.

The Group's entities with functional currency
of HK$ do not have significant foreign
currency exposure in relation to net financial
liabilities of HK$454,644,000 (2023:
HK$628,829,000) that are denominated in
the USD as the HK$ is pegged to the USD.

38. @I A )
(b) eRMEREBEEEREE

(#&)
(i) F=EBREE¥EAER (&)
B ()
B R A B 3R R 78
E’JLMI\%.:HEE’JE EIANIN
RIMAKRETENT
FEU () EEE 08
2024 2023
—E-mE T o=HF
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET
(279,137) (269,847)
(233,542) (110,607)
(453) 1,339
BB ERERE S

SEERIZAXET
AR BT kF a8 K
BEENRER TR
SEHNEEETEER
s
B T

F=

ViN

by S HET AR
& B2 E10 % B & =X
E-EREFHEAERA
B TE R 2 B) RS T A O B R
EHEAEI0% (ZZE =

10% ) °
ViN

\ll@r?v”@f

BIEEEAEETLN
BRUETTEN
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(ZF = = F =
628,829,000%75)1#%@
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBHRERMEE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE-_Z-_ME+_-_A=+—RHILEE

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)

()

Interest rate risk and currency risk
(continued)

Currency risk (continued)
Currency risk sensitivity analysis (continued)

The sensitivity analysis includes only
outstanding foreign currency denominated
monetary items and adjusts their translation
at the end of each reporting period for a
10% change in foreign currency rates. A
positive (negative) number below indicates
an increase (a decrease) in profit where
the functional currency of relevant group
entities weakens against the US$, RMB
and EUR. For a 10% strengthening of
the functional currency of relevant group
entities, there would be an equal and
opposite impact on the profit.

38. €@ T A (®m)

(b) 2MEABEEBERRBEXE
()

(i) REEEREERRE (8

Embg (#)
E¥RRBEESN (&)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRMWE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE-FT-_HNE+-A=+—RHLFE

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)

(i) Interest rate risk and currency risk
(continued)

Currency risk (continued)

Increase (decrease) in the profit

US$ impact ERTE
RMB impact AR E
EUR impact BT &
Price risk

The Group is exposed to price risk through
its financial assets at FVTPL which are
measured at fair value at the end of the
reporting period.

If the market price of the financial assets
at FVTPL had been 7% (2023: 7%) higher/
lower while all other variables were held
constant, the Group’s profit for the year
ended 31 December 2024 would increase/
decrease by HK$ nil (2023: HK$44,000).

38.

SR T A @)

(b) EREABEEERRER
(&)

(i) REEEREERRE (8
EEER (%)
A 0 Ot )

2024 2023
—E-NEF —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FETT FET
31,029 (20,068)
22,328 4,227
461 552
B E
AEBREERAFETA

BamemEEMAEE
RER RBEHREQ

Tl E
MR AT EE A% S
BAEKDE LA TR

7% (ZZE Z=%: 7°/o>
i FT A Efh Al R =R
?%T\@'E'J$$@Eﬁ§:
“MME+-A=+—8
Jtir“a’mm H%i&.‘nu//)az
/J E/%7-[/(—?—
44,000/%73)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE-F-_N&E+-A=+—RHLFE

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)

(ii)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

As at the end of the reporting period,
the Group's maximum exposure to credit
risk which would cause a financial loss to
the Group due to failure to discharge an
obligation by the counterparties is arising
from the carrying amount of the respective
recognised financial assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk,
management of the Group has delegated
a team responsible for individual credit
evaluations and determination of limits and
credit approvals on all customers requiring
credits. These evaluations focus on the
customer'’s past history of making payments
when due and current ability to pay, and
take into account information specific
to the customer as well as pertaining to
the economic environment in which the
customer operates. Trade receivables are due
within 30 days (on average) from the date
of billing. Other monitoring procedures are
also in place to ensure that follow up action
is taken to recover overdue debts. Normally,
the Group does not obtain collateral from
customers.

The Group performs impairment assessment
under ECL model on trade debtors
individually or collectively based on provision
matrix. In measuring ECLs, the Group takes
into account reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue
cost or effort.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRMWE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BHE-_Z-_ME+_-_A=+—RHILEE

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

214

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)

(i)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(continued)

As at 31 December 2024, the Group
individually assessed possible credit-
impaired trade debtors of HK$47,160,000
(2023: HK$7,166,000) and assessed all
the remaining trade receivable balance of
HK$708,145,000 (2022: HK$1,048,728,000)
using provision matrix collectively.

Other than concentration of credit risk
on liquid funds which are deposited
with several banks with sound credit
ratings and amounts due from related
parties, the Group does not have any
other significant concentration of credit
risk. Trade receivables consist of a large
number of customers spread over different
geograpbhical areas.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE-F-_N&E+-A=+—RHLFE

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)

(ii)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(continued)

Trade receivables, contract assets and trade
balances due from immediate holding
company, fellow subsidiaries, associates and
Jjoint ventures

The Group has applied the simplified
approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the
loss allowance at lifetime ECL for these
items. The Group determines the ECL on
possible credit-impaired trade receivables
individually and the remaining balance
of trade receivables using a provision
matrix. The Group distinguish the loss
allowance between the Group’s different
customer bases based on the shared risk
characteristics of customers. The Group
segments its trade receivables based on
customer types. Based on the Group’s
assessment, the historical credit loss
patterns for different types of customers
by geographic regions is not significantly
different. Accordingly, the loss allowance by
different type of customers by regions is not
presented separately. For trade balances due
from immediate holding company, fellow
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures,
the Group assessed for the ECL of these
balances individually.

The contract assets have substantially
the same risk characteristics as the trade
receivables for the same type of contracts.
The Group has therefore concluded that
the loss rates for trade receivables are a
reasonable approximation of the loss rates
for contract assets. The Group assessed the
ECL for contract assets was insignificant and
no loss allowance was recognised.
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
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(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)

(ii)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(continued)

Other receivables and rental deposits

The directors of the Company make periodic
individual assessment on the recoverability
of other receivables and rental deposits
based on historical settlement records,
past experience, and also quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportive forward-looking information.
The directors of the Company believe that
there are no significant increase in credit risk
of these amounts since initial recognition
and the Group provided impairment
based on 12m ECL. For the year ended
31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group
assessed the ECL for other receivables and
rental deposits were insignificant and thus
no loss allowance was recognised.
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)

(ii)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(continued)

Non-trade related balances due from
immediate holding company, fellow
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures

The Group regularly monitors the business
performance of the immediate holding
company, fellow subsidiaries, associates and
joint ventures. The Group's credit risks in
these balances are mitigated through the
value of the assets held by these entities and
the power to participate or jointly control
the relevant activities of these entities. The
directors of the Company believe that there
are no significant increase in credit risk
of these amounts since initial recognition
and the Group made impairment provision
based on 12m ECL. For the year ended
31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group
assessed the ECL for non-trade related
balances due from related parties were
insignificant and thus no loss allowance was
recognised.

Pledged bank deposits, a fixed bank deposits
with maturity more than 3 months and bank
balances

The credit risk on pledged bank deposits,
a fixed bank deposits with maturity more
than 3 months and bank balances is limited
because the counterparties are reputable
banks with sound credit rating assigned
by international credit-rating agencies.
The Group assessed 12m ECL for pledged
bank deposits, a fixed bank deposits with
maturity more than 3 months and bank
balances by reference to information
relating to probability of default and loss
given default of the respective credit rating
grades published by external credit rating
agencies. Based on the average loss rates,
the 12m ECL on pledged bank deposits, a
fixed bank deposits with maturity more than
3 months and bank balances is considered
to be insignificant.
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
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(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)

(i)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(continued)

The following table provides information
about the exposure to credit risk for trade
receivables which are assessed based on
provision matrix. As at 31 December 2024,
possible credit-impaired trade debtors of
HK$47,160,000 (2023: HK$7,166,000) were
assessed individually.

Gross carrying amount

Expected

loss rate
%
%

Current (not past due) HER (@) 0.03%
1-30 days past due BE1Z30K 0.10%
31-60 days past due BE31E60K 0.26%
61-90 days past due BEE1EI0K 0.61%
91-180 days past due BEIIE 180K 1.91%
181-365 days past due BE1812365K 2.87%
More than 365 days past due B H365K 87.70%

The estimated expected loss rates in the
provision matrix take into account the actual
loss experience over the past 12 months,
the ageing of trade receivable balances, the
repayment history of the Group’s customers,
current market conditions, and forward-
looking information.

During the year ended 31 December 2024,
the Group provided HK$5,521,000 (2023:
HK$2,364,000) impairment allowance for
trade receivables based on the provision
matrix.

38. €@ I A (@)
(b) tREREEEHEREEK

(&)
(i) FERBREETME (H)
T 5% HE A A 0 5 4 AR pa 5T
OB ZEWRRENGE
ERBHOER R _Z
“WE+-/F=+—8"
AEMNEREEREER S
JiE U BR 5%47,160,0007% 7T
—E - =%:7,166,000
W IT) B AT E B ET A o
AR E (A
2024 2023
—E-ME ZR-=F
Gross Gross
carrying Loss Expected carrying Loss
amount allowance loss rate amount  allowance
AEEE FERE Fllg R . oVl
HKS'000 HKS$ 000 % HK$ 000 HK$'000
FET FET % FET FET
415,702 (134) 0.04% 782,157 (283)
167,726 (175) 0.19% 136,736 (264)
41,418 (106) 0.45% 83,780 (375)
13,509 (82) 1.68% 18,314 (307)
24,262 (463) 6.10% 8,806 (537)
37,127 (1,066) 8.30% 14,932 (1,239)
8,401 (7,368) 21.68% 4,003 (868)
708,145 (9,394) 1,048,728 (3,873)
BEEENMGFERER

REENBENRZEANE
REELR B 5EKR
HESHER A5EF
PRERCH RITmMN
KATEE B # -

Hz2_Z2_mWFE+ - H
—t+—HILFEE  KEER
BERERERE S ERXK
T8 51 485,521,000 ¢ ( =
£~ =4 :2,364,000) A &
B -
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)

(i)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

(continued)

Gross carrying amount (continued)

The following table shows the movement
in lifetime ECL that has been recognised
for trade receivables under the simplified

approach.

As at 1 January 2023
Impairment losses recognised
Reversal of impairment losses
Amount written off
Exchange realignment

As at 31 December 2023

Impairment losses recognised
Reversal of impairment losses
Amount written off
Exchange realignment

As at 31 December 2024

38. €@ I A (@)

(b) *MEARERERRERE
()

(i) fEERE kR E G ()

ABREE (&)

TRETEZEERAR
BRI AERNEHE

HiEEBEEH-
Lifetime ECL Lifetime
(not credit-  ECL (credit-
impaired) impaired) Total

2HES 2HES
BEER FEER

(EREERE) (BEERE) @t
HK$ 000 HK$000  HK$'000
FET FET FAET
R-E-=-#—f—H 1,549 15,658 17,207
BRERRERE 2,364 700 3,037
BORAERE - ) M
BHEEE - (9,124) (9,124)
IE & (40) (40) (80)
RZEZ=F
+ZA=1+—8H 3,873 7,166 11,039
BHERAEEE 5,521 7,372 12,893
BERERE - (16) (16)
EHEEE - (2,693) (2,693)
[E 5% - 77) 77)
RZE-[MF
+=-A=1+—8 9,394 11,752 21,146

Note: Impairment losses of HK$16,000 (2023:
HK$1,000) for credit-impaired trade debtors
were reversed during the year due to
settlements made by trade debtors.
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

220

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)

(i)

(iii)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(continued)

Gross carrying amount (continued)

The Group writes off a trade receivable
when there is information indicating that
the debtor is in severe financial difficulty
and there is no realistic prospect of recovery,
e.g. when the debtor has been placed under
liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings.

Liquidity risk

The Group’s liquidity position is monitored
closely by management of the Group. In
the management of the liquidity risk, the
Group monitors and maintains a level of
cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate
by management to finance the Group’s
operations and mitigate the effects of
fluctuations in cash flows. Management
monitors the utilisation of bank facilities and
ensures compliance with loan covenants.

The Group has available unutilised
borrowing facilities of HK$507,594,000
(2023: HK$492,985,000) as at 31 December
2024.

The following table details the Group's
remaining contractual maturity for its
non-derivative financial liabilities. The table
drawn up based on the undiscounted cash
flows of financial liabilities and the earliest
date on which the Group can be required
to pay. Specifically, bank borrowings with a
repayment on demand clause are included
in the earliest time band regardless of the
probability of the banks choosing to exercise
their rights. The maturity dates for other
non-derivative financial liabilities are based
on the agreed repayment dates. The table
includes both interest and principal cash
flows. To the extent that interest flows are
floating rate, the undiscounted amount is
derived from the applicable interest rate at
the end of each reporting period.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

38. @I A )
(b) eRMEREBEEEREE

(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (continued)

(iii) Liquidity risk (continued)

Trade and other payables

Amount due to an immediate
holding company

Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries

Lease liabilities

Trade and other payables

Amounts due to associates
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries
Lease liabilities

Bank borrowings

BHRAMENFHA
ENERERAFANA

ENFZNEARNER
HERR

BHRAMEN TR
AN ¥
ENRZNEARNE
HERME

RITER

“ECNFEFR BEERREEEENRARAT

(&)
(iii) "REBELAK (&)
2024
bt 1 E:2
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
ANARBRRERL
More than
Within 1 year but Carrying
1 year or less than ~ More than amount at
on demand 2 years 2 years Total 31 December
Rt=A
-y BB-FE =t-R&
RER PRWE BBmE el REE
HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS000 HK$000 HKS000
&7 Tz FEx FE7 A7
384,849 - 7,358 392,207 392,207
79 - - 79 79
84,295 - - 84,295 84,295
19,119 15,064 4,540 38,723 37,297
488,342 15,064 11,898 515,304 513,878
2023
“E-=F
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
ANABERER
More than
Within 1 year but Carrying
1 year or less than More than amount at
on demand 2 years 2 years Total 31 December
Rt+=A
—Fme  BE-FA = =i
RER NS BEAMEF ait RmfE
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000
FET &L A TEr TET
705,919 - 1,697 707,616 707,620
4,799 - - 4,799 4,799
117,419 - - 17,419 17,419
21,223 15,559 4,343 41,125 39,996
794 - - 794 794
850,154 15,559 6,040 871,753 870,628
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 38.

(c) Fair value measurements of financial
instruments

(i) Fair value measurements of the Group'’s
financial assets that are measured at
fair value on a recurring basis

Some of the Group's financial assets are
measured at fair value at the end of the
reporting period. The following table
provides an analysis of financial instruments
that are measured subsequent to initial
recognition at fair value, grouped into Levels
2 and 3 based on the degree to which the
fair value is observable.

Fair value hierarchy as at 31/12/2024

Financial assets at FVTPL R AR ETAEBREHN
SREE
Quoted investment fund BEHREREES

Fair value hierarchy as at 31/12/2023

Financial assets at FVTPL R A FEF AEZRH
SREE
Quoted investment fund AEREREES

E@WMI A @
() ERMIENFEE
(i) BREEMEEUQAFES

ENEAEENSREEDN
DV EFE

RO RSN

Level 2

BoR
HK$°000 HK$°000
FET FAET

R-ZFZ=ZF+=A4H
=+ —HBRFEER
Level 2 Total
EMHk st
HK$°000 HK$000

FET FET
745 745
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(c)

Fair value measurements of financial

instruments (continued)

()

Fair value measurements of the Group'’s
financial assets that are measured
at fair value on a recurring basis
(continued)

The following table gives information about
how the fair values of these financial assets
are determined (in particular, the valuation
techniques and inputs used).

Financial assets Fair value
SREE AFE
2024 2023
“ECME et
HKS$000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Investment fund classified as FVTPL - 745

PRREATEFAERNRERS

Note: An increase in the probability-adjusted net
asset value in isolation would result in an
increase in the fair value and vice versa. An
increase in discount rate in isolation would
result in a decrease in the fair value and vice
versa.

For the financial assets that are not
measured at fair value on a recurring
basis, the directors of the Company
consider that the carrying amounts of
financial assets recorded at amortised cost
in the consolidated financial statements
approximate their fair values.

There was no transfer into or out of level 2
and 3 during the year.

“ECNFEFR BEERREEEENRARAT

38. €@ I A (@)

(c)

Fair value
hierarchy

DYEER

Level 2

E-8

ERMIEQAFEE (#)

(i) BREEMEEUQAFES
ENAEENESREEN
DNFEFE (@)

TREHRABWFAEEZ
—rﬁﬂﬁﬁ FEE R
(ERSMAMMGERM
SEIPN ¢ D

Valuation technique(s)  Significant
and key input(s) unobservable input(s)

RERHREIEAABE EATTERBALE

Adjusted quoted market ~ N/A
bid price

BRETSHAREE TER
et BERBHMEREEE
FEENMSEER QT E
E-RZIMA - BIEIEK
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AL R R
{8 3 % #

= ARQH

B SR A
[[Eg:E=o

S

B & AR R
DFEIEE -

FAALEBALBLE —
MEFE=MR-

223



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEe

Bt 7% AR MY A

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE-FT-_HNE+-A=+—RHLFE

39.

224

RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) for all its qualifying
employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the MPF Scheme
are held separately from those of the Group, in funds
under the control of trustees. The Group contributes
5% or HK$1,500 per month, whichever is lower, of
relevant monthly payroll costs to the MPF Scheme,
which contribution is matched by employees.

OT China and eTotal Solution Co. Ltd. (“eTotal China”)
are member of the state-managed retirement benefits
scheme operated by the government of the PRC. The
retirement scheme contributions, which are based on a
certain percentage of the salaries of employees of OT
China and eTotal China, are charged to the profit or
loss in the period to which they relate and represent
the amount of contributions payable by OT China and
eTotal China to the scheme.

The Group also participates in defined contribution
retirement schemes organised by the relevant local
government authorities in other jurisdictions where
the Group operates. Certain employees of the Group
eligible for participating in the retirement schemes
are entitled to retirement benefits from the schemes.
The Group is required to make contributions to the
retirement schemes up to time of retirement of the
eligible employees, excluding those employees who
resigned before their retirements, at a percentage that
is specified by the local governments.

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023,
the Group had no forfeited contributions under the MPF
Scheme and which may be used by the Group to reduce
the existing level of contributions. There were also no
forfeited contributions available at 31 December 2024
and 2023 under the MPF Scheme which may be used by
the Group to reduce the contribution payable in future
years.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the total
cost charged to profit or loss of HK$22,278,000 (2023:
HK$26,352,000) represents contributions payable to
these schemes by the Group. As at 31 December 2024
and 31 December 2023, contributions of HK$2,153,000
and HK$2,599,000 respectively due in respect of
the reporting period had not been paid over to the
schemes.

39.
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40. PLEDGE OF ASSETS

41.

The following assets were pledged to secure certain
banking facilities granted to the Group at the end of
the reporting period:

Financial asset at FVTPL
TREE

Pledged bank deposits EEBRITER

LEASES

The Group as a lessor

The Group leases office and warehouse under operating
leases with rentals payable monthly. The leases typically
run for an initial period of 1 to 2 years. None of the
leases include variable lease payments.

All of the properties held for rental purposes have
committed lessees for the next 1-2 year.

Minimum lease payments receivable on leases are as
follows:

—FR
—ERNEFER

Within one year
More than one year but not more
than two years

BRAFEFARED

40.

41.

EEER

ATREDFER LAREKRESEH
RARASEERNE TRITRE

2024 2023
—E-mE T o=F
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET
= 745
14,683 21,644
14,683 22,389
HE
AEBEAEEAA

AEBERBEREHERENRREZ=TRAE

E-fe At

ZEMRE—

]

%1M5ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ%7mﬁgﬁ

e

PrAERIERE %LW%% RK1-2

FHOBBE AR

FHHENRREKRES

2024
—E-mEF

HK$°000
TET

204

48

BES:UNNE

2023
—ZEZ=F
HK$000
?:/%75

209

129
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42.
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EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
TRANSACTIONS

Share Award Plan

A share award plan was adopted on 17 August 2018
(the “Share Award Plan”). The Share Award Plan is
to recognise and reward the contribution of eligible
participants to the growth and development of the
Group, to give incentives to eligible participants in
order to retain them for the continual operation and
development of the Group and to attract suitable
personnel for further development of the Group.

The awarded shares will be subscribed for and/or
purchased by an independent trustee (the “Trustee”)
from the open market by utilising the funds to be
allocated by the directors of the Company out of the
Company’s resources. The maximum number of awarded
shares to be subscribed for and/or purchased by the
Trustee for the purpose of the Share Award Plan shall
not exceed 5% of the total number of issued shares as
at the beginning of such financial year.

The Share Award Plan shall be valid and effective for a
period of 10 years commencing from 17 August 2018
but may be terminated earlier as determined by the
board.

As at 31 December 2024, the Trustee held, based
on the Company’s instructions, a total of 2,200,000
(2023: 2,200,000) ordinary shares of the Company
on the Stock Exchange at prices ranging from
HK$2.34 to HK$3.35 per share (2023: HK$2.34 to
HK$3.35 per share) at a total consideration (including
related transaction costs) of HK$6,563,000 (2023:
HK$6,563,000) until fulfillment of specified conditions
before vesting.

The Company granted 10,400,000 shares to 42 selected
participants on 31 August 2018, which will be vested
30%, 30% and 40% on every anniversary date of the
grant date. 3 selected participants did not accept the
award shares granted pursuant to the award. As such
an aggregate of 9,400,000 award shares were granted
and accepted by the selected participants.

42. %ﬁﬁnﬁzu&ﬁﬁgﬁm
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE-F-_N&E+-A=+—RHLFE

42. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT 42. UBREEZEE 2 URGOGAERDN

TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Share Award Plan (continued)

The share awards granted on 31 August 2018 under
the Share Award Plan shall be vested as follows:

(i) Group level performance target:

The Group achieves an audited consolidated profit
after tax (excluding extraordinary items) in an
amount as prescribed by the board for each of the
years ended 31 December 2018, 2019 and 2020.

(ii) Personal level performance target

The Selected Participant shall obtain an overall
score of 60 or above for his/her personal level
performance target(s) in respect of the relevant
vesting year in the appraisal conducted by the
chairman of the Company before each of the date
of the publication of the annual results of the
Group for the financial year ended 2018, 2019
and 2020. Personal level performance target is
assessed based on one or more of the indicators
as prescribed by the board.

The fair value was calculated using the Binomial model.
The inputs into the model were as follows:

Weighted average share price HK$3.34
Exercise price HK$1
Expected volatility 59.69%
Expected life 10 years
Risk-free rate 2.144%
Expected dividend yield 0.69%

Expected volatility was determined by using the
historical volatility of the Company’s share price over
the previous 4 years. The expected life used in the
model has been adjusted, based on management'’s best
estimate, for the effects of non-transferability, exercise
restrictions and behavioural considerations.

The Company granted 18,969,300 shares to 20 selected
participants on 10 June 2021, which will be vested
25% on every year from the grant date. 2 selected
participants did not accept the award shares granted
pursuant to the award. As such an aggregate of
17,969,300 award shares were granted and accepted by
the selected participants.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRMWE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE-FT-_HNE+-A=+—RHLFE

42. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Share Award Plan (continued)

The share awards granted on 10 June 2021 under the
Share Award Plan shall be vested as follows:

(i) vesting of 50% of the award shares on a
particular vesting date is unconditional; and

(i) vesting of the remaining 50% of the award
shares on a particular vesting date is conditional
upon the personal level performance targets fully
satisfied. Personal level performance target is
assessed based on one or more of the indicators
as prescribed by the Board. The vesting based
on the selected participant’s personal level
performance target in respect of the relevant
vesting year in the appraisal conducted by the
chairman of the Company before each of the
date of the publication of the annual results
announcement of the Company for the financial
years ending 2021, 2022, 2023 and 2024 will be
as follows:

Overall Score

EEFo

Less than 60

K460

Equal to or greater than 60 but less than 90
F R mR601E K790

Equal to or greater than 90

SR M0

42.

UREEEZURGAERD
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Percentage of

the remaining 50% of
the Awarded Shares
to be vested on

a particular

Vesting Date
BRARERR
RS MR T50%
REROHNE D

Nil
Overall Score achieved/100

BEHEETS 100
100%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE-F-_N&E+-A=+—RHLFE

42. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Share Award Plan (continued)
(i) (continued)

If the overall score of a Selected Participant is
below 90, the relevant Selected Participant Award
Shares that do not vest for the relevant Vesting
Year in accordance with the table above shall
automatically forthwith lapse on the date when
the Company by way of written notice informs
the Selected Participant of his/her overall score
in respect of the relevant Vesting Year on the
respective dates of the publication of the annual
results announcement of the Company for the
years ending 31 December 2021, 2022, 2023 and
2024.

The fair value was calculated using the Binomial model.
The inputs into the model were as follows:

Weighted average share price HK$4.73
Exercise price HK$2.37
Expected volatility 48.99%
Expected life 7.19 years
Risk-free rate 0.78%
Expected dividend yield 1.29%

Expected volatility was determined by using the
historical volatility of comparable companies’ share price
over the previous 7 years. The expected life used in the
model has been adjusted, based on management'’s best
estimate, for the effects of non-transferability, exercise
restrictions and behavioural considerations.

42.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRMWE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE-FT-_HNE+-A=+—RHLFE

42. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT 42. UURBEHZEZ2URGAERN
TRANSACTIONS (continued) R 5 (a0
Share Award Plan (continued) % 43 52 B =+ & (@)
Details of the share awards granted under the Share R HR AR 7 B2 51 81 X H A AR 1 BE B =
Award Plan are as follows: (=R Ul
Number of Fair value
share awards per share
Date of grant granted Exercise period award
=% SRRGER
RHBAH ROZBHBE TEH NAFE
HK$
BT
Batch 1 - Tranche 1 31 August 2018 570,000 31 August 2019 to 31 August 2028 2.49
EF-H-F-H5 =—\F “NFENA=Z+—RZE
NA=+—H _?_)\i)\ﬂ +—R
Batch 1 - Tranche 2 31 August 2018 570,000 31 August 2020 to 31 August 2028 2.57
FH-%- “E-N\F —Z_ZFN\RA=t—-HE
NA=+—H _7_)\¢)\ﬂ +—H
Batch 1 - Tranche 3 31 August 2018 760,000 31 August 2021 to 31 August 2028 2.62
—H-FE=Fn T—-N\F —E-_-5\R=+—HZ%
NA=+—H —Z-N\EN\A=t—H
Batch 2 — Tranche 1 31 August 2018 2,250,000 31 August 2019 to 31 August 2028 2.43
EF-H-F-H7 Z—-N\F —“NFNA=+—RBZE
NA=+—8H _7_)\¢)\ﬂ +—A
Batch 2 —Tranche 2 31 August 2018 2,250,000 31 August 2020 to 31 August 2028 2.52
“H-F-®n —T-NF “E_EFN\RA=t—-HE
NA=+—H —EN\FNA=+—H
Batch 2 — Tranche 3 31 August 2018 3,000,000 31 August 2021 to 31 August 2028 2.58
F_H-F=Bn T-NF —E_-f)\RA=t—-HZE
NA=+—H —ZN\FENA=+—HR
Batch 1 — Tranche 1 10 June 2021 3,192,325  The business day immediately after the 2.49
30th day of the date of publication of
the annual results announcement of
the Company for the year ending 31
December 2021 pursuant to the Listing
Rules to 17 Aug 2028
E—#-F—FHF» ZZT=Z—F SREEE FHRATERRRHEZS
~ATH T A=t+—HIEFEZEF
FENEREIERZEXEREST
ZNENATLEH
Batch 1 — Tranche 2 10 June 2021 3,192,325 The business day immediately after the 2.42
30th day of the date of publication of
the annual results announcement of
the Company for the year ending 31
December 2022 pursuant to the Listing
Rules to 17 Aug 2028
F—H-F-FHn ZTZ—F EREE FHRAPIERARRHEE
NATA T CFE+ZA=T-HLEEEZEF
¥ENEREIHRBRZEEBRET
—NENA++H
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE-_Z-_ME+_-_A=+—RHILEE

42. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT 42. LREZEZURGRERY
TRANSACTIONS (continued) FTRR S (@)

Share Award Plan (continued) BB E (@)

Details of the share awards granted under the Share R HR AR 10 B2 51 81 1% B &9 AR 19 B2 B =
Award Plan are as follows: IR Ul

Number of Fair value

share awards per share

Date of grant granted Exercise period award
B & BRKGER

RHAH ROZBHEE TEH HAFRE
HK$

BT

Batch 1 — Tranche 3 10 June 2021 3,192,325 The business day immediately after the 2.32
30th day of the date of publication
of the annual results announcement
of the Company for the year ending
31 December 2023 pursuant to the
Listing Rules to 17 Aug 2028
E—#-F=FF» ZZT=—F ZRERE FTRUNBEARRNEE-Z
~A+TH ZEFTZA=T—HIEFEZEF
FENERFEIHRZEXBET
ZNEFENA++tH
Batch 1 — Tranche 4 10 June 2021 3,192,325 The business day immediately after the 2.19
30th day of the date of publication
of the annual results announcement
of the Company for the year ending
31 December 2024 pursuant to the
Listing Rules to 17 Aug 2028
—E—F EWRBELHRUVAUBRARTBEE-Z
RNATH ZHFETZA=t+—HIEFEZEF
EENERFEIBRZEERET
—NEFENA++H
Batch 2 — Tranche 1 10 June 2021 900,000 The business day immediately after the 2.59
30th day of the date of publication
of the annual results announcement
of the Company for the year ending
31 December 2021 pursuant to the
Listing Rules to 17 Aug 2028
E_#M-B-—HBn —T-_—F ZRERE FHRUNBEARRNEE-Z
~A+A ZT—F+ZA=+-HIEFEZEF
FENERFEIHRZEXBEST
ZNFENA++tH
Batch 2 — Tranche 2 10 June 2021 900,000 The business day immediately after the 2.63
30th day of the date of publication
of the annual results announcement
of the Company for the year ending
31 December 2022 pursuant to the
Listing Rules 17 Aug 2028
—E—F EWRBELHRUVAUBRARTBEE_Z
RNATH T RA=t+—HIEFEZEF
EENEREIBRBRZEEBRET
—NEFENA++H
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRMWE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BHE-_Z-_ME+_-_A=+—RHILEE

42. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT 42. UBREEZEHE 2 UROGAERD

TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Share Award Plan (continued)

Details of the share awards granted under the Share

Award Plan are as follows:

Date of grant

REAH

Batch 2 — Tranche 3 10 June 2021

FoM-F=FH ZTZ—F
~A+HE

Batch 2 — Tranche 4 10 June 2021

T —F
~A+H

o
|l
T
o
3
DWM
9

Batch 3 — Tranche 1 10 June 2021

EF=H-F—BH —ZE=——F
~NATH

Batch 3 — Tranche 2 10 June 2021

FoM-F-_FHHn ZZT=——F
~A+A
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Number of

share awards

granted
[SF: 41
RORBHE

900,000

900,000

400,000

400,000

RSB (@)

B 47 2% B =T &) (40

[ERUNNE

Exercise period

TR

The business day immediately after the
30th day of the date of publication
of the annual results announcement
of the Company for the year ending
31 December 2023 pursuant to the
Listing Rules to 17 Aug 2028

ZRERE FTRUNBEARRNEE-Z
ZEFTZA=T—HIEFEZEF
FENERFEIHRZEXBET
ZNEFENA++tH

The business day immediately after the
30th day of the date of publication
of the annual results announcement
of the Company for the year ending
31 December 2024 pursuant to the
Listing Rules to 17 Aug 2028

EWRBELHRUVAUBRARTBEE-Z
ZHFETZA=t+—HIEFEZEF
EENERFEIBRZEERET
—NEFENA++H

The business day immediately after the
30th day of the date of publication
of the annual results announcement
of the Company for the year ending
31 December 2021 pursuant to the
Listing Rules to 17 Aug 2028

ZRERE FHRUNBEARRNEE-Z
T A=t+—HILEFEZEF
FENERFEIHRZEXBEST
ZNFENA++tH

The business day immediately after the
30th day of the date of publication
of the annual results announcement
of the Company for the year ending
31 December 2022 pursuant to the
Listing Rules to 17 Aug 2028

EWRBELHRUVAUBRARTBEE_Z
T RA=t+—HIEFEZEF
EENEREIBRBRZEEBRET
—NEFENA++H

AR B 10 2B 5T &R e Bt R

Fair value
per share
award
SRR EE
MATEE
HK$

BT

2.62

2.59

2.64

2.74



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE-_Z-_ME+_-_A=+—RHILEE

42. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT 42. URELZEZUROEERN

TRANSACTIONS (continued)

FTRR S (@)

Share Award Plan (continued) IR % B Et & (@)
Details of the share awards granted under the Share R HR AR 10 B2 51 81 1% B &9 AR 19 B2 B =
Award Plan are as follows: BT
Number of Fair value
share awards per share
Date of grant granted Exercise period award
2R BRKGER
RHAH RORBEE TEHS MATE
HK$
BT
Batch 3 — Tranche 3 10 June 2021 400,000 The business day immediately after the 2.80
30th day of the date of publication
of the annual results announcement
of the Company for the year ending
31 December 2023 pursuant to the
Listing Rules to 17 Aug 2028
E=H-F=FF» ZZT=—F SEEE FTRATIERRARHE=ZS
~ATH ZEF+ZA=T-HLEFEZEF
FENERFEIHRZEXBET
ZNFENA++EH
Batch 3 — Tranche 4 10 June 2021 400,000 The business day immediately after the 2.83
30th day of the date of publication
of the annual results announcement
of the Company for the year ending
31 December 2024 pursuant to the
Listing Rules to 17 Aug 2028
FE=m—FNHH —FT-—F ERERE FHRAUTBERRBDBE_T
~NATH ZHEF A=+ -HIEFEZEE

EENEBREIRRILERE_Z
ZNEFENA+EHR
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE-FT-_HNE+-A=+—RHLFE

42.

234

EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT

TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Share Award Plan (continued)

The following table discloses movements of the
Company's share awards held by selected participants

during the year:

Option type

BRERR

Batch 1 - Tranche 1
F-H-F-%5
Batch 1 - Tranche 2
F-H-F=-85
Batch 1 - Tranche 3
F-H-F=FH
Batch 1 - Tranche 4
E—H-EERH
Batch 2 - Tranche 1
F_B-2-85
Batch 2 - Tranche 2
E_H-F-85
Batch 2 - Tranche 3
E_H-F=5
Batch 2 - Tranche 4
FH-FNHH
Batch 3 - Tranche 1
EF-H-F-85
Batch 3 - Tranche 2
EH-E-F%H
Batch 3 - Tranche 3
E-H-F=85
Batch 3 - Tranche 4
F-H-FERTH

Exercisable at the end of the year

RERAITHR

Weighted average exercisable price

MEFHTERE

YTO International Express and Supply Chain Technology Limited Annual Report 2024

RSB (@)
B = BT 8 (@)
TEWERTLEERFRNBFEALAR

AR BN E BTN

2. UREEEZURD/ERD

Outstanding Exercised Forfeited Outstanding
Date of grant at 1/1/2024  during year  during year  at 31/12/2024
RZZ-ME RZE-WE
-B-H +=ZA=t+-H
REAH MARITHE  RERTE REAKE R ATHE
10 June 2021 - - - -
“Z--FxA1H
10 June 2021 - - - -
ZZZ-5XATH
10 June 2021 1,204,400 - (1,204,400) -
— 7 — i/\ H —I_ El
10 June 2021 1,204,400 - (1,004,400) 200,000
— 7 — i/\ H —I_ EI
10 June 2021 - - - -
“ZZ-¥XATH
10 June 2021 - - - -
ZE--%5A1H
10 June 2021 250,000 - (250,000) -
“Z--FxA1H
10 June 2021 250,000 - - 250,000
“E--%5A1H
10 June 2021 - - - -
_é_ iﬂﬁ+ﬁ
10 June 2021 - - - -
ZZ-Z-FxA1A
10 June 2021 325,000 - (325,000) -
“E--%5A1H
10 June 2021 325,000 - - 325,000
“ZE--FxA1A
3,558,800 - (2,783,800) 775,000
HK$2.37 N/A HK$2.37 HK$2.37
2378 NER 2378 237371




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE-F-_N&E+-A=+—RHLFE

42.

EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT 42. URBELHEZLUROAERD
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Share Award Plan (continued)

Option type

BRERR

Batch 1 - Tranche 1
E-H-F-H5
Batch 1 - Tranche 2
—H-F=FH
Batch 1 - Tranche 3
EF-H-F=85
Batch 1 - Tranche 4
F-H-FNHEH
Batch 2 - Tranche 1
E_H-F—-%5
Batch 2 - Tranche 2
EF-H-F-85
Batch 2 - Tranche 3
E-H-F=85
Batch 2 - Tranche 4
E-H-ENHH
Batch 3 - Tranche 1
EFxH-F-H5
Batch 3 - Tranche 2
E-H-5-85
Batch 3 - Tranche 3
E-H-F=85
Batch 3 - Tranche 4
EZR-FNEH

Exercisable at the end of the year

RERAITHE

Weighted average exercisable price

MEFITEE

Date of grant

RLEM

0June2021
ZEZ-ExXA1A
10June2021
—7— ﬁ/\H+E|
10June2021
—7— i/\ﬂﬂ'ﬁ
0June2021
ZEZ-5XATH
10 June 2021
ZEZ-%5A1H
10June2021
—7— i/\ﬂﬂ'ﬁ
10 June 2021
—E--®xXA+AH
10 June 2021
—E-- $AH+H
10 June 2021
“E--FXA+H
10 June 2021
“E--FXA1H
10June2021
—7— E/\H—I—El
0June2021
—7— E/\H—I_H

“ECNFFR EBEEBEREHEENEZERAF

FTRR S (@)

IR 13 R Bt & (m)
Outstanding Exercised Forfeited Outstanding
at 1/1/2023  during year  during year  at 31/12/2023
R-B=z=% R-B=-=%
~A-H t=A=t-H
HATE  RERTHE REARR R AT
2,358,800 - (2,358,800) -
2,358,800 - (1,154,400) 1,204,400
2,358,800 - (1,154,400) 1,204,400
725,000 - (725,000) -
725,000 - (475,000) 250,000
725,000 - (475,000) 250,000
325,000 - (325,000) -
325,000 - - 325,000
325,000 - - 325,000
10,226,400 - (6,667,600) 3,558,800
HK$2.37 N/A HK$2.37 HK$2.37
237T# T TER 237THTT 23THTT
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42.

43.

236

EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Share Award Plan (continued)

The Group recognised the total expense of HK$967,000
for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023:
HK$3,321,000) in relation to share awards granted by
the Company based on the number of share awards
granted expected to vest. At the end of the reporting
period, the Group revises its estimates of the number of
share awards that are expected to ultimately vest. The
impact of the revision of the original estimates, if any,
is recognised in the profit and loss over the remaining
vesting period, with a corresponding adjustment to the
share awards reserve.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Group has entered into the
following related party transactions:

Fellow subsidiaries ERME QA
— Freight income received —BUYEEBKA
— International express and — B U BB BRI
parcel income received BERIA
~ Freight charge paid —BfEE
— International express and — BT B RIE R
parcel expenses paid BEMAX
— Charter and related fees and —ENBEREREEER
cargo terminal expenses paid NREEMAX
— Rental expenses paid —ENHESMAX
Associates 3N
— Freight income received —BUYEEBRA
— Freight charge paid —EfER

- Management fee income received — K EBE U A

- Management fee paid -BENERE
Joint venture EEE

— Freight income received —BYEBRA

— Freight charge paid —BfESR

YTO International Express and Supply Chain Technology Limited
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43.

UREEEZURGAERD
IRR 5 (@)

B 47 2% B =T &) (40

HE-_Z-_MNMFE+-_A=+—H8I1%F
EOREBEHERBEND XL KRG E
m%a'$%@%$ﬁﬁﬁmm%ﬁ
#% B #E 2967,0008 TV @B X (=
7__¢33mom%m)mﬁ%
R AEBEITEHBEHRRERER
D RS B EE MG B ET R
ﬁﬁﬁ%%ﬂ@ﬂﬂﬁ%?%%%
RIBHHER TR G EBRFEEED
B e -

BT R 5
FRAEETEUTHBEIRZS:

2024 2023
“E_NEF —E-=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
72,563 233,225
398,096 234,962
273,571 431,974
6,581 25,947
2,926 105,308
540 435

426 1,192
30,802 19,494
1,315 1,877

= 147

14,161 14,688
1,001 6,717

Annual Report 2024



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE-_Z-_ME+_-_A=+—RHILEE

43. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 43. B A X 5 (&)

The remuneration of directors of the Company and FRN ARAIEERAEEE
other members of key management of the Group BEMKENFMMOT :

during the year is as follows:

2024 2023
ZE-NEF —E-=F
HK$°000 HK$°000
FET FET
Staff costs excluding equity-settled 8 T (AN (7~ B3 LARR
share-based payment and BEE 2 ARGD A
retirement benefit contributions ERH R ERAK
78 M R0 9,261 9,675
Equity-settled share-based payment MR E 2 UKD &
EH AR 102 1,521
Retirement benefit contributions R K48 A R 392 360
9,755 11,556
The remuneration of key management is determined FTEEEEFTMHIL2E/BARER
having regard to the performance of individuals and MiZBAEERT-

market trends.

2EH

“ECNFFR EBEEBEREHEENEZERAF
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44. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF
THE COMPANY

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets
Interests in subsidiaries (note i)

EN LT
B2 7
i (Hiti)

Amounts due from subsidiaries

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRMWE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE-FT-_HNE+-A=+—RHLFE

44, KRPQ BB BEAR R FR

Current assets
Other receivables and prepayments E’r&ﬂ’éﬂﬂlmlﬁ)&
Amount due from an immediate
holding company
Bank balances and cash

E%E&%i@
ﬁﬁ%%&ﬁ@

Current liabilities
Other payables
Amount due to an associate

=
H A JE S 50 IR
BN —RBE AT
Ed

Lease liabilities

RBEEFE

Net current assets

Total assets less current liabilities EEZER AR B EE

Non-current liability
Lease liabilities

Capital and reserves (note i)

EARRRE (Hiti)
Share capital % 7

2024 2023
—E-_NEF B
HKS$’000 HK$°000
FET FHEIT
183 744
8,606 -
683 683
473,333 483,379
482,805 484,806
1,854 2,104
126 126
12,173 7,883
14,153 10,113
5,296 5,402
13 13
2,742 -
8,051 5,415
6,102 4,698
488,907 489,504
6,059 -
482,848 489,504
42,019 42,019
440,829 447,485
482,848 489,504

YTO International Express and Supply Chain Technology Limited

Annual Report 2024



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE-_Z-_ME+_-_A=+—RHILEE

44. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

THE

Notes:

U]

(i)

COMPANY (continued)

The investment represents unlisted investment cost on
100% equity interest in OT BVI and YTO Express Worldwide

Limited ("YTO BVI").

Movement of the Company’s reserves

At 1 January 2023

Profit and total comprehensive income
for the year

Recognition of equity-settled
share-based payment (note 42)

Lapse of equity-settled share-based
payment

Dividend paid to shareholders (note 13)

At 31 December 2023

Profit and total comprehensive income
for the year

Recognition of equity-settled
share-based payment (note 42)

Lapse of equity-settled share-based
payment

Dividend paid to shareholders (note 13)

At 31 December 2024

RZEZ=%—H—H

FREMNREARARE

RIS E Z AR
BERNNR (H742)
BUEAREEE RN A
ER M

ERBRER (Hi13)

RZEZ=F
+-A=+t—8
FREFIREEBALRE

HERIA B E 2 AR
BEWRORR (Ht42)
RIEABRESE AR
BEREHHK
BRBERES (Hi13)

44. XRFHBMRR K (80
Hiit -
(i) ZREENAERABRAEERYTO
Express Worldwide Limited ([YTO
BVI ) HI100% Mk BV FIE E IR E KA ©
(i) ARFFHENED
Share
Share  Treasury awards  Retained
premium stock reserve profits Total
R 12
ROEE BEFRG ZBRE KREEN ®at
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
441,102 (6,563) 9,783 4,916 449,238
- - - 8,792 8,792
- - 3,321 - 3,321
- - (5,652) 5,652 -
- - - (13,866) (13,866)
441,102 (6,563) 7,452 5,494 447,485
- - - 2,041 2,041
- - 967 - 967
- - (6,127) 6,127 -
- - - (9,664) (9,664)
441,102 (6,563) 2,292 3,998 440,829
TEINEFR EEERREHEBENMKRAERLE 239
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45.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R B B3 AR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
—E-mET A=t -RLEE

— =

PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of principal subsidiaries during the year

ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 are as follows:

Name of subsidiary

WELREH

Gold Forum International Limited

Harbour Zone Limited

Jumbo Channel Limited

oTBVI

BELES

4

(et

.

YTO BVI

On Time Worldwide Logistics
(Cambodia) Co., Ltd.

Citynet

Bl

YTO International eTotal Solution

Limited

On Time Aviation Services Limited

EEMHREERAT

Place and date
of incorporation/
establishment
ERAL/
RIGERAH

The BVI

3 May 2011
AERAES
—Z2-—%£%f=AH

The BVI
4 January 2011
ABRAEE
“2-—%-ARmA

The BVI

4 May 2011
AERAES
“E2-—%nAEA

The BVI
3 March 2011
AERAES
“Z--%£=A=H

The BVI
19 March 2018
AERIES
“E-\E=ZAthA

Cambodia
4 November 2010

REF
ZZ-%5+-AmEA

Hong Kong
17 September 1999

B
“MAREAATER

Hong Kong
9 June 2015

B
“Z-RERANE

Hong Kong
11 April 2011

N

“F-—EmAt-A

Issued and fully
paid share capital/
registered capital
BRATRAR
BE/ERER

US$50,000

50,000% 7T

US$50,000

50,000% 7T

US$50,000

50,000% 7T

US$50,000

50,000% T

US$50,000

50,000% T

KHR4,000,000

4,000,000
RAFRE

HK$2

BT

HK$3,000,000

3,000,000 7

HK$10,000

10,0007

Yd i

45.

Equity interest attributable

to the Group

AEEELERE

2024
-g-mf

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

g PN
RBE_ZT_NFR_T_=F+=
A=+—BLEFE FEWNBRAF
BT
Place of
operation Principal activities
Bend TEEH
2023
100% Hong Kong Inactive
i E25%
100% Hong Kong Investment holding
& REZR
100% Hong Kong Investment holding
i REZR
100% Hong Kong Investment holding
& REER
100% Hong Kong Investment holding
& REER
100% Cambodia Provision of freight
forwarding services
REE RESERBRE
100% Hong Kong General sales agency
&R HEBRE
100% Hong Kong Provision of international
express and parcel services
and investment holding
& REBRRERBRERHK
DRREER
100% Hong Kong Contract logistics and
investment holding
& AHMRRRERR

YTO International Express and Supply Chain Technology Limited Annual Report 2024



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE-_Z-_ME+_-_A=+—RHILEE

45. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 45. MiEB D A1 (@)

Place and date

Issued and fully

of incorporation/ paid share capital/  Equity interest attributable Place of
Name of subsidiary establishment registered capital to the Group operation Principal activities
HERAL/ BREIRAR
WELRER RIGHREH &/ ERER AEEELRE BEny TEREH
2024 2023
CECQRE et
OTHK Hong Kong HK$20,000,000 100% 100% Hong Kong Provision of freight
18 July 1995 forwarding services and
investment holding
KREA h 20,000,000 7T ik RESERBRHR
“ANEELATNR RERR
On Line Service Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100% Hong Kong Investment holding
17 December 2009
B 10,0005 7T B KLk
ZEEAETZATLA
0T SLHK Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100% Hong Kong Issuing of bills of lading
15 September 2004
REMERE B 10,0005 70 B FURE
“2ZMENATER
On Time Worldwide Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 75% 75% Hong Kong Provision of freight
12 July 2011 forwarding services
B 10,0007 7T B RESERBRE
=
OT WW HK Hong Kong HK$500,000 100% 100% Hong Kong Provision of warehousing
30 April 2004 services and international
express and parcel services
FERRER i 500,000 T & RERBRBIR
“2IMEMA=TR BERRERBRRE
On Union HK Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100% The PRC Properties holding
8 December 2003
QAR % 10,0007 7T Gk S
ZREZETZANA
On Time International Logistics India INR33,146,690 100% 100% India Provision of freight
Private Limited 12 January 2010 forwarding services
9k 33,146,690 g RESERBRE
“Z-TE-ATZB DEEL
PT. On Time Express Indonesia US§200,000 95% 95% Indonesia Provision of freight
22 February 2000 forwarding services
il 200,000% 7T )iz REGERERS
ZEETFC_ACTCA
On Time Worldwide Logistics Ltd. ~ Japan JPY20,000,000 100% 100% Japan Provision of freight
28 November 2011 forwarding brokerage
services
AA 20,000,0008E A% RESERBELRE
ZF-——5+-AZt/\R

TEFEFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRMWE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BHE-_Z-_ME+_-_A=+—RHILEE

45. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 45. B A RFE

Place and date

Issued and fully

of incorporation/ paid share capital/  Equity interest attributable Place of
Name of subsidiary establishment registered capital to the Group operation Principal activities
AL/ BREIRAR
WELRER RUBHRAH &/ ERER AEEELRE Beny TEXR
2024 2023
CECRE e
YTO Global Cargo Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia RM100 100% 100% Malaysia Inactive
2 April 2012
SRER 1005 SRAEE E2x%
“2-"FMA-H
On Time Worldwide Logistics Malaysia RM1,500,000 100% 100% Malaysia Provision of freight
Sdn. Bhd. 25 November 2004 forwarding services
SRAEE 1,500,0005 SRR RESERBRE
“EEMET-A-TEA
FREREE(LE)BRAFT  ThePRC RMB12,000,000 100% 100% The PRC Provision of freight
QT China* 10 October 2004 forwarding services and
investment holding
B AR12,000,0007 HE RESERBRBRRE
“Z2ZMELTATH e
REESEERETHE The PRC - 100% 100% The PRC Provision of international
ARRAe 26 July 2016 express and parcel services
eTotal China*
il - B REERRERBRRH
ZE-RELAZTRA
On Time Worldwide Logistics Singapore SGD110,000 100% 100% Singapore Provision of freight
Pte. Ltd. 22 June 2006 forwarding services
g 10,0003 1% 7T Hmg RESERBRE
ZBERERAZTCA
OTX Logistics Korlatolt Felelosségi  Hungary HUF3,000,000 100% 100% Hungary Provision of freight
Tarsasdg 15 February 2017 forwarding services
I 3,000,000 @7 RESERBRE
ZB-tE-A+ER LpRitEL
Total Chain Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100% Hong Kong Provision of international
17 March 2017 express and parcel services
i 10,0007 7T & REERRERDRRH
ZB-tEZAt4R
Best Loader HK Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 100% 100% Hong Kong Inactive
28 July 2014
B 1,000,000/ EE EEXH
Z2-MELAZTNA
On-Time Worldwide Logistics Thailand THB10,000,000 100% 82.5% Thailand Agent for provision of
Limited ("OT Thailand") 4 January 2006 (note i) (note ) freight forwarding services
([£ExE]) *H 10,000,000% & (W) (Hiti) %8 RETERBRBHREA
ZZTRE-ARA
OTX Logistics Inc. USA US$2,000,000 100% 100% USA Provision of freight
1 October 2011 forwarding services
X8 2,000,000% 7 %8 RESERERY
I A ik=

YTO International Express and Supply Chain Technology Limited Annual Report 2024



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE-_Z-_ME+_-_A=+—RHILEE

45. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Name of subsidiary

HELRER

On Time Worldwide Logistics
DWC-LLC

On Time Worldwide Logistics

(Vietnam) Co., Ltd. ("OT Vietnam")

(TEEHE))

YTO Express International
(Singapore) Pte. Ltd.

YTO Express International
(Vietnam) Limited

YTO Courier (HK)

EEgE (F3)

Global Parcel Alliance Management
Company Limited
PRERBEERERLT

YTO Express Worldwide (Hong Kong)
Limited

Yuan Jun International Trading
(Hong Kong) Limited
RHERES (B8 ERAT

FREREERE (L8)ERAF
("VGL China") ([l E]) ®

QT Korea

Place and date
of incorporation/
establishment
EMEYL/
RIGERAH

The United Arab Emirates
25 April 2012

MuBBaERE
ZZ-ZEMAZTHA

Vietnam
22 December 2005

il
“ETRETZA-TCA

Singapore
29 July 2019

s
“E-AFLAZTAR

Vietnam
2 January 2020

it
ZZCRE-ACH

Hong Kong
20 November 2015

Bk
ZB-EEt-AZtH

Hong Kong
15 May 2017

i
Z2-tERRTER

Hong Kong
24 November 2020

ik
ZECRET-AZTmA

Hong Kong
11 October 2006

&
“EERETAT-R

The PRC
17 July 2015

e
ZE-nELATEE

Korea
24 January 2006

&
ZEERE-AZTIA

Issued and fully
paid share capital/
registered capital
BREIRAR
&/ ERER

AED300,000

300,000 48

US$80,000

80,000% T

5GD100,000

100,000%7 705 7T

VND5,000,000,000

5,000,000,000
HHeE

HK$45,010,000

45,010,000% 7

HK$1,000,000

1,000,000% 7

HK$10,000

10,000/ 7T

HK$468,000

468,000/ 7T

KRW300,000,000

300,000,008 7T

TEFEFR

45. B QA RFE (@)

Equity interest attributable
to the Group
AEEELRE
2024 2023
CECQRE et
100% 100%
100% 100%
(note i) (note i)
(Kitii) (Hii)
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
51% 51%

Place of
operation

Beny

Dubai

HE

Vietnam

]

Singapore

s

Vietnam

fufs

Hong Kong

B

Hong Kong
&

Hong Kong
&%

Hong Kong
&%

The PRC

hE

Korea

EEREREHBEENEERAT

Principal activities

IEER

Inactive
E2x%
Provision of freight

forwarding services

RUGERERY
Inactive

TRk

Provision of international

express and parcel services

REERRER2RRY

Provision of international
express and parcel services
and investment holding

REERRERDERK
DRREER

Inactive

TEEH

Investment holding

AR

Inactive

TEER

Inactive

LEXH

Provision of freight
forwarding services

RESERERY
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRMWE

45. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Name of subsidiary

HELRER

B (RR)LEEERARe

>

Y70 Global Pty. Ltd.

LERBEEHREERAR

Shanghai Yuantong Supply Chain
Management Co ., Ltd.*

LERRGERERARAT

LERGHERERAT!

YTO Express International (Japan)

Co. Ltd.

YTO Express International Korea

Co., Ltd.

ZEERARGERARAF"

M ERERRREERAR!

ERAIIDRERELLF

244

Place and date
of incorporation/
establishment
EMAL/
RIGERAH

The PRC
14 January 2021

A
“E--%-At@A

Australia
3 March 2020

E
=

The PRC
17 January 2022

PE
R CE-A+4R

The PRC
6 November 2020
HE
ZEZ%5+-FR”A

The PRC
14 September 2022
Gk
“E-CEAATEA

Japan
15 April 2022

AA
“TCCEMATER

Korea
22 September 2022

23
ZEZZEARZTZH

The PRC
18 November 2022

HE
ZZZZET-RTNA

The PRC
7 December 2022

HE
ZTCCETZRER

The PRC
14 December 2022

48
ZEZZF+ZATEA

Issued and fully
paid share capital/
registered capital
BREIRAR
&/ ERER

RMB155,000,000

AR #155,000,00070

AUD1,000,000

1,000,0002 7

RMB20,000,000

AR 20,000,0007

RMB50,000,000

AR 50,000,0007

RMB30,000,000

AR30,000,0007

JPY144,980,000

144,980,0008

KRW670,000,000

670,000,008 7T

RMB3,500,000

AR 3,500,0007

Yd i

45. M B D RS (@)

Equity interest attributable
to the Group
AEEELRE
2024 2023
ZECNE et
100% 100%
62.5% 62.5%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
70% 70%

Place of
operation

Beny

The PRC

T

Australia

i

The PRC

P

The PRC
P
The PRC

P

Japan

A%

Korea

BB

The PRC

o

The PRC

X

The PRC

e

Principal activities

IEER

Investment holding

ALK

Provision of international
express and parcel services

REEERERERRE

Provision of software and
information technology
service

SRR RITRE

Provision of supply chain
management services

REGEEEERY

Provision of international
express and parcel services

REERRER2RRE

Provision of international
express and parcel services

REEERER2RRE

Provision of international
express and parcel services

REERRER2RRE

Provision of international
express and parcel services

REERRER2RRE

Inactive
LR
Provision of international

express and parcel services

REBERERERRE

YTO International Express and Supply Chain Technology Limited Annual Report 2024



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE-_Z-_ME+_-_A=+—RHILEE

45. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Name of subsidiary

HELRER

FEEABARERAF

YTO Asia Paciific Investment

(Hong Kong) Limited

RFEHRERRENEERAA

EREBSENZRBARAA

Macau YTO International Cargo

Terminal Company Limited

EREZREMZRER

BRAR

0T Sea Holdings Co., Ltd.

0T Sea Regional Holdings Co., Ltd.

0T Sea Native Holdings Co., Ltd.

QazPost - YTO

Place and date
of incorporation/
establishment
EMEYL/
RIBERAH

The PRC
24 August 2022

A
ZZZZENAZTRA

Hong Kong
11 July 2023

i
“E-ZHEAT-R

Macau
7 September 2023
&R
ZRIZEAALH

The PRC
20 November 2023

i
ZECZET-AZTH

Macau
17 January 2024

#M
“ECME-ATER

The PRC
20 November 2024

hE
“F-EFt-A-TH

Thailand
18 April 2024

el
ZZZPERA+AR

Thailand
18 April 2024

el
“ECRENATAR

Thailand
18 April 2024

i
“Z-mERATAR

Kazakhstan
06 December 2024
RER A
ZZ-ME+ZARA

p

Issued and fully
aid share capital/
registered capital

BREIRAR
&/ ERER

THB3,240,000

3,240,000% 4

THB5,400,000

5,400,000% 4

K27314,412,000

314,412,008 %

45. B QA RFE (@)

Equity interest attributable
to the Group

AEBELRE
2024
b Jul ]

2023
s

100%
(note iii)

(W)

100%
(note iif)

(Witii)

100% -

10% -

(note iv)

(Hiiv) -

10% -
(note iv)

(Hiv) -

100% -

100% -

100% -

100% -

100% -

60% -
(note v)
(Hiity) -

Place of
operation

Bend

The PRC

o

Hong Kong
&

Macau

R

The PRC

48

Macau

P

The PRC

il

Thailand

28

Thailand

%8

Thailand

28

Kazakhstan

hiERE

“ECNFFR EBEEBEREHEENEZERAF

Principal activities

IEER

Import and export
declaration agent

EHORREERE

Investment holding

RERK

Investment holding

RERK

Investment holding

ALK

Investment holding

ALK

Investment holding

REER

Investment holding

AR

Investment holding

AR

Investment holding

AR

Provision of international
express and parcel services

REERRER2RRE
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45. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

246

*

Notes:

The English name is translated for identification purpose
only.

The company is a wholly-owned foreign enterprise
established in the PRC.

The company is a limited liability company established in the
PRC.

On 15 August 2025, the Group acquired 17.5% of the
equity interest in OT Thailand from the non-controlling
interests shareholder for a consideration of THB3,500,000.
Upon completion of the transaction, OT Thailand is owned
as to 100% by the Group. 12.9% of the equity interest in
OT Thailand is held by a third party on behalf of the Group
through loan assignment, share pledge agreement, letter of
undertaking and proxy entered by the third party and the
Group.

49% of the equity interest in OT Vietnam is held by a third
party on behalf of the Group through loan agreement,
charter capital mortgage agreement, letter of undertaking
and proxy entered by the third party and the Group.

=ZHEEYRAEMR AT was transferred to the Group on 4
January 2023 from YTO Express.

On 2 January 2024, the Group acquired 100% of the
equity interest in Macau Skylink International Cargo Airlines
Co., Ltd. ("B 2HEEBEEEMEZ=FR ") and its
subsidiary, Guangdong Yuantong Cargo Aviation Services
Co., Ltd. (collectively as Macau Skylink Group), from
subsidiaries of YTO Express Group Co., Ltd., intermediate
holding company of the Company.

On 13 December 2024, 90% of the equity interest in Macau
Skylink Group were transferred to J& 3 /& Z (B i & & i
Z=HERE AR, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of YTO
Express Group Co., Ltd.. Upon completion, Macau Skylink
International Cargo Airlines Co., Ltd. and its subsidiary were
no longer affiliated subsidiaries of the Group.

As Macau Skylink Group was a startup and has not started
its business activities by the date of control losing, the
consideration for the both transactions were zero. The net
impact of operating result generating from Macau Skylink
Group to the consolidated financial statements and the gain
on disposal of Macau Skylink Group was nil.

45, MiEB D B (@)

*

Bt

BENREXAREERD AR

ZRB B —REFBEKINIEEE
-

ZARRREPERINEREME

NGI

202598158  E B K FEHE R IR
BB AR ERE17.5% .2 B 1 1E
& EE3S0E R R HEME  KiE
RERKBEEE2ESEB I KESR
FH129% 2 BEEGHE=ZFARAER
B REZIFREEEFBERER.
BB HE  RERRETEE N F-

FEMEMNONRERE=TEBE
= BEARKETLWER G EME
RERGE AREHLEETERREAE
B#A-

WZZEZ_=F—FWMA  E@RERLEKRHD
BRAGBEZEEERNDESLEAAT -

R2024F 1828 S E{EBRE
BHERARA(ARAAZHEEER
AR Z M B R FE AMacau Skylink
International Cargo Airlines Co., Ltd.
(DRF2RBEEREEMEBRAF])
REWBAREREBEEMERS
ERAA (M ARMEIRBER)
100% 2 PR #E 23 o

R2024F 128138 B2 HBER
% RERSZEETERESER
EEMEERAR (A@RRBEROAER
REIZEE2EWMBAR) - BRETK
BRI ERBREREEM AR AR
LEWBRARTBEASLBEZHBAR-

BRI S BORE ARSI AT B
EAARHBZANRAREEED
RUARR 2 HEAT AFR2RAE
EEZEEERYAHHBHRE LT
YEAT DERAMRPBEEEZ N
HTAE-

YTO International Express and Supply Chain Technology Limited Annual Report 2024
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45. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

V.

vi.

On 6 December 2024, Citynet, an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, and “Kazpost”, a joint stock
company incorporated in the Republic of Kazakhstan,
established a limited liability partnership, “QazPost-YTO"
Limited Liability Partnership (the “Partnership”), as a
limited liability partnership in the Republic of Kazakhstan
for, among others, the establishment of a joint distribution
center in, and the development of international and
domestic courier delivery services and other related services
in the Republic of Kazakhstan and central Asia. The
authorized capital of the Partnership will be US$1 million.
The Partnership is owned as to 60% by Citynet.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at
the end of the year, or at any time during the year.

“ECNFFR EBEEBEREHEENEZERAF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

45. B QA RFE (@)

V.

vi.

7202412868  Citynet (AR R Z
HE2EMWEBRAR)HE [Kazpost | (R
BETENEFERZROERAR) -
HRAZBIT " RERETEKEE
[QazPost-YTO ] BIR EE &N (4
BIEECE] EFRBVERLMER
HN—RERBETEREE - ZEELE
ZEEZBRBIEETRNLRER K
ME KPR E RSB S D BER
WEHEBEBRRERREXERSE RKE
MEERG ZAEREZREENR
1008 £ 7T HfCitynetiF B2 A B
¥60% 2 ©

1042 Y JB8 % B 0 4R R S AR I ] B
BITERERES -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o)

Bt 7% AR MY A

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE-FT-_HNE+-A=+—RHLFE

46.

47.

248

POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, 46. 88 Z - _NE+_-A=+4—
NEW STANDARDS, AND INTERPRETATIONS AilEEED 8B R RERD
ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE BT T Z R R 2%l s
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 EENTE
Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, HEZFHULEEWB®WEAH Ag
the HKICPA has issued a number of new or amended RN A EE EM — BRI FE LB
standards, which are not yet effective for the year ended AR ZERBNRBE_ZT_MF
31 December 2024 and which have not been adopted +TZA=Z+t—BLEFEHRAER B
in these financial statements. These developments MAREEMBRRPEM - UTE
include the following which may be relevant to the PEALEEER-
Group.
Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after
RUTBEHR 2%
MRz ErrHEEN
Amendments to HKAS 21, The effects of changes in foreign exchange rates 1 January 2025
- Lack of exchangeability
BERGHENENRNEI R S EEZFZH & L BT —E-h¥—-A—H
Amendments to HKFRS 9, Financial instruments and HKFRS 7, Financial instruments: 1 January 2026
disclosures — Amendments to the classification and measurement of
f/'nanc/a/ instruments
SR EABIRNETN 2B T ANE B BEHREENEH - —ET-RXF-A—H
fﬁJIﬁﬁ% EiTE @I AN SIS
Annual improvements to HKFRS Accounting Standards — Volume 11 1 January 2026
ERGHEUNFEIE-FNE T RE-
HKFRS 18, Presentation and disclosure in financial statements 1 January 2027
BERGTEAE 8T G HFHAF A 2 HAKE Tt E-
HKFRS 19, Subsidiaries without public accountability: disclosures 1 January 2027
BERGHEANE 1O  ELREENFLA] - FE Tt E-
The Group is in the process of making an assessment ZJ-"*@E@IEE%TEEZ*“@UR\%/K%
of what the impact of these developments is expected RAEEEREENFE -RNEEE A
to be in the period of initial application. So far it has RE AMZERABTIARUTEHEE
concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely to WBmRENERTE -
have a significant impact on the consolidated financial
statements.
COMPARATIVE FIGURES 47. LLBEF
Certain comparative figures have been adjusted to ETUHREFEELEAR UFER
conform to current period’s presentation and to provide HEMEIN AN YR T _NFH
comparative amounts in respect of items discloses for RBEBENBHERH® LR SE -

the first time in 2024.
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
EFFMBEHME

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and
non-controlling interests of the Group for the last five
financial years, as extracted from the published audited
financial statements.

RESULTS

Revenue
(Loss)/profit before taxation
Income tax

(Loss)/profit attributable to
owners of the Company

(Loss)/profit attributable to
non-controlling interests

ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND NON-CONTROLLING ¥E BRI EERESR

INTERESTS

Non-current assets
Current assets

Total assets
Current liabilities

Total assets less current
liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Net assets

Equity
Share capital
Reserves

Net assets attributable to
owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Total equity

L6
B (B8R, &
iR

RARERAERS
(B#)/8H

FEREREN
(EBR) /@

FRBEAE
RBEE

BEMAE
nBEE

EERERADAE
FRBRE
AEFE

i

A

&

NCE DN
[EEEEFE
SRR

BRER

ES

Year ended 31 December
BEZ+-A=t-HLEE

BERBEYHFR 2 FE R
BEIFEERES BB HREBE T
EERE PR R e

AEBEEE-

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—E-_mE =% —EZCF —TZ—F —T-EF
HKS'000 HK$000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FHET
5,364,295 5,291,610 6,706,450 7,556,427 5,048,113
(37,920) 121,452 140,777 323,924 286,094
(4,045) 24,984 968 45,681 30,221
(40,774) 96,775 136,744 273,377 252,231
(1,191) (307) 3,065 4,866 3,642

As at 31 December

R+=B=+-H

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—E-OE —E-=F —E-CfF —E-—F —E-ZF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
104,775 140,090 151,445 226,591 253,511
1,661,097 2,046,494 2,073,827 2,082,758 1,435,933
1,765,872 2,186,584 2,225,272 2,309,349 1,689,444
511,631 872,544 981,433 1,057,889 685,398
1,254,241 1,314,040 1,243,839 1,251,460 1,004,046
28,205 25,660 33,428 134,924 138,909
1,226,036 1,288,380 1,210,411 1,116,536 865,137
42,019 42,019 42,019 42,019 41,676
1,179,091 1,240,255 1,157,878 1,060,246 815,727
1,221,110 1,282,274 1,199,897 1,102,265 857,403
4,926 6,106 10,514 14,271 7,734
1,226,036 1,288,380 1,210,411 1,116,536 865,137
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GLOSSARY

In this annual report, unless the context otherwise requires, WARFEIRAN MIEXFE DB AIE THI T

the following expressions shall have the following meanings: AEABUTRE:

“AGM" annual general meeting of the Company

[ERBFEXRS ] RRARRFBFRSE

“Articles” the amended and restated articles of association of the Company
[ 4881 AARABERAR (KEFTRES)

“Audit Committee” the audit committee of the Company

[EzZEg] RARBEREZE®

“Board” the board of Directors

[Efg] BExwg

"BVI" British Virgin Islands

[RBEXAES] REBREIES

“Cargo Members” YTO Cargo and YTO Cargo Shanghai

[EEBKE QA EREEH - EEREE

"CG Code” the “Corporate Governance Code” as contained in Appendix C1 to

[ e85 Al

“China” or "PRC”

[ Bl

“Companies Ordinance”

IVNCIEESEN

“Company”

[ARAFE

“Company Secretary”

[REIWE]

“Corporate Governance
Committee”

[PRERZE®]

"Director(s)”

[E%]

"Executive Committee”

[MITREE]

the Listing Rules which was in force during the Reporting Period

RAREREER 2 L RAMERCIPrE [REERTR

the People’s Republic of China, which for the purpose of this annual
report and for geographical reference only, excludes Hong Kong,
Macau Special Administrative Region of the PRC and Taiwan
REARKNE ERAFHBRRMFZEMNS  TELEEL HER
PR RITT B Ko &

the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong),
as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

FREDIFE62E R AHUED] - EAKER] - R SEAE M Bk

YTO International Express and Supply Chain Technology Limited
(formerly known as “YTO Express (International) Holdings Limited”)
EmERRE‘REERMEAGR AR (AT [E@EEE (BR)ERE
RAaaEll)

the secretary of the Company
RRFIME

the corporate governance committee of the Company
RRARIEREREZESR

the director(s) of the Company
KARES

the executive committee of the Company

ARBRITERES
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GLOSSARY

"FY2023"
T CHUBFE]

“FY2024" or “Reporting Period”

“ECFBRFE | 5%
[ R 4 2R F

“Group”
[ & HE ]

“HK$"
[&7T]

“Listing Date”
[ £ A8
“Listing Rules”
[ Bk Al

“MD&A"
(B ki)

“"Model Code”
[1Z4E=F Al

“Nomination Committee”

[fR2ZEg]

“Prospectus”

[ ER]

“Remuneration Committee”

Ed 3

“SFO"

(&% R S 1511

“Share(s)"”
[ A% 15 ]

“Share Award Plan”

[Btn BE Ry =t &)

“Share Option Scheme”

[FE Actgat &)

the year ended 31 December 2023
BHE-_ZT-_=F+-A=+—HLEE

the year ended 31 December 2024
BHE_ZT_NE+_A=+—HIFE

the Company and its subsidiaries from time to time

ARAMENEZHE QA

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong
BT BEEAEER

11 July 2014, on which the Shares are listed and from which
dealings therein are permitted to take place on the Stock Exchange
—E-NELA+—H BRO LT REBEERBIMEEZ A

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
(as amended from time to time)

B prRE S B AR A (BTEHER])

the Management Discussion and Analysis
ERE R RO

the “Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers” set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules

ETRAMERCGHE [ EMBETAEFETESFRXZNFETA

the nomination committee of the Company

ARBREBEES

the prospectus of the Company dated 30 June 2014
AARBBAZT—NEAA=THNHBRER

the remuneration committee of the Company

ARBHMEE S

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong), as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from
time to time

BAEPIBNEZFLABGRY & ER BRkAEMT R
(EP0

ordinary share(s) of par value HK$0.1 each in the issued share capital
of the Company

AARBEBITRAFSREAENE T AR

the share award plan adopted by the Company on 17 August 2018
RARRZZE-NFN\A+ L BRBORD ZE 2

the share option scheme adopted by the Company on 21 June 2014
ARRRZZE—MFENA -+ — BERMANBRES S
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GLOSSARY

"Shareholder(s)”
[ A% |

“Stock Exchange”
[ Bt 32 P |

“USA”
[EH ]

“YTO Cargo”
[E@EE]

“YTO Cargo Shanghai”

[LBEBEE]

“YTO Express”

RERGEES A

“YTO Express Group”
[EBRIERE]

“YTO Express Members”

REEGRS 429 = NI

“Yuan Jun”

B4

“Yuantong Jiaolong”

['[E] 37 52

" % "

[% ]

*  For identification purposes only

holder(s) of Shares
[AGESEEDN

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
EREBMERSHMARRAR

United States of America
ENBREBEH

YTO Cargo Airlines Co., Ltd.* MMEBEEMEBR A A, a
company established in the PRC and a wholly owned subsidiary of
YTO Express
mMMEBEEMEERAG —BRPBEK Lz AR REBERES
BB A A

Shanghai Yuantong International Cargo Freight Agent Co., Ltd.* £
HEEEBEEYEGRIEAR AR, a company established in the
PRC and a wholly owned subsidiary of YTO Express
LEEBBEREMERREGRAT  —HARBEXNZZAFRRE
BREZENRBAT

BlERIER D AR A7 (YTO Express Group Co., Ltd.*), a joint
stock limited liability company incorporated in the PRC, the shares
of which are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code:
600233), and a controlling Shareholder

BiBEERNAERLAR —HARPEFMAZIZENERLIR A
IR 8% HFRZ S L (RH R 600233) I AIERKRE

YTO Express and its subsidiaries
(B 3 3R N ELBfT 8 1 A

YTO Express Group and associated companies excluding the Group
ERREEREBMBEAR (TERERAEE)

EEEHREEZESHMR AR (Shanghai Yuan Jun International
Trading Company Limited*), a company established in the PRC
and a wholly-owned subsidiary of YTO Express, and a controlling
Shareholder

LEEHRBESARAR —HRFEK 2 ARREBRES
EMfERR] WRERKER

FHERREKLEER (£B8)BR AR (Shanghai Yuantong
Jiaolong Investment Development (Group) Co., Ltd.*), a company
established in the PRC and the controlling shareholder of YTO
Express which directly held approximately 31.63% of the equity
interest in the share capital of YTO Express, and a controlling
Shareholder

FeERREREER (RE)ABRAR —HARPBEKIZ AT R
B8 R < IR R - ERERRIER AR BEERFE431.63% R4 -

per cent

Bk

* O EHHS
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